CLAYTON HOLDINGS INC Form 424B4 March 24, 2006

Use these links to rapidly review the document <u>Table of Contents</u>

Filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) Registration No. 333-129526

PROSPECTUS

7,500,000 Shares

Common Stock

Clayton Holdings, Inc. is offering 7,500,000 shares of common stock. This is our initial public offering, and no public market currently exists for our shares.

Our common stock has been approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "CLAY."

Investing in our common stock involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 13 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

	Per	Share	Total		
Public offering price	\$	17.00	\$	127,500,000	
Underwriting discount	\$	1.19	\$	8,925,000	
Offering proceeds to Clayton Holdings, Inc., before expenses	\$	15.81	\$	118,575,000	

We have granted to the underwriters the option to purchase up to an additional 1,125,000 shares of common stock at the public offering price, less the underwriting discount, within 30 days from the date of this prospectus to cover over-allotments, if any.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of common stock to purchasers on or about March 29, 2006.

William Blair & Company

Piper Jaffray

SunTrust Robinson Humphrey

.IMP Securities

America's Growth Capital

The date of this prospectus is March 23, 2006.

Table of Contents

Prospectus Summary

Risk Factors

Forward Looking Statements and Projections

Use of Proceeds

Dividend Policy

Capitalization

Dilution

Selected Consolidated and Other Financial Data

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Data

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Business

Management

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Principal Stockholders

Description of Capital Stock

Shares Eligible For Future Sale

Underwriting

Legal Matters

Experts

Where You Can Find More Information

Index To Consolidated Financial Statements

About this Prospectus

Our fiscal year ends on December 31. Accordingly, a reference to "fiscal 2005" in this prospectus, for example, refers to the 12-month period ended December 31, 2005. Unless otherwise indicated, information presented in this prospectus on a pro forma basis gives effect to the combination of Clayton Services, Inc., Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc., formerly The Murrayhill Company, and First Madison Services, Inc. as if such combination had occurred at the beginning of the applicable period presented. See "Summary Our Corporate Information" for further information. Unless the context otherwise requires, we use the terms "Clayton," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" in this prospectus to refer to Clayton Holdings, Inc., its subsidiaries, and its predecessor companies.

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information you should consider before investing in our common stock. You should read this entire prospectus carefully, especially the risks of investing in our common stock discussed under "Risk Factors" beginning on page 13, and the consolidated financial statements and notes to those consolidated financial statements, before making an investment decision.

Overview

We provide a full suite of outsourced services, mortgage-related analytics and specialized consulting services for buyers and sellers of, and investors in, mortgage-related loans and securities and other debt instruments. Our services include transaction management, which consists of due diligence, mortgage processing services for buyers of mortgage loans (conduit support services), professional staffing, and compliance products and services, as well as monitoring of mortgage-backed securities (credit risk management and surveillance), and specialized loan servicing services (special servicing). We use proprietary technology and processes to provide these services throughout the full lifecycle of a loan, from loan origination, aggregation and securitization to the surveillance and administration of loans and securities.

We provide a majority of our services to participants in the non-agency segment of the mortgage-backed securities, or MBS, market and the non-conforming mortgage loan market. Non-agency MBS are comprised primarily of mortgage loans that do not conform to the underwriting guidelines of Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. We have long-standing client relationships with many of the leading capital markets firms, banks and lending institutions, including the largest MBS issuers/dealers, mortgage and bond insurance companies and fixed income investors. We believe that we are a leading provider of these services to our clients due to our 15 years of experience, our deep knowledge of the industry and our database of historical non-conforming loan transactions. During 2005, we performed detailed analyses on over 930,000 loans totaling over \$175.0 billion in principal value, which represented 9.0% of the total principal balance of U.S. non-conforming mortgage loan originations over such period. As of December 31, 2005, we were monitoring over \$308.0 billion in loans underlying MBS, which represented 19.4% of the total outstanding U.S. non-agency MBS at such date.

We have achieved strong financial results, with revenue increasing from \$52.1 million in fiscal 2002 to \$207.5 million in fiscal 2005. Income from operations increased from \$9.8 million in fiscal 2002 to \$19.3 million in fiscal 2005.

Our Service Offerings

Our services, as depicted in the following diagram, support the principal stages in the lifecycle of a mortgage loan.

Our transaction management services have historically constituted a majority of our business. We provide a full range of outsourced transaction management services to our clients, including due diligence, compliance services, conduit support services and staffing. We combine our extensive knowledge of, and experience in, loan origination, servicing, securitization and project management with an approach tailored to our clients' needs.

Our surveillance and special servicing businesses extend our services beyond the origination and securitization process to the later stages in the life of a loan, including ongoing monitoring and management of loans. We provide credit risk management and surveillance services to MBS underwriters, issuers and investors. These services consist of oversight and monitoring of non-agency MBS comprised primarily of residential non-conforming mortgage loans. These credit risk management and surveillance services are typically contract-based for the remaining life of the security. Our special servicing activities facilitate the management of sub-performing and non-performing loans.

Industry Overview

Conforming residential mortgage loans are loans that adhere to the underwriting guidelines of the government sponsored entities, or GSEs, such as the Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae), the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac). Non-conforming residential mortgage loans are loans that do not meet the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs, typically because of one or a combination of the following: loan size, borrower credit profile, loan to value ratio, documentation or type of loan.

MBS issued by GSEs are referred to as agency MBS, and have comprised a majority of the residential MBS that have been issued. A growing segment of the MBS market includes private-label, or non-agency, issuers such as capital markets firms and banks.

We generate the majority of our revenue from the services we provide to support the large and growing non-agency MBS and non-conforming mortgage loan markets. In 2005, the aggregate principal value of new issuances of non-agency MBS was \$1.2 trillion, up from \$136.0 billion in 2000, and the principal balance of non-conforming mortgage loan originations was \$1.9 trillion in 2005, up from \$390.0 billion in 2000. Securitization rates for non-conforming mortgage loans have increased from 34.6% in 2000 to 60.1% in 2005. We expect the non-conforming loan origination and the related non-agency MBS markets to continue growing due to the increasing demand for and availability of new loan products, higher rates of home ownership, driven in part by first-time homeowners, minorities and immigrants, and increased liquidity in the non-agency MBS market. Further, we believe that several trends support the demand for our services, including the growth in outsourced services used by capital markets firms and other major mortgage loan market participants, the increased complexities and requirements of federal, state and local regulations applicable to the mortgage loan industry, investors' growing demand for loan performance data and buyers' movement toward purchasing smaller pools of mortgage loans from a larger number of sellers.

As a result of the growth in non-conforming mortgage loan originations and the concurrent growth in, and market demand for, non-agency MBS, loan buyers, sellers and MBS investors seek specialized outsourced services, information-based analytics and specialty consulting when buying, selling or servicing mortgage-related loans and securities.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that we have developed a strong reputation among our clients and that we have the following competitive strengths:

Long-term Relationships with Industry Participants. We provide our services to the leading buyers and sellers of, and investors in, residential and commercial loan portfolios and securities. Our

clients include major capital markets firms, banks and lending institutions, including the largest MBS issuers/dealers, mortgage and bond insurance companies and fixed income investors. During 2003, 2004 and 2005, we worked with each of the 10 largest non-agency MBS underwriters, as ranked by *Inside B&C Lending*, which accounted for 80%, 78% and 73% of total underwriting volume during those respective periods.

Deep Market Expertise, Experienced Professionals and Proprietary Technology. As a pioneer in providing outsourced mortgage loan related services to institutional participants in the mortgage industry, we have developed considerable industry experience and a large database of loan information. We believe that we were the first significant service provider in the industry to build a technology platform to refine the due diligence process from a primarily manual process to a highly automated, computer-driven review. Our highly trained and experienced professionals assist clients across all stages of the loan lifecycle, and can access our experience, process and data, which we refer to as our intellectual capital, from thousands of historical transactions to strengthen their recommendations and analysis.

Comprehensive Suite of Outsourced Services and Mortgage-Related Analytics. We provide a comprehensive suite of outsourced services, mortgage-related analytics and specialized consulting services to the mortgage loan and MBS industries. Our services and information support the lifecycle of a loan from origination through maturity, with data and analytics aggregated and utilized by us and our clients. Our services combine our core expertise in transaction management and due diligence and our sophisticated technology.

Scalable and Flexible Operating Model. We operate a highly scalable and flexible operating model based on a proprietary technology platform, large database of mortgage loan information and a flexible, mobile workforce of experienced, qualified and trained independent loan review specialists. We have invested significant time and money developing our technology platform, which is capable of analyzing high volumes of data and generating accurate information and reports for our clients. With a substantial database of information already amassed and an advanced technology platform in place, we believe we are well-positioned to profitably grow our business.

Critical Position at the Nexus of Loan Buyers, Sellers and Investors. Our comprehensive suite of outsourced services, industry experience, large database of loan information, numerous and long-standing relationships with leading capital market participants and strong reputation have positioned us at the nexus of mortgage loan portfolio buyers, sellers and investors. Through the services we provide, we perform necessary functions across the lifecycle of a loan and effectively act as a facilitator for the loan buyer and investor communities.

Through the combination of Clayton Services and Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc., formerly The Murrayhill Company, as described in "Our Corporate Information" below, we are able to link loan origination data with ongoing loan performance data to enable sophisticated data aggregation, dynamic reporting capabilities and advanced loan analytics. This seamless delivery of a broad spectrum of centralized services and information that supports the lifecycle of a loan helps our clients make better buying decisions.

Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves risks. For a discussion of factors you should consider before deciding to invest in our common stock, we refer you to "Risk Factors" and the following summary:

adverse changes in the MBS market, the mortgage lending industry or the housing market could result in a reduced demand for our services;

the market for our services is highly competitive, and if we are not able to compete effectively, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected;

clients can generally terminate engagements with us at any time, and the loss of one or more of our largest clients could adversely affect our business and results of operations;

maintaining our professional reputation is critical to our future success, and any damage to our reputation could adversely affect our business and results of operations;

the recent resignation of our founder and President, Stephen M. Lamando, effective December 31, 2005, may adversely affect our ability to execute our business strategy, manage our growth or compete effectively. Mr. Lamando will continue to serve as a director; and

our business could suffer if we are unable to recruit and retain additional qualified independent loan review specialists.

Growth Strategies

We believe that the large and growing market for securitized loans combined with the significant demand for outsourced services provide us with substantial opportunities to continue to grow our business. In addition to the favorable industry dynamics affecting our business, we intend to pursue the following strategies to increase our market share and profitably expand our business:

Leverage and Expand Client Relationships. Many of our clients participate in various stages of the lifecycle of a loan from origination to maturity across a variety of asset types. As we continue to increase awareness among our clients of our full suite of services, we believe there are significant opportunities to provide a broader array of our services to existing clients. Additionally, many of our clients are large organizations or multi-faceted financial institutions with a number of separate business units. We intend to continue to expand and deepen our relationships with current clients while accessing other business units within these organizations that may benefit from our services.

Expand Service Capabilities. We expect to continue to leverage our core expertise in transaction management and due diligence services to expand our service offerings across the lifecycle of the loan. We believe that our intellectual capital and advanced technological capabilities will enable us to build on our credit risk management and special servicing services to further benefit our client base.

Continue to Improve Operational Efficiencies. We believe that we manage our operations efficiently and benefit from our flexible operating model and scalable infrastructure. We also believe that we have opportunities to further reduce our costs and continue to provide competitively priced services to our clients by further utilizing and deploying our technology, particularly in connection with our transaction management services.

Opportunistically Pursue Strategic Acquisitions. We plan to opportunistically pursue acquisition opportunities that enable us to profitably grow our business. While our growth to date has been primarily organic, we successfully integrated the operations of both Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. and NISYS and recently acquired Mortgage Resource Network, as described in "Our Corporate Information" below. The addition of Clayton Fixed Income Services' and NISYS' businesses broadened and strengthened our existing capabilities, and we believe that the recent addition of Mortgage Resource Network will do the same. As we continue to expand our business, we may pursue additional acquisitions that help us grow our service offerings and expand our capabilities in other asset classes. In addition, we may seek acquisitions to increase our market share and benefit from potential synergies.

Our Corporate Information

The chart below illustrates our current	ownership and corporate struc-	ture prior to the completi	ion of this offering.	Ownership of	Clayton is
presented on a fully-diluted basis.					

⁽¹⁾Includes the holdings of Margaret Sue Ellis, Stephen M. Lamando and his related trusts and Brian Libman. Ms. Ellis and Messrs. Lamando and Libman each serve on our Board of Directors. See "Management" and "Principal Stockholders."

⁽²⁾Includes the holdings of other stockholders and issued and outstanding options and remaining options reserved for issuance under our 2005 Option Plan.

Our predecessor company, Clayton Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Clayton Services), began operations in 1990. In May 2004, a group of investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, Inc., our principal stockholder (TA Associates), entered into a transaction with Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc., formerly The Murrayhill Company, a Colorado corporation (Clayton Fixed Income Services or CFIS), and its stockholders, which resulted in TA Associates owning a majority interest in

CFIS. In August 2004, TA Associates entered into a transaction with Clayton Services and First Madison Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (First Madison), and their stockholders, which resulted in TA Associates owning a majority interest in Clayton Services, and First Madison being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Clayton Services. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions The Clayton Services and CFIS Transactions" for further information. Clayton Holdings, Inc. (Clayton) was formed as a Delaware corporation in March 2005 upon the combination of the holding companies of each of Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, including First Madison, and CFIS. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions The Clayton Services/CFIS Combination" for further information. In March 2005, we purchased substantially all the assets of NISYS, Inc., an Indiana corporation (NISYS). In February 2006, we purchased substantially all the assets of M R Network I, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership (Mortgage Resource Network). The assets purchased from NISYS and Mortgage Resource Network are held by AG NI Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (AG NI).

Clayton Holdings, Inc. has two subsidiaries, TMHC Holdings, Inc. (TMHC) and GRP Holdings, Inc. (GRP), which are Delaware corporations that act as holding companies for our operating subsidiaries. CFIS is the subsidiary of TMHC and the operating company through which we perform our credit risk management and surveillance services. Clayton IPS Corporation, a Colorado corporation (Clayton IPS), is a subsidiary of CFIS. Clayton IPS provides third party fair market portfolio valuation services to hedge funds, pension funds and other money managers. Clayton Services is the subsidiary of GRP and the operating company through which we perform the majority of our transaction management services. Clayton Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Clayton Technologies), First Madison and AG NI are subsidiaries of Clayton Services. Clayton Technologies owns and develops the proprietary technology that we use to increase the efficiency of our services, including our Clayton Loan Analysis System and High Cost Analyzer compliance applications, and develops our paperless imaging capabilities. First Madison and its subsidiary, Quantum Servicing Corporation, a Delaware corporation (Quantum), conduct our special servicing services. AG NI holds our paperless imaging assets that we acquired from NISYS and the operating assets acquired from Mortgage Resource Network.

Our principal executive offices are located at 2 Corporate Drive, Shelton, Connecticut 06484. The telephone number of our principal executive offices is (203) 926-5600, and we maintain a website at www.clayton.com. Information contained on our website does not constitute a part of this prospectus.

We own, have rights to, or have applied for the trademarks and trade names that we use in conjunction with our business, including CLAYTON, BEYOND DILIGENT, HIGH COST ANALYZER, HIGH COST FOCUS, CLAS, GREEN MACHINE, MASTEREPORTER and our Clayton logo. All other trademarks and trade names appearing in this prospectus are the property of their respective holders.

Our fiscal year ends on December 31. Accordingly, a reference to "fiscal 2005" in this prospectus, for example, refers to the 12-month period ended December 31, 2005. Information presented in this prospectus on a pro forma basis gives effect to the combination of Clayton Services, CFIS and First Madison as if such combination had occurred at the beginning of the applicable period presented. Unless the context otherwise requires, we use the terms "Clayton," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" in this prospectus to refer to Clayton Holdings, Inc., its subsidiaries, and its predecessor companies.

Benefits to Related Parties

Certain of our stockholders and affiliates will receive a portion of the proceeds raised by the offering. Investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, Inc., our controlling stockholder, will receive \$51.4 million of the proceeds in connection with the redemption of our series A and series B redeemable preferred stock, which will be issued and outstanding, and subsequently redeemed, immediately upon the consummation of this offering. See "Use of Proceeds."

This Offering

Common stock offered by us	7,500,000 Shares
Common stock to be outstanding after this offering	19,391,306 Shares
Use of proceeds	We expect to receive net proceeds from the offering of approximately \$114.2 million. We intend to use the proceeds from the offering as follows:
	approximately \$52.8 million to redeem all of the shares of redeemable preferred stock to be outstanding immediately following the conversion of our series A convertible preferred stock and series B convertible preferred stock; and
	approximately \$61.4 million to repay amounts owed under the term loan portion of our senior credit facility with BNP Paribas.
	For further information, see "Use of Proceeds."
Nasdaq National Market symbol	"CLAY"

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding following this offering and after giving effect to the adjustments below, is based on 11,891,306 shares of our common stock outstanding as of January 31, 2006. This number excludes 1,460,656 shares subject to options granted as of January 31, 2006 and having a weighted average exercise price of \$4.52 per share, and 1,814,130 additional shares reserved as of January 31, 2006 for future issuance under our stock based compensation plans.

Unless otherwise indicated and except for information presented on a "Predecessor Basis," the share information in this prospectus is as of January 31, 2006 and has been adjusted to reflect or assume the following:

a 1-for-4 reverse stock split of our common stock and class B common stock approved by our board of directors and stockholders on February 28, 2006;

the conversion of all outstanding shares of our class B common stock into 357,020 shares of common stock, the conversion of our series A convertible preferred stock into 2,206,308 shares of common stock and 8,825,241 shares of series A redeemable preferred stock, the conversion of our series B convertible preferred stock into 6,046,371 shares of common stock and 24,185,493 shares of series B redeemable preferred stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering, and the immediate redemption of all such series A and series B redeemable preferred stock;

the filing of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and the adoption of our amended and restated by-laws immediately prior to the effectiveness of this offering; and

no exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option.

7

Summary Consolidated Financial and Other Data

The tables below summarize our consolidated financial data as of the date and for the periods indicated. You should read the following information together with the more detailed information contained in "Selected Consolidated and Other Financial Data," "Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Data," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

We were formed as a Delaware corporation in March 2005, in connection with the combination of the holding companies of each of Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, including First Madison, and CFIS, formerly The Murrayhill Company. Prior to the combination, each holding company was controlled by TA Associates. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP, relating to companies under common control prior to their combination, the financial statements of the previously separate companies under common control are restated on a combined basis from the dates of their respective acquisitions by the controlling entity. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the date of our inception was May 24, 2004, the date that TA Associates acquired CFIS, the first of the combined entities that were brought under common control.

Our consolidated results of operations presented on a "Successor Basis" include the accounts of the holding companies of each of Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, including First Madison, and CFIS, beginning from the dates of the acquisition of a controlling interest by TA Associates, which were August 2, 2004 and May 24, 2004, respectively. Our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, are prepared on a "Predecessor Basis," and reflect solely the financial position and results of operations of Clayton Services. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Other Factors Affecting Comparability" for more information.

The Predecessor's consolidated financial results do not reflect the effects of:

the acquisitions of each of CFIS and Clayton Services by TA Associates, which resulted in \$83.9 million of amortizable intangible assets, which is being amortized over an average life of 12.0 years;

additional debt of \$74.5 million incurred as a result of the acquisitions of each of CFIS and Clayton Services by TA Associates, which resulted in increased interest expense;

revenues expenses and operational results of CFIS and First Madison;

transaction related expenses incurred in connection with the combination of CFIS and Clayton Services into Clayton Holdings;

additional expenses incurred in preparation for becoming a public company including audit fees, professional fees, increased directors and officers insurance, board compensation and expenses related to hiring additional personnel and expanding our administrative functions;

increased depreciation as a result of investment in our technology and financial and administrative infrastructure in preparation for becoming compliant with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and

a C-corporation tax structure, which results in Federal income taxes being incurred by us, whereas previously our Predecessor elected to be taxed as an S-corporation and did not pay corporate level Federal income taxes.

		Predecessor			Successor			
		ear Ended ecember 31, 2003	ember 31, August 1,		Inception Through December 31, 2004			ear Ended ecember 31, 2005
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share data) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME:								
Revenue	\$	85,228	\$	76,339	\$	79,805	\$	207,502
Cost of services:	•	32,223	-	,	-	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	-	
Compensation expense		39,436		35,502		37,252		99,675
Travel and related expenses		17,204		15,494		13,892		29,787
Other direct costs		3,821		2,668		1,304		6,066
Total cost of services		60,461		53,664		52,448		135,528
Gross profit		24,767		22,675		27,357		71,974
Operating expenses:		·		·		·		
Salaries and benefits		4,403		3,783		6,553		18,911
Other selling, general and administrative expenses		3,960		4,276		6,417		17,181
Depreciation		1,163		792		1,115		4,694
Amortization of intangibles						4,509		10,175
Impairment of intangibles								1,632
Total operating expenses		9,526		8,851		18,594		52,593
Income from operations		15,241		13,824		8,763		19,381
Other income		315						
Interest expense, net		268		178		3,066		8,189
Loss from extinquishment of debt								2,991
Income before provision for income taxes		15,288		13,646		5,697		8,201
Income tax provision (benefit)		(62)		260		2,354		3,153
Net income	\$	15,350	\$	13,386	\$	3,343	\$	5,048
Pro forma net income ⁽¹⁾	\$	9,326	\$	8,324				
Pro forma net income per share ⁽²⁾								
Basic	\$	0.92	\$	0.82	\$	0.37	\$	0.42
Diluted	\$	0.92		0.82		0.37		0.41
Pro forma weighted average shares ⁽²⁾	•		-	3102	-		-	
Basic		10,162,309		10,162,309		9,034,350		11,888,671
Diluted		10,162,309		10,162,309		9,095,537		12,304,627
(Amounts in thousands)								
ADDITIONAL DATA:								
Loans reviewed ⁽³⁾		470		400		345		932
EBITDA ⁽⁴⁾	\$	16,719	\$	14,616	\$	14,387		35,882

As an S-corporation, our Predecessor was not subject to corporate level Federal income taxes. For comparison purposes, for all Predecessor periods we have presented pro forma net income, which reflects Federal income taxes assuming we had been a C-corporation during such periods and assuming a combined tax rate of 39.0% for Federal and state income taxes. The pro forma net income information is unaudited.

⁽²⁾For all Predecessor periods, pro forma net income per share and pro forma weighted average shares assume we had been a C-corporation since the beginning of the period presented. The pro forma net income per share and pro forma weighted average shares information is unaudited. For all Successor periods, pro forma net income per share and pro forma weighted average shares are the actual net income per share and weighted average shares for the period presented.

- (3)

 Represents the approximate total number of loans (all asset classes) which we reviewed and provided an event grade during the period indicated.
- "EBITDA" represents income from operations before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. For the year ended December 31, 2005, EBITDA has been adjusted for loss from extinguishment of debt and impairment of intangibles. EBITDA does not represent and should not be considered as an alternative to net income or cash flow from operations, as determined by U.S. GAAP. We present EBITDA because we believe that it is widely accepted that EBITDA provides useful information regarding our operating results. We rely on EBITDA primarily as an operating performance measure in order to review and assess our operations and our management team. For example, our management incentive

10

plan is based in part upon our achieving minimum EBITDA targets for a given year. Our loan covenants with our primary lender are measured using EBITDA as a key liquidity measure. We believe that it is useful to investors to provide disclosures of our operating results on the same basis as that used by our management. We also believe that it can assist investors in comparing our performance to that of other companies on a consistent basis without regard to depreciation, amortization, interest or income taxes, which do not directly affect our operating performance. EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debts;

Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

Other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

A reconciliation of EBITDA to income before provision for income taxes is set forth below:

		Predecessor				Successor			
	Dec	Year Ended cember 31, 2003	January 1, 2004 Through August 1, 2004	Incept Throu Decembe 2004	igh er 31,	Dece	Year Ended ember 31, 2005		
(Dollars in thousands)									
Income before provision for income taxes	\$	15,288	\$ 13,646	\$	5,697	\$	8,201		
Interest expense, net		268	178		3,066		8,189		
Loss from extinquishment of debt							2,991		
Depreciation and amortization		1,163	792		5,624		14,869		
Impairment of intangibles	-						1,632		
EBITDA	\$	16,719	\$ 14,616	\$ 1	14,387	\$	35,882		
		1							
	1	I							

The table below summarizes our audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 on an actual basis, on a pro forma basis to give effect to the conversion of our class B common stock, series A convertible preferred stock and series B convertible preferred stock, and on an as adjusted basis to reflect the sale of 7,500,000 shares of common stock that we are offering at a public offering price of \$17.00 per share, and the application of the estimated net proceeds therefrom as described in "Use of Proceeds."

As of December 31, 2005

	Actual Pro Forma			A	s Adjusted
(Dollars in thousands)	(Unaudited)				
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:					
Cash and cash equivalents ⁽¹⁾	\$ 7,209	\$	7,209	\$	9,549
Accounts receivable, net	37,205		37,205		37,205
Unbilled receivables	14,926		14,926		14,926
Goodwill	69,843		69,843		69,843
Intangible assets, net	84,740		84,740		84,740
Total assets ⁽¹⁾	247,505		247,505		247,505
Revolving credit facility and term loans ⁽²⁾	150,000		150,000		88,590
Series A convertible preferred stock	12,258				
Series B convertible preferred stock	43,867				
Series A redeemable preferred stock ⁽³⁾			11,443		
Series B redeemable preferred stock ⁽³⁾			41,322		
Total stockholders' equity ⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾	12,542		15,902		130,077

- (1) Upon completion of this offering and as presented on an as adjusted basis, we will write-off deferred offering costs of \$2.3 million.
- (2)
 Upon completion of this offering and as presented on an as adjusted basis, approximately \$61.4 million owed under our term loan will be immediately repaid.
- Upon the completion of this offering the outstanding shares of series A convertible preferred stock and the outstanding shares of series B convertible preferred stock will convert into an aggregate of 8,252,679 shares of common stock, and 8,825,241 and 24,185,493 shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock, respectively. As presented on an as adjusted basis, these shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock will be immediately redeemed upon issuance for an aggregate of approximately \$52.8 million, which represents a redemption price of 94.1% of the aggregate value of the series A and series B redeemable preferred.
- (4)
 Upon completion of this offering and as presented on a pro forma and on an as adjusted basis, 357,020 shares of our class B common stock will immediately convert into 357,020 shares of our common stock.

RISK FACTORS

Any investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the specific risk factors described below in addition to the other information contained in this prospectus before making a decision to invest in our common stock. If any of these risks actually occur, our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects could be harmed. This could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline and a loss of all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

Adverse changes in the MBS market, the mortgage lending industry or the housing market could result in a reduced demand for our services.

Our business is driven in part by the MBS market, the mortgage lending industry and the housing market, each of which is highly sensitive to trends in the general economy, including interest rates, perceived and actual economic conditions, taxation policies, availability of credit, employment levels and wage and salary levels. Adverse changes in any of these trends, or a decline in the sale of both new and existing homes or in home values, could lessen the demand for mortgage loans, which could result in a reduced demand for our services and diminish our revenues. A material reduction in the number of loans available for securitization may cause our clients to engage us for fewer services, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

A sustained downturn in the residential mortgage loan origination business, which is a cyclical industry currently at a historically high level, may adversely affect our business and harm our operations.

The residential mortgage lending origination business has historically been a cyclical industry. The residential mortgage lending industry experienced rapid growth from 2001 through 2004 due, in large part, to declining interest rates. During periods of rising interest rates, mortgage loan originations generally decrease, as higher interest rates provide reduced economic incentives for borrowers to refinance their existing mortgages. An extended decrease in mortgage loan originations may lead to fewer issuances of mortgage-backed securities and, consequently, demand for our transaction management services may be materially reduced. Our historical performance may not be indicative of results that would occur in a rising interest rate environment during which our results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

The market for our services is highly competitive, and if we are not able to compete effectively, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

The market for our services is highly fragmented, intensely competitive and subject to rapid change. Our existing competitors, or future competitors, may have greater name recognition, larger client bases, better technology or data, easier access to data, lower priced services or greater financial, technical, personnel or other resources than we have. We compete with several providers of due diligence services, including large accounting firms and other providers focused on technology products, staffing services, surveillance and special servicing. Larger competitors with greater technical, personnel and financial resources may be better able to respond to the need for technological changes, compete for skilled professionals, build upon efficiencies based on a larger volume of loan transactions, fund internal growth and compete for market share generally. Among the ways in which we may encounter new or increased competition is the hiring or establishment by a competitor of a pool of skilled offshore workers that can provide many of the same services that we provide at substantially lower cost. Also, we may face competition from our clients if they choose to provide such services internally, as opposed to outsourcing these services to us, and from third parties who decide to expand their services, either organically or through merger or acquisition, to include some or all of the services that we

provide. Increased competition could result in lower revenues and higher expenses, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

The loss of one or more of our largest clients could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, pro forma revenue and revenue, respectively, from our largest three clients, Bear Stearns, Lehman Brothers and Morgan Stanley, accounted for an aggregate of 33.9% and 36.9% of our total pro forma revenue and revenue in those same periods, respectively. Each of these clients accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue during each of these years, except for the year ended December 31, 2005 during which Bear Stearns accounted for 9.8%. We expect that these clients will continue to account for a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future. While we have long-standing relationships with our major clients, including Bear Stearns, Lehman Brothers and Morgan Stanley, we generally do not have long-term contracts with these or our other clients. As a result, such clients could significantly decrease or cease their business with us upon limited or no notice. Any loss of major clients or a reduction in the type or scope of services for which such clients engage us could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Additionally, there has been, and may continue to be, substantial merger, acquisition and consolidation activity in the banking and financial services industry. The financial services industry includes many of our largest clients, and these clients may seek to diversify their service providers by utilizing our competitors to perform certain services that we provide. If our clients merge with or are acquired by other entities that are not our clients, or that use fewer of our services, they may discontinue or reduce their use of our services. Finally, the larger banks or financial institutions resulting from mergers or consolidations could decide to internally perform some or all of the services that we currently provide or may provide in the future, and thus terminate our engagements or decrease the level or volume of services we provide. Any of these developments could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Clients can terminate engagements with us at any time.

A majority of our transaction management engagements are project-based. Therefore, the utilization of our independent loan review specialists depends on our ability to secure additional engagements on a continual basis. Also, if a client terminates an engagement and we are unable to re-deploy our independent loan review specialists on another engagement within a short period of time, the independent loan review specialists may seek other opportunities for their services, which would increase our labor, recruiting and training costs and could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Maintaining our professional reputation is critical to our future success, and any damage to our reputation may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our ability to secure new engagements and recruit and retain qualified employees and independent loan review specialists depends heavily on our strong reputation in the mortgage loan industry. Because we obtain a majority of our new engagements from existing clients, a client's dissatisfaction with our performance could seriously impair our ability to secure new engagements from that client and its affiliates. Diminution of our business reputation for any reason could make it substantially more difficult for us to compete successfully for new engagements.

Our engagements may result in professional liability.

Our services typically involve difficult analytical assignments and carry risks of professional and other liability. Many of our engagements involve matters that could have an impact on our client's business. For example, our clients depend on us to accurately evaluate compliance with underwriting

and regulatory criteria in connection with their analysis of mortgage securities. If a client incurs losses as a result of the services we provide, the client could threaten or bring litigation in order to recover damages or to contest its obligation to pay all or part of our fees. In some cases, a client may seek to recover its losses pursuant to indemnification rights. Litigation alleging that we performed negligently or otherwise breached our obligations to the client could expose us to significant liabilities and tarnish our reputation. In addition to the costs associated with litigation and claims, the perceived exposure to professional liability may make it more expensive to obtain and maintain insurance, including errors and omissions insurance. While we have not experienced any such claims or been subject to litigation to date, any such occurrence could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

If we are not able to maintain accurate, comprehensive or reliable systems and data, we could experience reduced demand for our services.

Our success depends on our clients' confidence in the comprehensiveness, accuracy and reliability of our proprietary systems, transaction data and database of loan information. Additionally, we must continuously monitor changes to state predatory lending regulations, and update our compliance software and data accordingly. The task of establishing and maintaining accurate and reliable systems and data is a continuous, complex, multi-step process. If our data, including the data we obtain from third parties, is not current, accurate, comprehensive or reliable or if there is an error in our systems resulting from events such as miscoding of rules or miscalculations of critical data elements, we could experience damage to our reputation or be subject to legal action, either of which could result in reduced demand for our services.

Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to safeguard the security and privacy of the personal financial information we receive.

In connection with our loan file due diligence reviews and other consulting and advisory services that we provide to third parties relating to mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities, we have access to personal financial information of the borrowers. This personal financial information is highly sensitive and confidential. If we or a third party were to misappropriate this information, we potentially could be subject to both private and public legal actions. Although we have policies and procedures designed to safeguard confidential information, we cannot assure you that these policies and safeguards are sufficient to prevent the misappropriation of confidential information or that our policies and safeguards will be deemed compliant with any existing or future federal or state laws or regulations governing privacy.

An interruption in or breach of our information systems may result in lost business.

We rely heavily upon information systems to conduct our business. As we implement our growth strategy this reliance will increase. Any failure or interruption, or breach in security, of our information systems or the third party information systems on which we rely could significantly impede our ability to operate our business. Although such failures, interruptions or breaches have not occurred in the past, we cannot assure you that one will not happen in the future, or if they do occur that we or the third parties on which we rely will adequately address them. We have implemented precautionary measures to avoid systems outages and to minimize the effects of any data systems interruptions, but we have not instituted fully redundant systems. If we do not build and maintain redundant systems for our data, current clients may terminate their engagements with us and potential clients may utilize one of our competitors for their service needs. The occurrence of any failure, interruption or breach could significantly harm our business. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to license encryption technology and additional technologies to protect against security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by any breach. We may be liable for any breach in our security and any

breach could harm our reputation, reduce demand for our services or cause clients to terminate their relationships with us.

Stephen M. Lamando, our founder, recently resigned, which may adversely impact our business.

Mr. Lamando resigned as our President, effective December 31, 2005, to pursue personal interests. Mr. Lamando's resignation may adversely affect our ability to execute our business strategy, manage our growth or compete effectively. Mr. Lamando will continue to serve as a director.

If we lose the services of any additional key executive officers, we may not be able to execute our business strategy, manage our growth or compete effectively.

Our future success depends in large part on the continued service of our key executive officers, including Frank P. Filipps, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Frederick C. Herbst, our Chief Financial Officer. Although we have employment and non-competition agreements with these executive officers, these individuals may nevertheless leave us. We cannot assure you that these executive officers can be replaced with equally skilled and experienced professionals. Because these executive officers would be difficult to replace, the loss of their services could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our business could suffer if we are unable to recruit and retain qualified independent loan review specialists.

Our business requires us to continually recruit and retain highly qualified and experienced independent loan review specialists to perform due diligence and transaction related services. Our failure to recruit and retain a significant number of qualified independent loan review specialists could limit our ability to accept or complete engagements and adversely affect our business and results of operations. We face significant competition for these specialists from our direct competitors as well as other companies that seek highly qualified, highly educated candidates. Additionally, our competitors currently solicit and may hire our independent loan review specialists after they have completed our thorough training program. Competition for these independent loan review specialists may increase labor and training costs, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Efforts to expand our product offerings beyond our current markets may not succeed.

We have focused on selling our services primarily in the residential non-agency MBS market. Although we currently offer services for other consumer and commercial loan types and related securities, we may expand further into these and other asset classes. Efforts to expand our product offerings beyond the principal market that we currently serve, however, may divert management resources from existing operations and require us to commit significant financial resources to developing new product offerings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Moreover, efforts to expand beyond our existing markets may not result in the creation of new products that achieve market acceptance, create additional revenues or become profitable.

We may make acquisitions that prove unsuccessful or strain or divert our resources.

We intend to consider acquisitions of other companies in our industry that could complement our business, including the acquisition of entities that would expand our service offerings, increase our market share or offer access to other asset classes that we do not currently serve. We have limited experience in completing acquisitions of other businesses. If we do acquire other businesses, we may not be able to successfully integrate these businesses with our own and we may be unable to maintain our standards, controls and policies. We may fail in our attempt to integrate acquired companies and businesses in such a way that we can realize cross-selling opportunities and other synergies. Further,

acquisitions may place additional constraints on our resources by diverting the attention of our management from our business operations. Through acquisitions, we may enter areas in which we have no or limited experience, and an acquisition may be unsuccessful in accomplishing the intended benefits of the transaction. Moreover, any acquisition may result in substantial transaction-related expenses, a potentially dilutive issuance of equity securities, the incurrence of debt or amortization of expenses and related intangible assets, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We may not be able to manage our growth or meet marketplace demands effectively.

We have expanded significantly in the last few years and intend to maintain our focus on growth. However, our growth will place additional demands on our resources and we cannot be sure that we will be able to manage our growth effectively. In order to successfully manage our growth, we may need to:

expand and enhance our administrative infrastructure;

continue to improve our management, financial and information systems and controls; and

recruit, train, manage and retain our employees and our independent loan review specialists effectively.

Continued growth could place a strain on our management, operations and financial resources. In addition, this growth may adversely affect our ability to service the demands of our clients or the quality of services we provide. If we are unable to meet these demands, our competitors may be able to gain a greater market share in the transaction management and credit risk surveillance services market generally, as well as gain a greater share of our clients' business. We cannot assure you that our infrastructure, operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures, facilities and personnel will be adequate to support our future operations or to effectively adapt to future growth. Our expected additional headcount and capital investments will increase our costs, which will make it more difficult for us to offset any future revenue shortfalls by offsetting expense reductions in the short term. If we cannot manage our growth effectively, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Changes in the regulation of our business and our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our business is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations. Proposals for further regulation and changes in existing regulation that affect our business are regularly being introduced and passed in state legislatures and the U.S. Congress. Proposals that are now receiving a great deal of attention include consumer protection initiatives relating to privacy and security of customer information, and predatory lending regulations. It is possible that one or more other legislative proposals or regulatory changes may be adopted that would have an adverse effect on our business. For example, any changes to the current predatory lending regulations may increase our costs in connection with updating and conforming our High Cost Analyzer compliance application, or, conversely, reduce demand for our compliance related services. For a further discussion of the laws and regulation applicable to our business, see "Business Government Regulation." Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could harm our client relationships or our reputation, inhibit our ability to obtain new engagements, and expose us to class action lawsuits, breach of contract claims, and governmental proceedings, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Third parties may claim we are infringing their intellectual property rights, or may infringe upon or design around our intellectual property rights.

Our competitive position depends largely upon our proprietary products, processes and services. Third parties, however, may claim that we or our products, systems or operations infringe their intellectual property rights, and we may be unaware of intellectual property rights of others that may cover some aspects of our technology, products or services. Any litigation regarding trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property rights could be costly and time consuming, and divert our management and key personnel from operating our business. If any third party has a meritorious or successful claim that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, we may be forced to change our products or services or to compensate such third parties, which may be costly or impractical. While we have not experienced any material claims or been subject to litigation to date, any such occurrence could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our success and competitive position depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property rights protecting our products and services. We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, confidentiality provisions and licensing arrangements to establish and protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. We have filed federal trademark applications to help protect certain trademarks that we use in conjunction with our business, including CLAYTON, BEYOND DILIGENT, HIGH COST ANALYZER, HIGH COST FOCUS, CLAS, GREEN MACHINE, MASTEREPORTER and our Clayton logo. Our pending applications may not be registered by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, and third parties may challenge the validity or scope of the trademark applications or registrations. Despite our proprietary rights, there can be no assurance that others will not develop similar products, duplicate our products or design around our products.

Our loan agreement contains operating and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities.

We have entered into a senior loan agreement providing for a \$150.0 million term loan and a \$45.0 million revolving line of credit, and, subject to the agreement of the lenders to increase their commitments, we have the option to increase the revolving line of credit to \$50.0 million. We expect to repay a portion of the term loan with the net proceeds of this offering. See "Use of Proceeds." Among other things, this senior loan agreement restricts our ability to:

incur or guaranty additional indebtedness;
make capital expenditures;
create liens;
enter into transactions with affiliates;
make loans or investments;
sell assets;
pay dividends or make distributions on, or repurchase, our stock; or
consolidate or merge with other entities.

In addition, our senior credit facility requires us to maintain specified financial covenants. The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in this credit facility, as well as any future financing agreements, may restrict our ability to finance our operations, engage in business activities or expand or pursue our business strategies. Our ability to comply with our obligations under the credit facility may be affected by events beyond our control. We may not be able to meet those obligations. A breach of any of our obligations under the credit facility could result in a default, cause any future indebtedness

under the revolving line of credit that may be outstanding to become immediately due and payable, and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. We cannot assure you that we will have sufficient assets to repay our credit facility upon any default. If we were unable to repay any outstanding indebtedness, the bank could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness. We have pledged substantially all of our assets, including certain intellectual property, as collateral under the credit facility.

We will incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time and expense to various compliance issues.

We have never operated as a public company. After we become a publicly-traded company, we will incur substantial additional legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, along with rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and the Nasdaq National Market, where our stock will trade, have imposed significant new requirements on public companies, including many changes involving corporate governance. Management and other company personnel will be required to devote a substantial amount of time to ensuring our compliance with these regulations. Accordingly, our legal and accounting expenses will significantly increase, and certain corporate actions will become more time-consuming and costly. For example, these regulations may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors and various corporate committees, and obtaining director and officer liability insurance will be more expensive.

Our auditors identified several significant deficiencies during their audits of the fiscal periods 2003, 2004 and 2005. In order to comply with public reporting requirements, we must continue to strengthen our financial systems and controls, and the failure to do so could adversely affect our ability to provide timely and accurate financial statements.

In connection with the preparation of our year-end audited financials statements for fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, our independent auditors identified several deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. Certain of these were matters that could, in our auditor's judgment, adversely affect our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data, and were "significant deficiencies" pursuant to Auditing Standard No. 2 issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. The comments and recommendations provided by our auditors in 2005 included, but were not limited to: the need to augment financial reporting staffing in connection with the preparation of consolidated financial statements on a timely basis; the need to implement stricter control procedures regarding internal capitalization expenses and accounting for employment and personnel agreements; the need to implement appropriate security measures with respect to access to our internal software applications; the need to segregate duties in key information technology functions so that individuals are limited in their ability to improperly impact our software, and create a change management policy to insure data integrity and control of our proprietary software; the need to improve control procedures with respect to internal access to client files; and the need for enhanced monitoring and oversight of our tax function.

In prior years, our auditors recommended that we improve documentation of our client engagements so that key terms for engagements with clients are documented in writing; create policies and procedures to strengthen our accounts receivable function in order to more efficiently bill customers and apply customer payments appropriately; maintain contemporaneous documentation to support our books and records; segregate duties in key accounting functions so that individuals are limited in their ability to improperly impact our accounting records, including with respect to information technology access; and implement appropriate security measures with respect to the preparation of financial statements.

If the significant deficiencies identified by our auditors are left unremediated, they could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations. For example, the auditors noted a significant deficiency regarding the documentation and recordkeeping of certain of our internal projects that are eligible for capitalization. Inadequate documentation or recordkeeping could result in erroneous payroll and accounting records. Additionally, our auditors noted a significant deficiency with respect to segregation of duties in our information technology department, as well as a significant deficiency with respect to inadequate control over financial reporting software. The effect of such deficiencies could materially harm our internal accounting, since multiple accounting personnel would have access to our accounting system, and potentially impair the integrity of our accounting and reporting. Our auditors noted a significant deficiency with respect to our tax recordkeeping and documentation. If this deficiency is not addressed, we may face penalties from state and federal tax authorities for underpayment, and our financial statements may not properly reflect all taxes incurred. Our auditors noted a significant deficiency with respect to our change management processes. Failure to address weak change management procedures may result in improper access to our source code for our proprietary software, which may impair certain software critical to our clients. Finally, our auditors identified a deficiency with respect to our ability to prepare financial statements on a timely basis. If we are unable to prepare our financial statements on time, it may adversely affect our business and compliance with SEC reporting obligations.

All remediation actions taken by management subsequent to December 31, 2005 will be subject to the consideration of our auditors during the audit of our financial statements as of and for the year ending December 31, 2006. Although we believe we have made substantial progress in addressing the areas identified by our auditors as needing improvement, there are no assurances that these matters will have been sufficiently addressed in the opinion of our independent auditors or that other deficiencies will not be identified in connection with their next audit of our financial statements.

Continued improvement of our internal controls and procedures will be required in order for us to manage future growth successfully and operate effectively as a public company. The continued improvement of our internal controls, as well as compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related requirements, will be costly and will place a significant burden on management. Upon completion of this offering, we will have had only limited operating experience with the improvements we have made. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken or any future measures will enable us to provide accurate and timely financial reports, particularly if we are unable to hire additional personnel in our accounting and financial department, or if we lose personnel in this area. Any failure to improve our internal controls could result in delays or inaccuracies in reporting financial information, or non-compliance with SEC reporting and other regulatory requirements, any of which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Risks Related to the Common Stock, the Offering and Our Capital Structure

We cannot assure you that a market will develop for our common stock or what the market price for our common stock will be in the future and, in the event that an active trading market does not develop, you may be unable to resell your shares.

Prior to this offering there has been no public market for our common stock. We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest will lead to the development of an active trading market in our common stock or whether that market will be sustained. The lack of a trading market may result in limited research coverage by securities analysts. The initial public offering price for our common stock has been determined by negotiations among the representatives of the underwriters and us, and may not reflect the market price for shares of our common stock after this offering. Prices for the shares of our common stock after this offering will be determined in the market and may be influenced by many factors, including the depth and liquidity of the market for our common stock, investor perception of our business, the mortgage loan industry generally and the non-conforming mortgage loan industry in

particular, and general economic and market conditions. In the event an active trading market does not develop for our common stock, you may be unable to resell your shares at or above the initial price to the public or at all.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the Nasdaq National Market in particular, have experienced substantial price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies affected. These broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of certain companies' securities, securities class-action litigation has been instituted against these companies. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could adversely harm our business and results of operations.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research reports and opinions that securities or industry analysts publish about our business. We do not currently have and may never obtain research coverage by these analysts. Investors have numerous investment opportunities and may limit their investments to publicly traded companies that receive thorough research coverage. If no analysts commence coverage of us or if one or more analysts cease to cover us or fail to publish reports in a regular manner, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause a significant and prolonged decline in our stock price due to lack of investor awareness.

In the event that we do obtain analyst coverage, or if one or more of the analysts downgrade our stock or comment negatively about our prospects or the prospects of other companies operating in our industry, our stock price could decline significantly. There is no guarantee that the equity research organizations affiliated with the underwriters of this offering will elect to initiate or sustain research coverage of us, nor whether such research, if initiated, will be positive towards our stock price or our business prospects.

Future sales of our shares could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

After this offering our current stockholders will hold approximately 61.3% of our outstanding shares (or 58.0% if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full). These stockholders will not be contractually prohibited from selling these shares following the 180-day lock-up period after this offering. This lock-up period is subject to extension under certain circumstances, as described in "Underwriting." The stockholders may also transfer these shares prior to the expiration of the lock-up period pursuant to the limited circumstances described in "Underwriting," including with the consent of William Blair & Company, L.L.C., in its sole discretion. In determining whether to consent to a waiver of the lock-up period, William Blair & Company, L.L.C. will take into account various factors, including the number of shares requested to be sold, the anticipated manner and timing of sale, the potential impact of the sale on the market for the common stock, restrictions on publication of research reports that would be imposed by the rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and market conditions generally. In addition, after the expiration of the lock-up period, we will not be contractually prohibited from issuing and selling additional shares of our common stock. Any sale by us or our current stockholders of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that sales could occur, could adversely affect the prevailing market price for our common stock.

After this offering, substantially all of the holders of our common stock prior to the offering will have rights, subject to some limited conditions, to demand that we file a registration statement on their behalf to register their shares or that we include their shares in a registration statement that we file on our behalf or on behalf of other stockholders. If such demand rights are exercised pursuant to the

terms and conditions of the registration rights agreement and we are required to file an additional registration statement, we will incur significant expenses in connection with the filing of such registration statement. Additionally, the filing of an additional registration statement at the request of the stockholders may divert the attention of our senior management from our business operations. See "Description of Capital Stock Registration Rights."

As a new investor, you will immediately experience substantial dilution as a result of this offering.

The purchasers of our common stock offered in this offering will experience immediate and substantial dilution of \$18.26 per share, the amount by which the per share purchase price of the common stock offered in this offering exceeds the pro forma net tangible book value per share of our common stock immediately following this offering. We may raise additional funds through future sales of our common stock. Any such financing may result in additional dilution to our stockholders.

Certain of our principal stockholders will receive a material benefit from the completion of this offering, resulting in a decrease in the net proceeds available to us for working capital and other general corporate uses, such as acquisitions.

Investment funds affiliated with TA Associates hold a significant amount of our common stock, series A convertible preferred stock and series B convertible preferred stock. Upon completion of this offering:

the shares of series A convertible preferred stock held by TA Associates will automatically convert into 2,206,308 shares of our common stock and 8,825,241 shares of our series A redeemable preferred stock; and

the shares of series B convertible preferred stock held by TA Associates will automatically convert into 5,853,402 shares of our common stock and 23,413,615 shares of our series B redeemable preferred stock.

As required by the terms of the redeemable preferred stock, we will immediately redeem all of the outstanding shares of redeemable preferred stock held by TA Associates upon issuance for an aggregate of approximately \$51.4 million, which represents approximately 45.0% of the estimated net proceeds to be received by us in this offering. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "Use of Proceeds." As a result of these payments, the net proceeds of the offering that are available to us for working capital and other general corporate uses, such as acquisitions, will be decreased.

Our directors and certain significant stockholders will exercise significant control over Clayton.

After this offering, our directors, and significant stockholders and their affiliates, including TA Associates and Stephen M. Lamando, will collectively control approximately 51.4% of our outstanding common stock. Investment funds affiliated with TA Associates will hold an aggregate of 42.7% of our issued and outstanding common stock, or 40.4% if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full. As a result, these stockholders, if they act together, will be able to influence our management and affairs and all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of Clayton and might affect the market price of our common stock.

We may require additional capital in the future, which may not be available to us. Issuances of our equity securities to provide this capital may dilute your ownership in us.

We may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financings in order to:

take advantage of expansion opportunities;

acquire complementary businesses or technologies;

develop new services and products; or

respond to competitive pressures.

Any additional capital raised through the issuance of our equity securities may dilute your percentage ownership interest in us. Furthermore, any additional financing we may need may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all. The unavailability of needed financing could adversely affect our ability to execute our growth strategy.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may deter third parties from acquiring us.

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of Clayton more difficult without the approval of our board of directors, including the following:

our board of directors is divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms;

only our board of directors may call special meetings of our stockholders;

our stockholders may take action only at a meeting of our stockholders and not by written consent;

we have authorized undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without stockholder approval;

stockholder approval of amendments of our certificate of incorporation or by-laws require a vote of 75% of our outstanding shares;

vacancies on the board of directors may be filled only by the directors;

our directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% of the votes that all stockholders would be entitled to cast in the election of directors; and

we require advance notice for stockholder proposals.

These anti-takeover defenses could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of Clayton. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and cause us to take other corporate actions that you desire.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may delay, defer or prevent a change in control that our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests.

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits "business combinations" between a Delaware corporation and an "interested stockholder," which is generally defined as a stockholder who becomes a beneficial owner of 15% or more of a Delaware corporation's voting stock for a three-year period following the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder absent prior approval of our board of directors. Section 203 could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control that our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AND PROJECTIONS

This prospectus contains forward looking statements. Forward looking statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. We generally identify forward looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "could," "intends," "target," "projects," "contemplates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential" or "continue" or the negative of these terms or other similar words. These statements are only predictions. We have based these forward looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. The outcome of the events described in these forward looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this prospectus. Accordingly, you should not rely upon forward looking statements as predictions of future events. We cannot assure you that the events and circumstances reflected in the forward looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward looking statements.

The forward looking statements made in this prospectus relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

This prospectus also contains market data related to our business and industry. This market data includes projections that are based on a number of assumptions. If these assumptions turn out to be incorrect, actual results may differ from the projections based on these assumptions. As a result, our markets may not grow at the rates projected by these data, or at all. The failure of these markets to grow at these projected rates may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and the market price of our common stock.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds of the sale of the 7,500,000 shares of common stock that we are offering will be approximately \$114.2 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses that we must pay. If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full, we estimate that our net proceeds from this offering will be approximately \$132.0 million.

We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering for the following:

approximately \$52.8 million to redeem from investment funds affiliated with TA Associates and our other preferred stockholders all of the shares of redeemable preferred stock to be outstanding immediately following the conversion of our series A convertible preferred stock and our series B convertible preferred stock; and

approximately \$61.4 million to repay amounts owed under the term loan portion of our senior credit facility with BNP Paribas.

The senior credit facility, which consists of a \$45.0 million revolving line of credit and a \$150.0 million term loan, expires on December 8, 2011. The initial loans under the credit facility bear interest as determined by the applicable London interbank offer rate, or LIBOR, plus 3.00%, or the prime rate as announced by BNP Paribas, or the Prime Rate, plus 2.0%, at our election. In addition, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% based on the calculation of the excess of the revolving credit loan commitment over the revolving outstanding balance as defined. Principal repayments of \$375,000 are required on a quarterly basis through 2010. The remaining principal balance at the end of 2010 is repayable in equal quarterly installments during 2011.

We borrowed the entire \$150.0 million term loan upon the closing of the credit facility on December 8, 2005, and used such amounts to:

repay and retire all \$45.6 million outstanding under our prior senior credit facility;

repay all \$31.5 million owed pursuant to our then outstanding subordinated notes and senior subordinated notes, which notes were held principally by investment funds affiliated with TA Associates and Stephen M. Lamando;

pay a \$1.69 per share dividend to our holders of preferred stock, including principally investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, for an aggregate dividend payment of \$55.85 million; and

pay \$13.25 million to Stephen M. Lamando, Brian Kramer and Peter Krell, or the Clayton Founders, in satisfaction of an earn-out arrangement entered into in connection with the August 2004 acquisition of Clayton, of which Mr. Lamando received \$10.7 million.

The payment of the dividend of \$55.85 million to our preferred stockholders reduced the aggregate redemption amount that otherwise would have been paid to such preferred stockholders upon the completion of this offering by the same amount. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions The Recapitalization and Preferred Stock Dividend."

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our board of directors will have discretion in determining whether to declare or pay dividends, which will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and such other factors as the board of directors deems relevant. Prior to TA Associates' acquisitions of Clayton Services and CFIS, Clayton Services and CFIS were organized as S-corporations and each regularly paid dividends to their stockholders. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business. Moreover, our senior loan agreement relating to our senior credit facility imposes restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends. While we intend to repay a portion of the amounts owed under the senior credit facility, we intend to maintain our ability to borrow under the senior credit facility and will therefore remain subject to these limitations on our ability to declare and pay dividends.

On December 8, 2005, in connection with our recapitalization, we paid an aggregate dividend of \$55.85 million to the holders of our series A convertible preferred stock and series B convertible preferred stock. This dividend reduced the aggregate redemption amount that will be paid to holders of our outstanding preferred stock upon the completion of this offering by \$55.85 million. This dividend to our preferred stockholders was a one-time, special dividend and we do not expect to declare any dividends on our preferred stock in the future.

CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our capitalization as of December 31, 2005:

on an actual basis;

on a pro forma basis to give effect to the conversion of all of our class B common stock, the conversion of all of our series A convertible preferred stock and the conversion of all of our series B convertible preferred stock; and

on an as adjusted basis to reflect the sale of 7,500,000 shares of common stock that we are offering at a public offering price of \$17.00 per share, and the application of the estimated net proceeds therefrom as described in "Use of Proceeds."

You should read the following table in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

	As of December 31, 2005					
		Actual		ctual Pro Forma		Adjusted
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)						
Term loans ⁽¹⁾	\$	150,000	\$	150,000	\$	88,590
Series A convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 8,825,241	Ψ	130,000	Ψ	130,000	Ψ	00,570
shares authorized, issued and outstanding ⁽²⁾		12,258				
Series B convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 24,185,493		,				
shares authorized, issued and outstanding ⁽²⁾		43,867				
Series A redeemable preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 8,825,241						
shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding ⁽²⁾				11,443		
Series B redeemable preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 27,837,046						
shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding ⁽²⁾				41,322		
Stockholders' equity:						
Common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 60,000,000 shares authorized;						
3,281,607 shares issued and outstanding, actual; 60,000,000 shares						
authorized, 11,891,306 shares issued and outstanding on a pro forma basis;						
19,391,306 shares issued and outstanding, as adjusted ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾		33		119		194
Class B common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 1,482,092 shares						
authorized; 357,020 issued and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized,						
issued or outstanding on a pro forma basis and as adjusted ⁽³⁾		4				
Additional paid-in capital ⁽³⁾		4,115		7,393		121,493
Retained earnings		8,390		8,390		8,390
	_					
Total stockholders' equity ⁽³⁾		12,542		15,902		130,077
1 ,						
Total capitalization	\$	218,667	\$	218,667	\$	218,667

⁽¹⁾ Upon completion of this offering and as presented on an as adjusted basis, approximately \$61.4 million owed under our term loan will be immediately repaid.

(2)

Upon the completion of this offering the outstanding shares of series A convertible preferred stock and the outstanding shares of series B convertible preferred stock will convert into an aggregate of 8,252,679 shares of common stock, and 8,825,241 and 24,185,493 shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock, respectively. As presented on an as adjusted basis, these shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock will be immediately redeemed upon issuance for an aggregate of approximately \$52.8 million, which represents a redemption price of 94.1% of the aggregate value of the series A and series B redeemable preferred.

(3) Upon completion of this offering and as presented on a pro forma and on an as adjusted basis, 357,020 shares of our class B common stock will immediately convert into 357,020 shares of our common stock.

27

DILUTION

Our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2005 was a deficit of \$138.7 million, or \$11.66 per share of common stock. Pro forma net tangible book value per share represents the amount of our total tangible assets less our total liabilities, divided by the number of shares of common stock outstanding, as of December 31, 2005 after giving effect to the conversion of all of our class B common stock, series A convertible preferred stock and series B convertible preferred stock into shares of our common stock, each of which will occur immediately prior to this offering.

After giving effect to the sale by us of 7,500,000 shares of common stock in this offering at a public offering price of \$17.00 per share, and after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, our adjusted pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2005 would have been a deficit of approximately \$24.5 million, or approximately \$1.26 per share. This amount represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of \$10.40 per share to our existing stockholders and an immediate dilution in pro forma net tangible book value of approximately \$18.26 per share to new investors purchasing shares of common stock in this offering at the public offering price. We determine dilution by subtracting the adjusted pro forma net tangible book value per share after this offering from the amount of cash that a new investor paid for a share of common stock. The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share basis:

Public offering price per share		\$ 17.00
Pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2005	\$ (11.66)	
Increase per share attributable to new investors	\$ 10.40	
Adjusted pro forma net tangible book value per share after this offering		\$ (1.26)
Dilution in pro forma net tangible book value per share to new investors		\$ 18.26

If the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares of our common stock in full in this offering, the pro forma net tangible book value per share after the offering would be a deficit of \$0.33 per share, the increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share to existing stockholders would be \$11.33 per share and the dilution to new investors purchasing shares in this offering would be \$17.33 per share.

The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2005, the differences between the number of shares purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us and the average price per share that existing stockholders (based on the difference between the face value and the redemption amount of the redeemable preferred stock) and new investors paid. The calculation below is based on a public offering price of \$17.00 per share, and before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses that we must pay:

	Shares Pur	Shares Purchased Total Consideration					
	Number	Percentage	Amount	Percentage	Average Price Per Share		
Existing stockholders	11,891,306	61.3% \$	3,360,000	2.6% \$	0.28		
New investors	7,500,000	38.7 \$	127,500,000	97.4 \$	17.00		
Total	19,391,306	100.0% \$	130,860,000	100.0%			

The above discussion and table assume no exercise of stock options after December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2005, we had outstanding options to purchase a total of 1,460,656 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of \$4.52 per share. If all such options had been exercised as of December 31, 2005, adjusted pro forma net tangible deficit per share would be \$0.86 and dilution to new investors would be \$17.86 per share.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, our consolidated financial statements and related notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP relating to companies under common control prior to their combination, the financial statements of the previously separate companies under common control are restated on a combined basis from the dates of their respective acquisitions by the controlling entity. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the date of our inception was May 24, 2004, the date that TA Associates acquired CFIS, the first of the combined entities that were brought under common control. Our consolidated results of operations presented on a "Successor Basis" include the accounts of the holding companies of each of Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, including First Madison, and CFIS, formerly The Murrayhill Company, beginning from the dates of the acquisitions of controlling interests by TA Associates, which were August 2, 2004 and May 24, 2004, respectively. Our consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003, and the period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, are prepared on a "Predecessor Basis," and reflect solely the financial position and results of operations of Clayton Services. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Other Factors Affecting Comparability" for more information.

The data presented on a "Predecessor Basis" for the year ended December 31, 2003, and the period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, and as of December 31, 2003, is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The data presented on a "Successor Basis" for the period from inception through December 31, 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2005, and as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The data presented on a "Predecessor Basis" for the year ended December 31, 2001, and as of December 31, 2001 and 2002 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are not included in this prospectus. Results for the year ended December 31, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of results expected for any other future period.

Predecessor

Successor

Year Ended December 31,									.•		T 7
	2001		2002		2003		Through	Tl Dece	rough mber 31,	Dec	Year Ended cember 31, 2005
hare do	uta)										
ME:											
\$	33.183	\$	52.098	\$	85,228	\$	76.339	\$	79.805	\$	207,502
_	,		,	_			,	Ť	,	-	,
	14,653		22,048		39,436		35,502		37,252		99,675
	5,598		9,036		17,204		15,494				29,787
	3,121		3,709		3,821		2,668		1,304		6,066
	23,372		34,793		60,461		53,664		52,448		135,528
	9.811		17.305		24.767		22,675		27.357		71,974
	,,011		17,505		21,707		22,073		21,551		71,771
	2,211		3,861		4,403		3,783		6,553		18,911
											17,181
	914		1,051		1,163		792				4,694
									4,509		10,175 1,632
		_		_							
	5,598		7,527		9,526		8,851		18,594		52,593
	4.212		0.779		15 241	_	12.924		9.762		10 201
							13,824		8,703		19,381
							178		3.066		8,189
									-,		2,991
		_		_		_					
	5.657		10.011		15.288		13.646		5.697		8,201
					-,)	260		2,354		3,153
ф	5 (41	Ф	10.050	Ф	15 250	Ф	12.206	ф	2.242	ф	5.040
2	5,641	2	10,059	2	15,350	>	13,386	2	3,343	2	5,048
\$	3,451	\$	6,107	\$	9,326		8,324				
											0.42
\$	0.34	\$	0.60	\$	0.92	\$	0.82	\$	0.37	\$	0.41
	10 162 309		10 162 309		10 162 309		10 162 309		9 034 350		11,888,671
	10,162,309		10,162,309		10,162,309		10,162,309				12,304,627
\$	6.794	\$	11.144	\$	16.719	\$	14.616	\$	14.387	\$	35,882
Ψ	0,77.	Ψ	11,1	Ψ	Predecessor	Ψ	11,010			Ψ	22,002
						As of	December 31	31,			_
			2001		2002		2003	2004	20	05	-
			4001		4004				40	•••	
	\$ \$ \$	2001 Share data) ME: \$ 33,183 14,653 5,598 3,121 23,372 9,811 2,211 2,473 914 5,598 4,213 1,667 223 5,657 16 \$ 5,641 \$ 3,451 \$ 0.34 \$ 0.34 \$ 0.34	2001 Share data) ME: \$ 33,183 \$ 14,653 5,598 3,121 23,372 9,811 2,211 2,473 914 5,598 4,213 1,667 223 5,657 16 \$ 5,641 \$ \$ 0,34 \$ \$ 0,34 \$ \$ 0,34 \$ \$ 10,162,309 10,162,309	2001 2002 Share data) OME: \$ 33,183 \$ 52,098 14,653	2001 2002 Share data) ME: \$ 33,183 \$ 52,098 \$ 14,653	### 2001	2001 2002 2003 Au	ME: \$ 33,183 \$ 52,098 \$ 85,228 \$ 76,339 14,653 22,048 39,436 35,502 5,598 9,036 17,204 15,494 3,121 3,709 3,821 2,668 23,372 34,793 60,461 53,664 9,811 17,305 24,767 22,675 2,211 3,861 4,403 3,783 2,473 2,615 3,960 4,276 914 1,051 1,163 792 5,598 7,527 9,526 8,851 4,213 9,778 15,241 13,824 1,667 315 315 223 82 268 178 5,657 10,011 15,288 13,646 4,213 9,778 15,241 13,824 1,667 315 315 223 82 268 178 5,657 10,011 15,288 13,646 6 (48) (62) 260 5 5,641 \$ 10,059 \$ 15,350 \$ 13,386 \$ 3,451 \$ 6,107 \$ 9,326 8,324 \$ 0,34 \$ 0,60 \$ 0,92 \$ 0,82 \$ 0,44 \$ 0,60 \$ 0,92 \$ 0,82 \$ 0,45 \$ 0,60 \$ 0,92 \$ 0,82	2001 2002 2003 August 1, 2004 Through August 1, 2004 Through August 1, 2004	Name	ME: S 33,183 S 52,098 S 85,228 S 76,339 S 79,805 S 55,98 9,036 17,204 15,494 13,892 3,121 3,709 3,821 2,668 1,304

		Predecessor					Successor		
(Dollars in thousands)									
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:									
Cash and cash equivalents	\$		\$	67	\$	4,669 \$	12,450	\$ 7,209	
Accounts receivable, net		8,581		13,148		22,047	21,658	37,205	
Unbilled receivables		3,817		5,739		9,049	17,655	14,926	
Goodwill							46,179	69,843	
Intangibles assets, net							96,522	84,740	
Total assets		16,021		22,138		42,554	218,247	247,505	
Revolving credit facility and term loans		1,850		1,100		10,429	41,777	150,000	
Subordinated notes and senior subordinated notes							29,486		
Series A convertible preferred stock							27,190	12,258	
Series B convertible preferred stock							74,513	43,867	
Total stockholders' equity		10,662		16,421		25,771	7,224	12,542	
	30								

- As an S-corporation, our Predecessor was not subject to corporate level Federal income taxes. For comparison purposes, for all Predecessor periods we have presented pro forma net income, which reflects income taxes assuming we had been a C-corporation during such periods and assuming a combined tax rate of 39.0% for Federal and state income taxes. The pro forma net income information is unaudited.
- For all Predecessor periods, pro forma net income per share and pro forma weighted average shares assume we had been a C-corporation since the beginning of the period presented. The pro forma net income per share and pro forma weighted average shares information is unaudited. For all Successor periods, pro forma net income per share and pro forma weighted average shares are the actual net income per share and weighted average shares for the period presented.
- "EBITDA" represents income from operations before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. For the year ended December 31, 2005, EBITDA has been adjusted for loss from extinguishment of debt and impairment of intangibles. EBITDA does not represent and should not be considered as an alternative to net income or cash flow from operations, as determined by U.S. GAAP. We present EBITDA because we believe that it is widely accepted that EBITDA provides useful information regarding our operating results. We rely on EBITDA primarily as an operating performance measure in order to review and assess our operations and our management team. For example, our management incentive plan is based in part upon our achieving minimum EBITDA targets for a given year. Our loan covenants with our primary lender are measured using EBITDA as a key liquidity measure. We believe that it is useful to investors to provide disclosures of our operating results on the same basis as that used by our management. We also believe that it can assist investors in comparing our performance to that of other companies on a consistent basis without regard to depreciation, amortization, interest or income taxes, which do not directly affect our operating performance. EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations

EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debts;

Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

Other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

A reconciliation of EBITDA to income before provision for income taxes is set forth below:

	Predecessor								Successor			
	Year Ended Dece			mber 31,		Ior	uary 1,					
	2001		2002			2003	2004 Through August 1, 2004		Inception Through December 31, 2004		Year Ended December 31, 2005	
(Dollars in thousands)												
Income before provision for income taxes	\$	5,657	\$	10,011	\$	15,288	\$	13,646	\$	5,697	\$	8,201
Interest expense, net		223		82		268		178		3,066		8,189
Loss from extinguishment of debt												2,991
Impairment of intangibles												1,632
Depreciation and amortization		914		1,051		1,163		792		5,624		14,869

		Predec	essor		Succ	essor
EBITDA	\$ 6,794 \$	11,144 \$	16,719 \$	14,616	\$ 14,387	\$ 35,882
		3	1			

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA

Our unaudited pro forma financial statements for fiscal 2005 included in this prospectus are derived from the historical audited consolidated financial statements of Clayton, together with the application of the pro forma adjustments noted below. The unaudited pro forma combined financial data and accompanying notes are provided for information purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the operating results or financial position that would have occurred had the transactions been consummated on the date indicated below, nor are they indicative of our future results of operations or financial position.

The pro forma adjustments are based on preliminary estimates and currently available information and assumptions that management believes are reasonable. The final allocation of shares of common stock to be offered by us in this offering may affect the pro forma adjustments. The notes to the unaudited pro forma balance sheet data and statement of operations data provide a detailed discussion of how such adjustments were derived and presented herein. The following data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," "Selected Consolidated and Other Financial Data" and the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this prospectus.

The pro forma consolidated statement of income below for the year ended December 31, 2005 presents the results of operations on a pro forma basis as if the completion of our December 8, 2005 recapitalization and new credit facility happened on January 1, 2005. The unaudited as adjusted consolidated statement of income data gives effect to the sale of 7,500,000 shares of common stock by us pursuant to this offering at a public offering price of \$17.00 per share and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described in "Use of Proceeds," as if the offering had occurred on January 1, 2005.

	E Dece	Year Ended mber 31, 2005	Pro Forma Adjustments Year Ended December 31, 2005	Pro Fo Year En December 200:	nded er 31,	Offering Adjustments	1	As Adjusted
(Dollars in thousands)								
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME:								
Revenue	\$	207,502	\$	\$ 20	07,502	\$	\$	207,502
Cost of services:								
Compensation expense		99,675		9	99,675			99,675
Travel and related expenses		29,787		2	29,787			29,787
Other direct costs		6,066			6,066			6,066
Total cost of services		135,528		1:	35,528			135,528
Gross profit		71,974		,	71,974			71,974
Operating expenses:								
Salaries and benefits		18,911			18,911			18,911
Other selling, general and administrative expenses		17,181			17,181			17,181
Depreciation		4,694			4,694			4,694
Amortization of intangibles		10,175			10,175			10,175
Impairment of intangibles		1,632			1,632			1,632
Total operating expenses		52,593		:	52,593			52,593
Income from operations		19,381			19,381			19,381
Interest expense, net		8,189	1,562(1)(2		9,751		4)	5,943
Loss from extinguishment of debt		2,991	648(2)		3,639			3,639
Income before provision for income taxes		8,201	(2,210)		5,991			9,799
Income tax provision		3,153	(862)(3)		2,291	1,485(5)	3,776
Net income	\$	5,048	\$ (1,348)	\$	3,700	\$ 2,323	\$	6,023

- (1) Reflects adjustment of interest expense for the entire period related to our new term loan at an average interest rate of 6.2%, a 0.5% commitment fee for unfunded \$45 million revolving credit facility and the amortization of \$2.1 million in related debt issuance costs.
- (2)

 Reflects the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs of approximately \$1.3 million related to debt facilities, the write-off of \$0.4 million of unamortized discount related to the subordinated notes and senior subordinated notes and the payment of approximately \$1.3 million of prepayment penalties.
- (3) Reflects adjustment for the tax effect of the pro forma interest expense adjustment at a rate of 39.0%.
- (4) Reflects adjustment of interest expense for the entire period to give effect to repayment of \$61.4 million of debt from the proceeds of this offering at an average interest rate of 6.2%.
- (5) Reflects adjustment for the tax effect of the offering adjustments at a rate of 39.0%.

32

The pro forma balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 below presents the financial condition and on a pro forma basis to give effect to the conversion of all of our class B common stock, the conversion of all of our series A convertible preferred stock and the conversion of all of our series B convertible preferred stock. The unaudited as adjusted consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005 gives effect to the sale of 7,500,000 shares of common stock by us pursuant to this offering at a public offering price of \$17.00 and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described in "Use of Proceeds," as if the offering had occurred on that date.

As of December 31, 2005

		Actual	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pr	o Forma	A	Offering Adjustments	As Adjusted
(Dollars in thousands)								
ASSETS								
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	7,209	\$	\$	7,209	\$	2.340 (3)(4)(5)	\$ 9.549
Restricted cash		4,967			4,967		,	4,967
Accounts receivable, net		37,205			37,205			37,205
Unbilled receivables		14,926			14,926			14,926
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		7,862			7,862		$(2,340)^{(5)}$	5,522
Total current assets		72,169			72,169			72,169
Property and equipment, net		18,176			18,176			18,176
Goodwill		69,843			69,843			69,843
Intangible assets, net		84,740			84,740			84,740
Other assets, net		2,577			2,577			2,577
Total assets	\$	247,505		\$	247,505	\$		\$ 247,505
	_							
LIABILITIES								
Term loans current portion	\$	1,500	\$	\$	1,500	\$		\$ 1,500
Other current liabilities	_	23,948		_	23,948			23,948
Total current liabilities		25,448			25,448		(51.410)(0)	25,448
Term loans long term portion		148,500			148,500		$(61,410)^{(3)}$	87,090
Other liabilities		4,890			4,890			4,890
Total liabilities		178,838			178,838		(61,410)	117,428
Series A convertible preferred stock		12,258	$(12,258)^{(1)}$					
Series B convertible preferred stock		43,867	(43,867)(1)					
Series A redeemable preferred stock			11,443 (1)		11,443		$(11,443)^{(3)}$	
Series B redeemable preferred stock			41,322 (1)		41,322		(41,322)	
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY								
Common stock		33	86 (1)(2)		119		75 (4)	194
Common stock class B		4	(4)(1)(2)					
Additional paid in capital		4,115	3,278 (1)(2)		7,393		114,100 (3)(4)(5)	121,493
Retained earnings		8,390			8,390			8,390
Total stockholders' equity		12,542	3,360		15,902		114,175	130,077
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	247,505	\$ 	\$	247,505	\$		\$ 247,505

Upon the completion of this offering the outstanding shares of series A convertible preferred stock and the outstanding shares of series B convertible preferred stock will convert into an aggregate of 8,252,679 shares of common stock, and 8,825,241 and 24,185,493 shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock, respectively. Upon conversion, the redemption amount of such redeemable preferred stock will be 94.1% of the aggregate value of the series A and series B redeemable preferred.

- (2)
 Upon completion of this offering and as presented on a pro forma and on an as adjusted basis, 357,020 shares of our class B common stock will immediately convert into 357,020 shares of our common stock.
- (3)
 Upon completion of this offering and as presented on an as adjusted basis, approximately \$61.4 million owed under our term loan will be immediately repaid and redeemable preferred stock will be redeemed for \$52.8 million.
- (4)
 Upon completion of this offering and as presented on an as adjusted basis, we will issue \$127.5 million of common stock and pay fees and expenses of \$11.0 million.
- (5) Upon completion of this offering and as presented on an as adjusted basis, we will write-off deferred offering costs of \$2.3 million.

33

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The following discussion of our historical consolidated financial statements covers periods before consummation of this offering and the application of the proceeds. Accordingly, the discussion does not reflect the impact that this offering will have on us. See the information provided in "Risk Factors," "Capitalization," "Liquidity and Capital Resources" and elsewhere in this prospectus for further discussion relating to the impact of this offering on us. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations. Factors that could cause such differences include those described in "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this prospectus.

Overview

We provide a full suite of outsourced services, mortgage-related analytics and specialized consulting services for buyers and sellers of, and investors in, mortgage-related loans and securities and other debt instruments. Our services include transaction management, which consists of due diligence, mortgage processing services for buyers of mortgage loans (conduit support services), professional staffing, and compliance products and services, as well as monitoring of mortgage-backed securities (credit risk management and surveillance), and specialized loan servicing services (special servicing). We provide a majority of our services to participants in the non-agency mortgage-backed securities, or MBS, market and the non-conforming mortgage loan market. During 2005, we performed detailed analyses on over 930,000 loans totaling over \$175.0 billion in principal value, which represented 9.0% of the total principal balance of U.S. non-conforming mortgage loan originations in 2005. As of December 31, 2005, we were monitoring over \$308.0 billion in loans underlying MBS, which represented 19.4% of the total outstanding U.S. non-agency MBS at such date.

We believe that several trends support the demand for our services, including:

the growth in outsourced services by capital markets firms and other major mortgage loan market participants;

the increased complexities and requirements of federal, state and local regulations applicable to the mortgage loan industry;

investors' growing demand for loan performance data; and

buyers purchasing smaller pools of loans from a larger number of sellers, increasing the need for our conduit services.

Our revenue is also driven by non-agency MBS issuance and the aggregate number of non-conforming mortgage loan originations. Increases in non-agency MBS issuances and non-conforming mortgage loan originations have increased the number of loans for which we performed our services, leading to a corresponding increase in gross revenue. At the same time, we increasingly utilized our centralized underwriting facilities to perform our services. The usage of our centralized underwriting facilities decreased the amount of per loan travel expenses, which led to a corresponding increase in our profit margins.

We expect the non-agency MBS securitization and non-conforming mortgage loan origination markets to continue growing due to the increasing demand for and the availability of new loan products, increased home ownership driven in part by first-time homeowners, minorities and immigrants, and increased liquidity in the non-agency MBS market. In 2005, the aggregate principal value of new issuances of U.S. non-agency MBS was \$1.2 trillion, up from \$136 billion in 2000, and the

principal balance of non-conforming mortgage loan originations was \$1.9 trillion in 2005, up from \$390 billion in 2000.

We face a number of risks in our industry and the market for our services is highly competitive. Our business is driven in part by the MBS market, the mortgage lending industry and the housing market, each of which is highly sensitive to trends in the general economy, including interest rates, perceived and actual economic conditions, taxation policies, availability of credit, employment levels and wage and salary levels. Adverse changes in any of these trends, or a decline in the sale of both new and existing homes or in home values, could lessen the demand for mortgage loans, which could result over time in a reduced demand for our services and diminish our revenue. A material reduction in the number of loans available for securitization may cause our clients to engage us for fewer services, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Moreover, the majority of our business is generated through our largest 20 clients. The loss of one or more of these clients could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Lastly, we are dependent on our independent loan review specialists to perform our services. Our business could suffer if we are unable to recruit and retain additional qualified independent loan review specialists.

Basis of Presentation

We were formed as a Delaware corporation in March 2005, following the combination of the holding companies of each of Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, including First Madison, and CFIS, formerly The Murrayhill Company. Prior to the combination, each holding company was controlled by TA Associates. In accordance with U.S. GAAP relating to companies under common control prior to their combination, the financial statements of the previously separate companies under common control are restated on a combined basis from the dates of their respective acquisitions by the controlling entity. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the date of our inception was May 24, 2004, the date that TA Associates acquired CFIS, the first of the combined entities that were brought under common control.

Our consolidated results of operations presented on a "Successor Basis" include the accounts of the holding companies of each of Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, including First Madison, and CFIS, beginning from the dates of the acquisition of a controlling interest by TA Associates, which were August 2, 2004 and May 24, 2004, respectively. Our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, and the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004 are prepared on a "Predecessor Basis," and reflect solely the operations of Clayton Services.

Other Factors Affecting Comparability

Our consolidated financial statements present the results of operations of Clayton Services and CFIS each as of the date of its acquisition by TA Associates as well as the results of our Predecessor, Clayton Services, on a stand-alone basis prior to its acquisition by TA Associates. As such, the results of operations in the periods covered by our consolidated financial statements may not be directly comparable.

The Predecessor's consolidated financial results do not reflect the effects of:

the acquisitions of each of CFIS and Clayton Services by TA Associates, which resulted in \$83.9 million of amortizable intangible assets, which is being amortized over an average life of 12.0 years;

additional debt of \$74.5 million incurred as a result of the acquisitions of each of CFIS and Clayton Services by TA Associates, which resulted in increased interest expense;

revenues, expenses and operational results of CFIS and First Madison;

transaction related expenses incurred in connection with the combination of CFIS and Clayton Services into Clayton Holdings;

additional expenses incurred in preparation for becoming a public company including audit fees, professional fees, increased directors and officers insurance, board compensation and expenses related to hiring additional personnel and expanding our administrative functions:

increased depreciation as a result of investment in our technology and financial and administrative infrastructure in preparation for becoming compliant with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and

a C-corporation tax structure, which results in Federal income taxes being incurred by us, whereas previously our Predecessor elected to be taxed as an S-corporation and did not pay corporate level Federal income taxes.

Our consolidated historical financial statements include assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses directly attributable to our operations. Our consolidated historical financial statements do not necessarily reflect what our financial position or results of operations would have been if we had been operated as a stand-alone public entity during the periods covered, and may not be indicative of our future results of operations or financial position.

Critical Accounting Policies

In preparing our financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP, we have to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts of reported assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Some of our accounting policies require the application of significant judgment by management in the selection of appropriate assumptions for determining these estimates. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty; therefore, we cannot assure you that actual results will not differ significantly from estimated results. We base these judgments on our historical experience, management's forecasts and other available information, as appropriate. Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our December 31, 2005 consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Our most critical accounting policies, which reflect significant management estimates and judgment in determining reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus, are a follows:

Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows include the results of GRP and TMHC beginning from the dates of acquisition of controlling interests by TA Associates, which were August 2, 2004 and May 24, 2004, respectively. The consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the periods prior to the date TA Associates acquired a controlling interest in GRP are presented on a "Predecessor Basis" and reflect solely the operations of Clayton Services.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service has been performed, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

We derive most of our revenue from professional service activities. The majority of these activities are provided under "time-and-materials" billing arrangements. Revenue consisting of billed fees and pass-through expenses is recorded as work is performed and expenses are incurred. Revenue also includes expenses billed to clients, which include travel and other out-of-pocket expenses, and other reimbursable expenses.

We record provisions for fee adjustments and discretionary pricing adjustments as a reduction of revenue. Revenue recognized, but not yet billed to clients, has been recorded as unbilled receivables in the consolidated balance sheets contained elsewhere in this prospectus.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," for all awards granted to employees. Accordingly, we recognize compensation expense of a stock-based award to an employee over the vesting period based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. Adoption of these provisions results in utilizing a preferable accounting method as the consolidated financial statements will present the estimated fair value of stock-based compensation expense consistent with other forms of compensation and other expense associated with goods and services received for equity instruments.

We have historically granted stock options at exercise prices equivalent to the fair value of our common stock as of the date of grant, as determined by an independent valuation specialist and approved by our board of directors. Because there has been no public market for our common stock, the fair value of our common stock was determined by considering a number of objective and subjective factors, including our operating and financial performance and corporate milestones, the prices at which we sold shares of convertible preferred stock, the superior rights and preferences of securities senior to our common stock at the time of each grant and the risk and non-liquid nature of our common stock. These valuations were obtained from an independent valuation expert. In determining the valuations, the independent valuation expert utilized a discounted cash flow analysis, in each case based on what we believe were reasonable projections for our business, market discount rates derived from a customary capital asset pricing model, market multiples for comparable companies and transactions and customary discounts for lack of marketability and minority interest.

For the period from May 24, 2004 to December 31, 2005, we issued stock options to purchase an aggregate of 1,460,656 shares of our common stock. In May 2004, options to purchase 50,000 shares of TMHC common stock were granted under the TMHC Holdings, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan with an exercise price of \$5.00 per share. On March 31, 2005, these options were converted to options under our 2005 Stock Option and Grant Plan, or 2005 Option Plan, to purchase 62,500 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$4.00 per share. In November 2004, options to purchase 109,375 shares of GRP common stock were granted under the GRP Holdings, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan with an exercise price of \$3.48 per share. On March 31, 2005, these options were converted to options under our 2005 Option Plan to purchase 390,162 shares of our stock at an exercise price of \$0.98 per share. In December 2004, options to purchase 82,500 shares of TMHC common stock were granted under the TMHC Holdings, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan with an exercise price of \$5.16 per share. On March 31, 2005, these options were converted to options under our 2005 Option Plan to purchase 103,125 shares of our stock at an exercise price of \$4.13 per share. In March 2005, options to purchase 18,750 shares of GRP common stock were granted under the GRP Holdings, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan with an exercise price of \$3.48 per share. On March 31, 2005, these options were converted to options to purchase 66,885 shares of our stock at an exercise price of \$0.98 per share. Options to purchase 520,833 shares were granted in April 2005 with an exercise price of \$6.00 per share, options to purchase 111,680 shares were granted in July 2005 with an exercise price of \$6.80 per share and options to purchase 10,000 shares were granted in October 2005 with an exercise price of \$6.80 per share.

The board of directors determined that an increase in the estimated fair value of our common stock since the beginning of 2005 was necessary and supported by the factors utilized by the independent valuation expert. The board of directors also noted several corporate milestones that occurred during the period, including the increase in our revenue over comparable prior periods, the enhancement and enlargement of our management team and progress toward a potential initial public offering of our common stock. Accordingly, we determined that the fair value of our common stock increased as noted above.

Valuation of Long-lived Assets Excluding Goodwill

We evaluate all of our long-lived assets, including intangible assets other than goodwill and fixed assets, periodically for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets (SFAS No. 144). SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be evaluated for impairment when events or changes in facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, we assess the recoverability of identified intangible assets by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives against their respective carrying amounts. The amount of impairment will be measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. An impairment will be recorded as an operating expense in the period of the impairment and as a reduction in the carrying value of that asset.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships, technology, trade name and trademarks, non-competition agreements and excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired, or goodwill. Customer relationships are the value of the specifically acquired customer relationships. Technology is the value of recreating the completed technology infrastructure. Trade name and trademarks are the value inherent in the recognition of the "Clayton" and other names that we use. The value of the non-competition agreements are an appraisal of potential lost revenues that would arise from an individual initiating a competing enterprise.

Except for goodwill, trade names and trademarks, all intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. The costs attributable to the identified intangibles were based on a number of significant assumptions as determined by the Company and its independent appraisal expert. Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized under the straight-line method over their applicable estimated useful lives.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS No. 142"), which provides, among other things, that goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives are no longer amortized but are reviewed for impairment at least annually (beginning with the first anniversary of the acquisition date). Impairment tests were conducted for Clayton Services and CFIS on their respective anniversary dates in 2005 and there was no impairment to goodwill or intangibles with indefinite lives of either entity.

Internal Controls

In connection with the preparation of our year-end audited financials statements for fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005 our independent auditors identified several deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. Certain of these were matters that could, in our auditor's judgment, adversely affect our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data, and were "significant deficiencies" pursuant to Auditing Standard No. 2 issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. In connection with the preparation of our 2005 audited financial statements, the comments and recommendations provided by our auditors included, but were not limited to: the need to augment financial reporting staffing in connection with the preparation of consolidated financial statements on a timely basis; the need to implement stricter control procedures regarding internal capitalization expenses and accounting for employment and personnel agreements; the need to implement appropriate security measures with respect to access to internal company software applications; the need to segregate duties in key information technology functions so that individuals are limited in their ability to improperly impact our software, and create a change management policy to insure data integrity and control of our proprietary software; the need to improve control procedures with respect

to internal access to client files; and the need for enhanced monitoring and oversight of our tax function.

In prior years, our auditors recommended that we improve documentation of our client engagements so that key terms for engagements with clients are documented in writing; create policies and procedures to strengthen our accounts receivable function in order to more efficiently bill customers and apply customer payments appropriately; maintain contemporaneous documentation to support our books and records; segregate duties in key accounting functions so that individuals are limited in their ability to improperly impact our accounting record, including with respect to information technology access; and implement appropriate security measures with respect to preparation of financial statements.

We believe that the significant deficiencies identified by our auditors have been or are being remediated. However, if such deficiencies are left unremediated, they could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations. For example, the auditors noted a significant deficiency regarding the documentation and recordkeeping of certain of our client transactions. Inadequate documentation or recordkeeping could result in disputes, including litigation regarding pricing or terms which, in turn, could lead to reduced demand for our services or the loss of revenues. We believe that we have addressed these documentation concerns through improved internal recordkeeping and the hiring of a general counsel in January 2005 who now oversees customer agreements and engagement letters. Additionally, our auditors noted a significant deficiency with respect to segregation of duties in our information technology department, as well as a significant deficiency with respect to inadequate control over financial reporting software. The effect of such deficiencies could materially harm our internal accounting, since multiple accounting personnel would have access to our accounting system and potentially impair the integrity of our accounting and reporting. Since our auditors notified us of this significant deficiency, we have implemented new levels of segregation of duties, restricted access by certain employees and eliminated manual verification of data imported into our billing and computer systems. We also implemented new financial reporting safeguards, and streamlined access to the financial spreadsheets used for reporting purposes. Our auditors noted a significant deficiency with respect to our tax recordkeeping and documentation. If this deficiency is not addressed, we may face penalties from state and federal tax authorities for underpayment, and our financial statements may not properly reflect all taxes incurred. In connection with becoming a public company, we are augmenting our tax department. Our auditors noted a significant deficiency with respect to our change management processes. Failure to address weak change management procedures may result in improper access to our source code for our proprietary software, which may impair certain software critical to our clients. Finally, our auditors identified a deficiency with respect to our ability to prepare financial statements on a timely basis. If we are unable to prepare our financial statements on time, it may adversely affect our business and compliance with SEC reporting obligations.

Since receiving these recommendations, we have devoted significant resources to improve our internal control over financial reporting. Specifically, we have hired accounting personnel with experience in external financial reporting, including a new chief financial officer with public company operating and reporting experience. We also hired a chief information officer, who has implemented new accounting and recordkeeping systems to address system deficiencies in our internal controls and the security of our computer operations. We expect to add additional financial, tax and accounting staff to augment our existing team. We also intend to further address the segregation of duties in key areas prior to the end of this fiscal year, and to continue to implement new automated processes that will improve our recordkeeping and billing processes. Furthermore, we now have an audit committee that includes two independent directors, one of whom is a qualified financial expert, that regularly consults with management and our independent auditors. We will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls and procedures on an on-going basis, and take corrective action as appropriate. All remediation actions taken by management subsequent to December 31, 2005 will be subject to the consideration of our auditors during the audit of our financial statements as of and for the year ending December 31, 2006.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control over financial reporting. Such report will contain, among other matters, an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, including a statement as to whether or not our internal control over financial reporting is effective. This assessment must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting identified by management. Such report must also contain a statement that our auditors have issued an attestation report on management's assessment of such internal control. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2007 (or if our independent auditors are unable to attest that our management's report is fairly stated or they are unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control), we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Revenue

We generate a majority of our revenue by providing professional outsourced services across the lifecycle of a mortgage loan.

Our transaction management services are provided under "time-and-materials" or per file billing arrangements. Under "time-and-materials" arrangements, which represent a majority of our transaction management revenue, we bill our clients on an hourly basis with travel and other reimbursable expenses passed through and recognized as revenue. Under per file billing arrangements, we bill our clients for each file reviewed with travel and other reimbursable expenses passed through separately or included in the per file rate. Revenues consisting of billed fees and pass-through expenses, which include travel and other reimbursable expenses, are recorded as work is performed and expenses are incurred. Revenues recognized, but not yet billed to clients, have been recorded as unbilled receivables in our consolidated balance sheet. In 2005, transaction management revenue accounted for 82.9% of total revenue.

Our credit risk management, surveillance and special servicing services provide a revenue stream which is generally recurring in nature. In a typical MBS transaction for which we provide surveillance services, we are engaged by the trustee of an MBS issuance to provide our services over the life of the trust and are paid monthly directly from the cash flow of the trust. A majority of our surveillance revenue is based upon a negotiated rate multiplied by the outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage loans in the MBS issuance. These fees are recognized each month as services are rendered. Our special servicing activities are conducted under annual or multi-year contracts for which we typically receive revenue on a per loan per month basis. In 2005, surveillance and special servicing services revenue accounted for 17.1% of total revenue.

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, revenue and pro forma revenue, respectively, from our largest three clients, Bear Stearns, Lehman Brothers and Morgan Stanley, accounted for an aggregate of 33.9% and 36.9% of our total revenue and pro forma revenue, respectively. Each of these clients is a leading global investment bank. Each of these clients accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue during each of these years, except for the year ended December 31, 2005 during which Bear Stearns accounted for 9.8%. Moreover, we experience a high level of recurring business, with 16 of our largest 20 clients in 2003 also among our largest 20 clients served in 2004, and 18 of our largest 20 clients in 2004 also among our largest 20 clients in 2005.

Cost of Services

Compensation Expense

Compensation expense consists primarily of compensation for independent loan review specialists and employees directly involved in the delivery of our services, which include our client service managers who manage our engagements. Compensation expense also includes our related payroll benefits for our direct employees. The professionals we retain from a professional employment organization, including our independent loan review specialists, do not receive any Company-related benefits and are only compensated for actual hours worked. Our direct cost of operations does not include an allocation of overhead costs.

Travel and Related Expenses

Travel and related expenses consist of expenses incurred in enabling employees and sub-contracted professionals to travel to clients' sites and are comprised of airfare, hotel, car rental and per diems. A majority of these expenses is either directly billed to clients or included in the per file rates charged. As such, these expenses are directly or indirectly included in our revenue.

Other Direct Costs

Other direct costs include the cost of third party mortgage loan services (primarily collateral appraisal fees), outside support for our compliance services used in connection with our loan reviews, independent loan review specialist training and miscellaneous non-billable transaction costs.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses primarily consist of corporate overhead costs not directly associated with a specific transaction or contract, such as salaries and benefits, marketing and administrative expenses, professional fees and depreciation and amortization expenses.

In connection with becoming a public company, we expect that we will incur significant additional operating expenses such as increased audit fees, professional fees, directors and officers insurance costs, compensation for our board of directors, and expenses related to hiring additional personnel and expanding our administrative functions. Many of these expenses either were not incurred or were incurred at a lower level by us as a private company and are not included in the results of operations of our Predecessor. We began to incur certain of these expenses during fiscal 2004 and we expect that these expenses will continue to increase.

Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and benefits consist of employee compensation for those employees who are not directly billable to a particular assignment including costs of administrative, finance, human resources, technology and executive personnel.

Other Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Other selling, general and administrative expenses consist of costs such as rent and utilities, marketing, advertising and promotion expenses, non-reimbursable travel and entertainment, information technology, insurance, education, training and hiring expenses other than for independent loan review specialists and professional fees consisting of legal, accounting and other consulting fees in connection with the ongoing operation of our business including audit and Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 compliance.

Depreciation and Amortization

We incur depreciation and amortization expenses for costs related to the capitalization of property and equipment and software developed for internal use on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 30 months to seven years. Leasehold improvements and assets under capital lease are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Treatment of Goodwill and Amortization of Intangibles

We also incur amortization expenses for costs related to the capitalization of identifiable intangible assets including customer relationships, technology and non-competition agreements.

In connection with TA Associates' acquisitions of each of CFIS and Clayton Services, substantial amounts of goodwill and intangible assets were created. TA Associates' acquisition of CFIS resulted in the recording of identified intangible assets of \$14.7 million, of which \$13.1 million is amortizable and goodwill of \$30.8 million. TA Associates' acquisition of Clayton Services resulted in the recording of identified intangible assets of \$86.3 million, of which \$70.8 million is amortizable, and goodwill of \$5.4 million, which has been increased to \$39.0 million to reflect various earn-out payments. Amortization of such intangibles began in May 2004.

We account for acquisitions of companies in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141, *Business Combinations* (SFAS No. 141). We allocate purchase price to tangible assets, intangible assets, and liabilities based on fair values with the excess of purchase price amount being allocated to goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price to these intangible assets is based on a number of significant assumptions as determined by us and our independent appraisal expert, including evaluations of the future income producing capabilities of these assets and related future expected cash flows. We also make estimates about the useful lives of the acquired intangible assets. Should different conditions result in the determination that the value of the goodwill and acquired intangible assets has been impaired, we could incur write-downs of goodwill or intangible assets, or changes in the estimation of useful lives of those intangible assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets* (SFAS No. 142), goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to annual impairment testing which is discussed in greater detail below.

Intangible assets include acquired technology, customer and contractual relationships, client backlog and non-competition agreements. Acquired technology was initially recorded at fair value based on the present value of the estimated net future income-producing capabilities of the software products acquired. Acquired technology is amortized over its estimated useful life on a straight-line basis. Customer and contractual relationships represent contractual and separable relationships that we have with certain customers and partners. These contractual relationships were initially recorded at their fair value based on the present value of expected future cash flows and are amortized over their estimated useful life. Non-competition agreements were initially recorded based on the present value of potential profits that could be lost should the individual initiate a competing enterprise and are amortized over the minimum term of the non-competition agreements. Trade name intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value based on the present value of the royalty payments that would need to be paid for the development and use of a comparable trade name should the Clayton name be unavailable to us. Trade name intangible assets are deemed to have an indeterminate life and are not amortized. In October 2005, we discontinued using one of our trade names, "Murrayhill," and recorded an impairment charge. See Note 6 to our December 31, 2005 consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is subject to annual impairment tests, or on a more frequent basis if events or conditions indicate that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit. We as a whole are considered one

reporting unit. Therefore, the first step of our annual test is to compare the fair value of our shares to the carrying value of our net assets. If we determine that our carrying value exceeds our fair value, we would conduct a second step to the goodwill impairment test. The second step compares the implied fair value of the goodwill (determined as the excess fair value over the fair value assigned to our other assets and liabilities) to the carrying amount of goodwill. When the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized.

We evaluate all of our long-lived assets, including intangible assets other than goodwill and fixed assets, periodically for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets* (SFAS No. 144). SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be evaluated for impairment when events or changes in facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, the amount of impairment will be measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. An impairment will be recorded as an operating expense in the period of the impairment and as a reduction in the carrying value of that asset.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense consists of interest paid on our debt and amortization of debt issuance costs net of interest received on our cash balances. The increase in interest expense beginning in fiscal 2004 resulted from the issuance by CFIS of \$10.0 million of 12% senior subordinated convertible notes on May 24, 2004 to investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, and the issuance by Clayton Services of \$20.0 million of 12% subordinated notes on August 2, 2004 to investment funds affiliated with TA Associates and other investors, including a member of our senior management. Additionally, the increase in interest expense resulted from the incurrence of senior debt under our prior \$20.0 million revolving line of credit and under our prior \$40.0 million term loan. On August 31, 2004, the senior subordinated convertible notes were converted into \$10.0 million of senior subordinated notes bearing the same rate of interest and warrants to purchase 72,451 shares of our common stock, which were immediately exercised.

On December 8, 2005, we repaid all of these aforementioned obligations from the proceeds of a new credit agreement. This new credit facility provided us with a \$150.0 million term loan, all of which was funded at closing, and a \$45.0 million revolving credit facility, none of which was funded at closing.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain operating data as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated:

	Predecess	or	Successor			
	Year Ended December 31, 2003	January 1, 2004 Through August 1, 2004	Inception Through December 31, 2004	Year Ended December 31, 2005		
Revenue	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%		
Cost of services:	100.0 %	100.076	100.076	100.070		
Compensation expense	46.3%	46.5%	46.7%	48.0%		
Travel and related expenses	20.2%	20.3%	17.4%	14.4%		
Other direct costs	4.5%	3.5%	1.6%	2.9%		
Total cost of services	71.0%	70.3%	65.7%	65.3%		
Gross profit	29.0%	29.7%	34.3%	34.7%		
Operating expenses:	29.0%	29.170	34.370	34.1%		
Salaries and benefits	5.2%	5.0%	8.2%	9.1%		
Other selling, general and administrative expenses	4.6%	5.6%	8.0%	8.3%		
Depreciation and amortization	1.4%	1.0%	1.4%	2.3%		
Amortization of intangibles	0.0%	0.0%	5.6%	4.9%		
Impairment on intangibles	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.8%		
Total operating expenses	11.2%	11.6%	23.2%	25.4%		
Income from operations	17.8%	18.1%	11.1%	9.3%		
Other income	0.4%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%		
Interest expense, net	0.3%	0.2%	3.8%	3.9%		
Loss from extinguishment of debt	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	1.4%		
Income before provision for income taxes	17.9%	17.9%	7.3%	4.0%		
Income tax provision (benefit)	(0.1)%	0.3%	2.9%	1.6%		
Net income	18.0%	17.6%	4.4%	2.4%		
Pro forma net income ⁽¹⁾	10.9%	10.9%				

As an S-corporation, our Predecessor was not subject to corporate level Federal income taxes. For comparison purposes, for all Predecessor periods we have presented pro forma net income, which reflects income taxes assuming we had been a C-corporation during such periods and assuming a combined tax rate of 39.0% for Federal and state income taxes. The pro forma income taxes and pro forma net income information are unaudited.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2005

References to results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 in the following analysis include the results of Clayton Services for the entire period and the results of CFIS from May 24, 2004 (the date of acquisition of a controlling interest by TA Associates) through December 31, 2004. References to results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 in the following analysis include the combined results of Clayton Services and CFIS for the entire period.

Revenue

Our revenue was \$207.5 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$51.4 million or 32.9%, compared to revenue of \$156.1 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding revenue of approximately \$25.0 million and \$11.8 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, revenue for fiscal 2005 was \$182.5 million, an increase of 26.5%, compared to \$144.3 million for fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily due to a 25.1% increase in the number of loans for which we performed services. The increase in the number of loans for which we performed services was primarily due to an increase in the issuance of non-agency mortgage backed securities which was influenced by the market factors described earlier. In addition, there was an increase in volume in conduit support services as well as growth in our surveillance services due in part to an increased joint sales effort following the combination of CFIS and Clayton. We believe these trends will continue.

Cost of Services

Our cost of services was \$135.5 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$29.4 million or 27.7%, compared to cost of services of \$106.1 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding cost of services of approximately \$7.0 million and \$3.2 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, cost of services for fiscal 2005 was \$128.5 million, an increase of 24.9%, compared to \$102.9 million for fiscal 2004. This increase was attributable to the specific factors discussed below.

Compensation Expense. Compensation expense was \$99.7 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$26.9 million or 37.0%, compared to compensation expense of \$72.8 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding compensation expense of approximately \$6.9 million and \$3.2 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, compensation expense for fiscal 2005 was \$92.8 million, an increase of 33.2%, compared to \$69.6 million for fiscal 2004. The majority of this cost was variable based on the number of loans for which we performed services. The increase was primarily due to a 25.1% increase in the number of loans for which we performed services as well as a 6.5% increase in the compensation expense per loan. The increase in compensation expense per loan was due primarily to increased training and retention costs for independent loan review specialists, up front costs to support a significant increase of a major conduit services client and compensation expense associated with the growth of non-loan count services, including surveillance services and special servicing.

Travel and Related Expenses. Travel and related expenses were \$29.8 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$0.4 million or 1.4%, compared to travel and related expenses of \$29.4 million for fiscal 2004. Travel and related expenses attributable to CFIS during fiscal 2005 and 2004 were immaterial. The increase was primarily due to a 25.1% increase in the number of loans for which we performed services. This increase was partially offset by an 18.9% decrease in travel expense per loan. The reduced travel and related expenses per loan were a result of increasing the number of loans reviewed by us at our centralized underwriting facilities.

Other Direct Costs. Other direct costs were \$6.1 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$2.1 million or 52.7%, compared to other direct costs of \$4.0 million for fiscal 2004. Other direct costs attributable to CFIS during fiscal 2005 and 2004 were immaterial. The increase is primarily due to increased vendor appraisal fees, legal fees paid in support of our compliance services and increased shipping and supply costs.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were \$52.6 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$25.2 million or 91.6%, compared to operating expenses of \$27.4 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding operating expenses of approximately \$11.8 million and \$5.8 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, operating expenses for fiscal 2005 were \$40.8 million, an increase of 89.0%, compared to \$21.6 million for fiscal 2004. This increase was attributable to the specific factors discussed below.

Salaries and Benefits. Salaries and benefits were \$18.9 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$8.6 million or 83.0%, compared to salaries and benefits of \$10.3 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding salaries and benefits of approximately \$5.5 million and \$2.9 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, salaries and benefits for fiscal 2005 were \$13.4 million, an increase of 81.7%, compared to \$7.4 million for fiscal 2004. This increase was primarily due to the costs of additional administrative, finance, human resources, technology and executive personnel which were added in preparation for becoming a public company.

Other Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Other selling, general and administrative expenses were \$17.2 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$6.5 million or 60.7%, compared to selling, general and administrative expenses of \$10.7 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding other selling, general and administrative expenses of approximately \$2.7 million and \$1.7 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, other selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2005 were \$14.5 million, an increase of 61.0%, compared to \$9.0 million for fiscal 2004. This increase was partially due to specific increases in professional fees consisting of legal, accounting and other consulting fees in connection with the ongoing operation of our business including audit and Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 compliance, and partially due to general increases in occupancy, telephone, non-reimburseable travel, insurance, professional, and advertising and promotion costs relating to growth in our business.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization was \$4.7 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$2.8 million or 146.1%, compared to depreciation and amortization of \$1.9 million for fiscal 2004. Excluding depreciation and amortization of approximately \$0.4 million and \$0.2 million attributable to CFIS for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, depreciation and amortization for fiscal 2005 was \$4.3 million, an increase of 160.3%, compared to \$1.7 million for fiscal 2004. This increase was primarily due to depreciation recorded on additional property and equipment and software developed for internal use. These additions were made to enhance our corporate infrastructure and technology platform in support of the growth in the business operations and in preparation for becoming a public company.

Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of intangibles was \$10.2 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$5.7 million or 125.7%, compared to amortization of intangibles of \$4.5 million for fiscal 2004. This increase was due to amortization of intangible assets created in connection with the acquisition of CFIS and Clayton Services by TA Associates. Amortization of such intangibles began in May 2004.

Impairment of Intangibles. Impairment of intangibles was \$1.6 million in fiscal 2005. In October 2005, we discontinued the use of the trade name "Murrayhill," and recorded an impairment charge of \$1.6 million.

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense, net was \$8.2 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of \$5.0 million or 152.4%, compared to interest expense, net of \$3.2 million for fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily due to interest expense incurred in connection with the issuance of senior subordinated debt in connection with the acquisition of CFIS by TA Associates in May 2004 and the issuance of subordinated debt in connection with the acquisition of Clayton Services by TA Associates in August 2004, the establishment

of the revolving line of credit and term loan in August 2004 and the completion of a new credit agreement in December 2005. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources."

Loss from Extinguishment of Debt

Loss from extinguishment of debt was \$3.0 million in 2005. In connection with the execution of our new credit agreement in December 2005, we wrote off unamortized deferred financing costs and paid prepayment fees related to our previous debt facilities aggregating \$3.0 million.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2004

Operating results for the year ended December 31, 2004 reflect the combination of the aforementioned Predecessor entity (period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004) and Successor entity (period from inception through December 31, 2004), effectively representing twelve months of operating results for Clayton Services and its subsidiaries, and the operating results of CFIS from the date of its acquisition in May 2004 through December 31, 2004. Operating results for the year ended December 31, 2003 only reflect the results of the Predecessor entity, Clayton Services. See "Basis of Presentation." The following table sets forth certain operating data for the periods indicated:

Predecessor	Predecessor	Successor	Combined
Year Ended	Period From January 1, 2004	Period From	Year Ended
	Through August	Inception Through	
December 31,	1,	December 31,	December 31,
2003	2004	2004	2004

(Dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Revenue \$	85,228 \$	76,339 \$	79,805 \$	156,144
Cost of services:	ου,220 φ	νο,σσν φ	72,005 φ	130,111
Compensation expense	39,436	35,502	37,252	72,754
Travel and related expenses	17,204	15,494	13,892	29,386
Other direct costs	3,821	2,668	1,304	3,972
Total cost of services	60,461	53,664	52,448	106,112
Gross profit	24,767	22,675	27,357	50,032
Operating expenses:				
Salaries and benefits	4,403	3,783	6,553	10,336
Other selling, general and				
administrative expenses	3,960	4,276	6,417	10,693
Depreciation and amortization	1,163	792	1,115	1,907
Amortization of intangibles			4,509	4,509
Total operating expenses	9,526	8,851	18,594	27,445
Income from operations	15,241	13,824	8,763	22,587
Other income	315	- , -	-,	,
Interest expense, net	268	178	3,066	3,244
Income before provision for income			·	
taxes	15,288	13,646	5,697	19,343
Income tax provision (benefit)	(62)	260	2,354	2,614

Edgar Filing: CLAYTON HOLDINGS INC - Form 424B4

	Predecessor		Pr	redecessor	Successo	or	Combined	
Net income ⁽¹⁾	\$	15,350	\$	13,386	\$	3,343	\$	16,729
Pro forma net income ⁽¹⁾	\$	9,326	\$	8,324		(\$	11,799

As an S-corporation, our Predecessor was not subject to corporate level Federal income taxes. For comparison purposes, for all Predecessor periods we have presented pro forma net income, which reflects income taxes assuming we had been a C-corporation during such periods and assuming a combined tax rate of 39.0% for Federal and state income taxes. The pro forma income taxes and pro forma net income information are unaudited.

Revenue

Revenue was \$156.1 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$70.9 million or 83.2%, compared to revenue of \$85.2 million in fiscal 2003. Excluding revenue of approximately \$11.8 million attributable to CFIS, revenue in fiscal 2004 was \$144.3 million, an increase of 69.3%, compared to \$85.2 million in fiscal 2003. The increase was primarily due to a 58.5% increase in the number of loans for which we performed services together with a 6.8% increase in revenues per loan as a result of an expansion in the scope of services performed.

Cost of Services

Cost of services was \$106.1 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$45.6 million or 75.5%, compared to cost of services of \$60.5 million in fiscal 2003. Excluding cost of services of approximately \$3.2 million attributable to CFIS, cost of operations in fiscal 2004 was \$102.9 million, an increase of 70.2%, compared to \$60.5 million in fiscal 2003. This increase was attributable to the specific factors discussed below.

Compensation Expense. Compensation expense was \$72.8 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$33.4 million or 84.5%, compared to compensation expense of \$39.4 million in fiscal 2003. Excluding compensation expense of approximately \$3.1 million attributable to CFIS, compensation expense in fiscal 2004 was \$69.6 million, an increase of 76.5%, compared to \$39.4 million in fiscal 2003. The majority of this cost was variable based on the number of loans for which we performed services. The increase was primarily due to a 58.5% increase in the number of loans for which we performed services as well as a 16.3% increase in the compensation expense per loan. The increase in compensation expense per loan was due primarily to the costs relating to supporting an expansion in the scope of services performed.

Travel and Related Expenses. Travel and related expenses were \$29.4 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$12.2 million or 70.8%, compared to travel and related expenses of \$17.2 million in fiscal 2003. Travel and related expenses of approximately \$0.1 million attributable to CFIS were immaterial during fiscal 2004. This increase was primarily due to a 58.5% increase in the number of loans for which we performed services as well as a 7.5% increase in travel expense per loan. The increase in travel expense per loan was due primarily to the costs relating to supporting an expansion in the scope of services performed.

Other Direct Costs. Other direct costs were \$4.0 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$0.2 million or 5.2%, compared to other direct costs of \$3.8 million in fiscal 2003. The increase was primarily due to increased costs related to inflation. Other direct costs attributable to CFIS were immaterial during fiscal 2004.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were \$27.4 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$17.9 million or 188.1%, compared to operating expenses of \$9.5 million in fiscal 2003. Excluding operating expenses of approximately \$5.8 million attributable to CFIS, operating expenses in fiscal 2004 were \$21.6 million, an increase of 126.8%, compared to \$9.5 million in fiscal 2003. This increase was attributable to the specific factors discussed below.

Salaries and Benefits. Salaries and benefits were \$10.3 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$5.9 million or 134.7%, compared to salaries and benefits of \$4.4 million in fiscal 2003. Excluding salaries and benefits of approximately \$2.9 million attributable to CFIS, salaries and benefits in fiscal 2004 were \$7.4 million, an increase of 67.0%, compared to \$4.4 million for 2003. This increase was primarily due to the costs of additional administrative, finance, human resources, technology and

executive personnel added to enhance our corporate infrastructure in preparation for becoming a public company.

Other Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Other selling, general and administrative expenses were \$10.7 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$6.7 million or 170.0%, compared to selling, general and administrative expenses of \$4.0 million in fiscal 2003. Excluding other selling, general and administrative expenses of approximately \$1.7 million attributable to CFIS, other selling, general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2004 were \$9.0 million, an increase of 127.6%, compared to \$4.0 million in fiscal 2003. This increase was primarily due to increases in professional fees consisting of legal, accounting and other consulting fees in connection with the ongoing operation of our business including audit and Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 compliance as well as increases in other selling, general and administrative expenses in support of the growth in operations.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense was \$1.9 million for 2004, an increase of \$0.7 million or 64.0% compared to depreciation expense of \$1.2 million 2003. Excluding depreciation of approximately \$0.2 million attributable to CFIS, depreciation for 2004 was \$1.7 million, an increase of 42.6% compared to \$1.2 million for 2003. This increase was primarily due to depreciation recorded on additional property and equipment and software developed for internal use. These additions were made to enhance our corporate infrastructure and technology platform in support of the growth in the business operations and in preparation for becoming a public company.

Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of intangibles was \$4.5 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$4.5 million compared to no amortization of intangibles in fiscal 2003. This increase was due to amortization of intangible assets created in connection with the acquisition of CFIS and Clayton Services by TA Associates. Amortization of such intangibles began in May 2004.

Other Income

There was no other income in fiscal 2004, as compared to \$0.3 million in fiscal 2003. Other income in fiscal 2003 represented a gain recognized from the sale of software.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net was \$3.2 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of \$2.9 million, compared to interest expense, net of \$0.3 million in fiscal 2003. The increase was primarily due to interest expense incurred in connection with the issuance of senior subordinated debt in connection with the acquisition of CFIS by TA Associates in May 2004 and the issuance of subordinated debt in connection with the acquisition of Clayton Services by TA Associates in August 2004, as well as the establishment of the revolving line of credit and term loan in August 2004. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources."

Unaudited Quarterly Results

The following table presents our unaudited quarterly results of operations for each of the quarters in 2004 and 2005. You should read the following table in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this prospectus. We have prepared the unaudited information on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements. Results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future quarters or for a full year.

Quarter E	nded
-----------	------

	Predecessor	Combined ⁽¹⁾	Combined ⁽²⁾	Successor					
	March 31, 2004	June 30, 2004	September 30, 2004	December 31, 2004 ⁽⁴⁾	March 31, 2005	June 30, 2005	September 30, 2005	December 31, 2005	
(Dollars in thousands)									
CONSOLIDATED STAT	EMENT OF								
Revenue	\$ 28,531	\$ 35,776	\$ 44,357	\$ 47,480	\$ 47,896	\$ 49,275	\$ 54,031	\$ 56,300	
Cost of services:									
Compensation expense	13,497	16,783	19,290	23,184	23,368	23,473	24,923	27,911	
Travel and related									
expenses	5,710	6,831	8,329	8,516	7,354	7,115	7,455	7,863	
Other direct costs	927	1,347	1,242	456	1,312	1,053	1,673	2,028	
Total cost of									
services	20,134	24,961	28,861	32,156	32,034	31,641	34,051	37,802	
							- 1,000		
G G	0.207	10.015	15 100	47.004	45.00	17.624	40.000	40.400	
Gross profit	8,397	10,815	15,496	15,324	15,862	17,634	19,980	18,498	
Operating expenses:	1 200	2.024	2.101	2.002	4.055	5 225	4.710	4.010	
Salaries and benefits	1,209	2,034	3,191	3,902	4,055	5,227	4,719	4,910	
Other selling, general and administrative									
	1,726	2,158	2,425	4,384	3,439	4,947	4,014	4,781	
expenses Depreciation and	1,720	2,136	2,423	4,364	3,439	4,947	4,014	4,761	
amortization	288	393	577	649	870	1,081	1,187	1,556	
Amortization of	200	393	311	049	870	1,001	1,107	1,550	
intangibles	0	160	1,843	2,506	2,547	2,547	2,540	2,541	
Impairment of	O .	100	1,013	2,500	2,5 17	2,317	2,3 10	2,3 11	
intangibles								1,632	
Ü									
T (1									
Total operating	3,223	1715	8,036	11,441	10,911	13,802	12.460	15 420	
expenses	3,223	4,745	8,030	11,441	10,911	13,602	12,460	15,420	
Income from operations	5,174	6,070	7,460	3,883	4,951	3,832	7,520	3,078	
Interest expense, net	71	200	1,251	1,722	1,817	2,009	1,999	2,364	
Loss from extinguishment									
of debt								2,991	
Income (loss) before									
provision for income									
taxes	5,103	5,870	6,209	2,161	3,134	1,823	5,521	(2,277)	
Income tax provision	,	Í	,	,	,	· ·	,		
(benefit)	25	108	1,590	891	1,242	736	2,185	(1,010)	
,			•				•		
Nat in same (1)(3)	¢ 5.070	6 5760	¢ 4.610	¢ 1.270	¢ 1.000	¢ 1.007	¢ 2226	¢ (1.367)	
Net income (loss) ⁽³⁾	\$ 5,078	\$ 5,762	\$ 4,619	\$ 1,270	\$ 1,892	\$ 1,087	\$ 3,336	\$ (1,267)	
Pro forma net income ⁽³⁾	\$ 3,113	\$ 3,581	\$ 3,787						

- (1) Represents the results of operations of our Predecessor for the period from April 1, 2004 to June 30, 2004 and the results of operations of our Successor for the period from May 24, 2004 to June 30, 2004.
- (2) Represents the results of operations of our Predecessor for the period from July 1, 2004 to August 1, 2004 and the results of operations for our Successor for the period from July 1, 2004 to September 30, 2004.
- (3)
 As an S-corporation, our Predecessor was not subject to corporate level Federal income taxes. For comparison purposes, for all Predecessor periods we have presented pro forma net income, which reflects income taxes assuming we had been a C-corporation during such periods and assuming a combined tax rate of 39.0% for Federal and state income taxes. The pro forma net income information is unaudited.
- (4)

 The results for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 include several year-end adjustments, a portion of which pertain to cost of services and operating expenses in prior quarters.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, we have financed our growth from cash flow from operations and bank borrowings. We believe that funds generated from operations, together with existing cash and available borrowings under our credit agreement, will be sufficient to finance our current operations, planned capital expenditures and internal growth at least through the next twelve months. On December 8, 2005, we entered into a new \$190.0 million senior credit facility with BNP Paribas. The credit facility provided for a \$150.0 million term loan, and a revolving credit facility of \$40.0 million. On January 11, 2006, we amended our credit facility to increase the revolving loan facility by \$5.0 million, and subject to the agreement of the lenders to increase their commitments, we have the option to borrow up to an additional \$5.0 million under the revolving credit facility, for an aggregate revolving credit facility of \$50.0 million.

We borrowed the entire \$150.0 million term loan upon the closing of the credit facility, and used such amounts to:

repay and retire all \$45.6 million outstanding under our prior senior credit facility;

repay all \$31.5 million owed pursuant to our then outstanding subordinated notes and senior subordinated notes, which notes were held principally by investment funds affiliated with TA Associates and Stephen M. Lamando;

pay a \$1.69 per share dividend to our holders of preferred stock, including principally investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, for an aggregate dividend payment of \$55.85 million; and

pay \$13.25 million to the Clayton Founders in satisfaction of an earn-out arrangement entered into in connection with the August 2004 acquisition of Clayton, of which Mr. Lamando received \$10.7 million.

The payment of the dividend of \$55.85 million to our preferred stockholders reduced the aggregate redemption amount that otherwise would have been paid to such preferred stockholders upon the completion of this offering by the same amount. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" The Recapitalization and Preferred Stock Dividend."

The loan agreement terminates on December 8, 2011. Principal repayments of \$375,000 are required on a quarterly basis for each quarter through 2010, and the remaining principal balance at the end of 2010 is repayable in equal quarterly installments during 2011. This facility can be used to fund acquisitions requiring cash, as well as to fund short-term liquidity needs. Liquidity needs occasionally arise as a result of differences in the timing between collecting our accounts receivable and making disbursements to support our operations.

On February 3, 2006, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Mortgage Resource Network for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$5.9 million. Working capital was used to fund the acquisition of such assets and assumed liabilities. Mortgage Resource Network is engaged in the business of providing outsourced mortgage processing and fulfillment services to the mortgage industry, including mortgage brokers, lenders and securitizers.

Our operating activities provided cash of \$6.3 million, \$28.8 million and \$3.9 million in fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Cash provided from operations is generated primarily from net income and the timing of accounts receivable collections and disbursements of accounts payable. Cash provided from operations in 2005 was negatively impacted by an increase in the balance of accounts receivable as a result of an increase in the amount of time receivables remained outstanding. We believe cash flow from operations will be sufficient to finance our current operations for the next twelve months.

Our investing activities used cash of \$4.8 million, \$129.6 million and \$35.2 million in fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Cash used in investing activities is primarily a result of increased capital expenditures and TA Associates' acquisition in 2004 of CFIS and Clayton Services.

Our financing activities provided cash of \$3.1 million, \$111.6 million and \$26.1 million, respectively, in fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The principal sources of cash from financing activities in 2004 were the net proceeds from the issuance by CFIS of \$10.0 million of 12% senior subordinated convertible notes on May 24, 2004 to investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, the issuance by Clayton Services of \$20.0 million of 12% subordinated notes on August 2, 2004 to investment funds affiliated with TA Associates and other investors, including a member of our senior management, and the incurrence of senior debt under our prior revolving credit and term loan facilities. The primary source of cash from financing activities in 2005 was the incurrence of debt under a new credit agreement. This was partially offset by the repayment of outstanding debt under our prior credit facilities, the repayment of subordinated notes and senior subordinated notes and by distributions to stockholders.

Cash paid for interest expense was \$0.3 million, \$2.3 million and \$8.0 million in fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The majority of interest expense was paid on borrowings outstanding under our subordinated notes, senior subordinated notes, revolving line of credit and term loan facilities.

Credit Agreement

On December 8, 2005, we entered into a new \$190.0 million senior credit facility with BNP Paribas. The credit facility provided for a \$150.0 million term loan, and a revolving credit facility of \$40.0 million. On January 11, 2006, we amended our credit facility to increase the revolving loan facility by \$5.0 million, and subject to the agreement of the lenders to increase their commitments, we have the option to borrow up to an additional \$5.0 million under the revolving credit facility, for an aggregate revolving credit facility of \$50.0 million.

The new credit agreement is collateralized by substantially all of our assets. The agreement contains covenants which, among other matters, require us to maintain certain levels of interest coverage ratio, fixed charge ratio and total leverage ratio. Such covenants commence effectiveness on March 31, 2006. In addition, the new credit agreement places limitations on total annual capital expenditures, indebtedness, liens, dividends and distributions, asset sales, transactions with affiliates, acquisitions and conduct of business, all as defined in the agreement. The new credit agreement also contains provisions for an increased interest rate during periods of default.

Loans under the new credit agreement bear interest at the applicable LIBOR rate plus 3.0% or Prime Rate plus 2.0%, at our option. In addition, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% based on the calculation of the excess of the revolving credit loan commitment over the revolving outstanding balance as defined.

The new credit agreement expires on December 8, 2011. Principal repayments of \$375,000 are required on a quarterly basis for the first five years. The remaining principal balance at the end of the fifth year is repayable in equal quarterly installments in the sixth year.

At December 31, 2005, the revolving credit facility remained unfunded and there was an outstanding balance of \$150.0 million under the term loan.

The proceeds of this new credit agreement were used to repay all outstanding borrowings under the prior credit agreement, outstanding subordinated and senior subordinated notes and \$13.25 million in satisfaction of all remaining contingent payments related to TA's acquisition of Clayton Services. In addition, a dividend of \$55.85 million was paid to the holders of our series A and series B convertible preferred stock. The amount of the liquidation preference of the convertible preferred stock was reduced by the amount of the dividend.

Redeemable Preferred Stock

Immediately upon completion of this offering, the 8,825,241 shares of series A convertible preferred stock and 24,185,493 shares of series B convertible preferred stock outstanding will

automatically convert to 8,825,241 shares of series A redeemable preferred stock, 24,185,493 shares of series B redeemable preferred stock and an aggregate of 8,252,679 shares of common stock. We will then redeem these outstanding 8,825,241 shares of series A redeemable preferred stock and 24,185,493 shares of series B redeemable preferred stock for an aggregate amount of \$52.8 million. On December 8, 2005, we completed a new credit facility with BNP Paribas. In connection with the new credit facility, we declared and paid a dividend of \$1.69 per share to holders of outstanding convertible preferred stock, or an aggregate payment of \$55.85 million. This dividend reduced the aggregate amount due to holders of redeemable preferred stock upon the completion of this offering by \$55.85 million. See "Use of Proceeds."

Interest Rate Cap

In September 2004, we purchased an interest rate cap agreement to reduce the potential impact that interest rate increases could have on our floating-rate debt interest expense. At December 31, 2005, the notional amount of the interest rate cap agreement was \$16.9 million. The terms of the interest rate cap agreement, which expires on September 30, 2006, provide that we would receive quarterly payments equal to the notional amount multiplied by the difference by which LIBOR exceeds 5%. The initial premium of \$29,900 was recorded as an asset on the date of purchase. Subsequent declines in the fair value of this derivative were recorded as interest expense.

Contractual Obligations

Upon the completion of this offering, the outstanding shares of series A convertible preferred stock and the outstanding shares of series B convertible preferred stock will convert into an aggregate of 8,252,679 shares of common stock, and 8,825,241 and 24,185,493 shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock, respectively. These shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock will be immediately redeemed upon issuance for an aggregate of \$52.8 million. The following table describes our cash commitments, in thousands, to settle contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005.

	Total		Less than 1 year		1-3 years		4-5 years		More than 5 years	
Term loans and loans payable	\$ 150,000	\$	1,500	\$	3,000	\$	3,000	\$	142,500	
Capital lease obligations	417		139		186		92			
Operating lease obligations	9,309		2,100		4,200		2,089		920	
Series A convertible preferred stock	12,258								12,258	
Series B convertible preferred stock	43,867								43,867	
		_				_		_		
Total	\$ 215,851	\$	3,739	\$	7,386	\$	5,181	\$	199,545	

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2005, we did not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K of the SEC.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") released Issue No. 03-1, "The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments." EITF 03-1 provides guidance for determining whether impairment for certain debt and equity investments is other-than-temporary and the measurement of an impaired loss. The recognition and measurement requirements of EITF 03-1 were initially effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004. In September 2004, the FASB Staff issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") EITF 03-1-1 that delayed the effective date for certain measurement and recognition guidance

contained in EITF 03-1. The FSP requires that entities continue to apply previously existing "other-than-temporary" guidance until a final consensus is reached. Management does not anticipate that issuance of a final consensus will materially impact our financial condition or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation" which establishes standards for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. This standard requires an issuer to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. This eliminates the exception to account for such awards using the intrinsic method previously allowable under Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25. In March 2005, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 107, "Share-Based Payment," which expresses views of the SEC Staff about the application of SFAS No. 123(R). In April 2005, the SEC issued a rule that SFAS No. 123(R) will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after June 15, 2005. We previously adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," for all awards granted to employees. Accordingly, we believe SFAS No. 123(R) will not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3." SFAS No. 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20, "Accounting Changes," and FASB Statement No. 3, "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements," and changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. This Statement applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS No. 154 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. We adopted SFAS No. 154 as of the effective date. It is not expected to have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 05-06, *Determining the Amortization Period for Leasehold Improvements* ("EITF 05-06"). EITF 05-06 provides that the amortization period used for leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination or purchased after the inception of a lease be the shorter of (1) the useful life of the assets or (2) a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are reasonably assured upon the acquisition or the purchase. We do not believe the adoption of EITF 05-06 will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risks

Changes in interest rates impact our interest income from cash equivalents and our interest expense on borrowings under our revolving line of credit and term loan facilities, which carry interest rates that vary in direct relationship to changes in LIBOR and the Prime Rate. We had \$7.2 million of cash and cash equivalents and \$150.0 million of floating rate indebtedness outstanding at December 31, 2005. To offset a portion of our floating rate indebtedness, we entered into an interest rate cap agreement that had a notional amount of \$16.9 million as of December 31, 2005. This interest rate cap agreement expires on September 30, 2006. Based on the assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2005, and assuming the balances of these assets and liabilities remain unchanged for the subsequent twelve months, a 1% increase or decrease in LIBOR and the Prime Rate would change our net income by approximately \$0.9 million. We anticipate that we will pay off \$61.4 million of our outstanding term loan debt with proceeds from this offering. See "Use of Proceeds."

BUSINESS

Overview

We provide a full suite of outsourced services, mortgage-related analytics and specialized consulting services for buyers and sellers of, and investors in, mortgage-related loans and securities and other debt instruments. Our services include transaction management, which consists of due diligence, mortgage processing services for buyers of mortgage loans (conduit support services), professional staffing, and compliance products and services, as well as monitoring of mortgage-backed securities (credit risk management and surveillance), and specialized loan servicing services (special servicing). We use proprietary technology and processes to provide these services throughout the full lifecycle of a loan, from loan origination, aggregation and securitization to the surveillance and administration of loans and securities.

We provide a majority of our services to participants in the non-agency mortgage-backed securities, or MBS, market and the non-conforming mortgage loan market. We have long-standing client relationships with many of the leading capital markets firms, banks and lending institutions, including the largest MBS issuers/dealers, mortgage and bond insurance companies and fixed income investors. We believe that we are a leading provider of these services to our clients due to our 15 years of experience, our deep knowledge of the industry and our database of non-conforming loan transactions. During 2005, we performed detailed analyses on over 930,000 loans totaling over \$175.0 billion in principal value, which represented 9.0% of the total principal balance of U.S. non-conforming mortgage loan originations over such period. As of December 31, 2005, we were monitoring over \$308.0 billion in loans underlying MBS, which represented 19.4% of the total outstanding U.S. non-agency MBS at such date.

We generate the majority of our revenue from the services we provide to support the large and growing non-agency MBS and non-conforming mortgage loan markets. In 2005, the aggregate principal value of new issuances of non-agency MBS was \$1.2 trillion, up from \$136.0 billion in 2000 and the principal balance of non-conforming mortgage loan originations was \$1.9 trillion in 2005, up from \$390.0 billion in 2000. We expect the non-conforming loan origination and non-agency securitization markets to continue growing due to the increasing demand for and the availability of new loan products, increased home ownership driven in part by first-time homeowners, minorities and immigrants and increased liquidity in the non-agency MBS market. Further, we believe that several trends support the demand for our services, including the growth in outsourced services by capital markets firms and other major mortgage loan market participants, the increased complexities and requirements of federal, state and local regulations applicable to the mortgage loan industry, investors' growing demand for loan performance data and the movement by buyers toward purchasing smaller pools of loans from a larger number of sellers.

We have achieved strong financial results, with revenue increasing from \$52.1 million in fiscal 2002 to \$207.5 million in fiscal 2005. Income from operations increased from \$9.8 million in fiscal 2002 to \$19.4 million in fiscal 2005.

The Lifecycle of a Mortgage Loan

The following diagram depicts the principal stages in the lifecycle of a mortgage loan and the associated activities. We provide services across the full lifecycle of a mortgage loan.

Origination. At the time of origination, a lender coordinates a series of activities to process, underwrite and close a loan that generally include, but are not limited to, a review of a borrower's credit, an assessment of the collateral (including value), and the loan's compliance with relevant federal, state and local regulations. After these activities are completed, the loan is typically funded on a short-term basis while awaiting sale into the secondary market.

Aggregation/Interim Funding. Interim funding is provided by aggregators, lenders, conduits and buyers who pool loans for resale or securitization. Funding providers typically perform (directly or through a third party) due diligence on all or a sample of the loans that they purchase. The due diligence process for a pool of loans involves steps similar to those performed in the underwriting process on individual loans as well as additional aggregate portfolio analyses, continued documentation and processing. During this interim period, servicers collect and manage mortgage loan payments.

Permanent Funding. Permanent funding is provided by entities that add individual loans to an existing loan portfolio or securitize them. In a typical securitization, the mortgage loans are purchased, pooled and deposited in a special-purpose, bankruptcy remote entity. The special-purpose entity typically issues rated and unrated tranches of MBS, which are collateralized by the underlying mortgages, to investors. Similar to loans and loan portfolios awaiting interim funding, loans and loan portfolios awaiting permanent funding require due diligence, continued documentation and processing.

Administration. During the life of a loan, servicers collect the payments of principal and interest generated by the loans on behalf of the investor. In the case of MBS, servicers transfer the collected cash to the trustee of the MBS who then makes disbursements to the investors and service providers, such as custodians, according to the terms of the securitization documents. Mortgage loans that are past due may require special servicing activities to address delinquent borrowers and protect the interests of the investor.

Industry Overview and Trends

Conforming residential mortgage loans are loans that adhere to the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs. Non-conforming residential mortgage loans are loans that do not meet the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs, typically because of one or a combination of the following: loan size, borrower

credit profile, loan to value ratio, documentation or type of loan. These non-conforming loans are often categorized as subprime, alt-A and jumbo loans.

Mortgage loans are typically purchased from banks, mortgage companies and other originators and then assembled into pools by a governmental, quasi-governmental or private entity. The entity then issues MBS which represent claims on the principal and interest payments made by borrowers on the loans in the pool, a process known as securitization. MBS issued by GSEs are referred to as agency MBS, and have comprised a majority of the MBS that have been issued. A growing segment of the MBS market includes private-label, or non-agency, issuers such as capital markets firms and banks.

We believe that several economic and industry trends primarily affect the demand for our services and opportunities for further growth. These include:

continued growth in non-conforming mortgage loan originations;

continued growth in and market demand for non-agency MBS;

increased purchases of smaller pools of mortgage loans from a broader group of sellers;

increased use of outsourced service providers across the lifecycle of a mortgage loan, including in the securitization process; and

increased demand for information-based analytics throughout the lifecycle of a loan.

Growth in Non-conforming Mortgage Loan Originations

A majority of our services relate to, and a majority of our revenue is derived from, supporting the large and growing market for non-conforming mortgage loans. Non-conforming mortgage loan originations have increased substantially in recent years, growing from \$390 billion in 2000 to \$1.9 trillion in 2005 (depicted in the chart below). We believe that the increasing size of the non-agency MBS market (discussed below) has contributed significantly to the availability of capital for non-conforming mortgage loan originations. We believe other factors that have contributed to the strong growth in non-conforming mortgage originations include:

increasing home ownership driven in part by first time homeowners, minorities and immigrants;

the increased availability of loans at higher debt to value ratios;

aggressive marketing of innovative mortgage products to homeowners by mortgage originators and mortgage brokers; and

the general willingness among consumers to incur increased amounts of debt.



Growth in and Market Demand for Non-Agency MBS

Together with the growth in non-conforming loan originations, there has been corresponding growth in the non-agency MBS market activity for these mortgage products (depicted in the chart below). We focus our services on the issuers of and investors in non-agency MBS and thus we are primarily affected by the level of activity within these markets.

We believe that several trends have contributed to the growth in the non-agency MBS market. These include greater investor acceptance and market liquidity of non-agency MBS, increasing availability of information and advancements in technology that enable better risk-based pricing, development of underwriting standards and a faster securitization process. Non-conforming mortgage loans have historically had a significantly lower securitization rate than conforming loans. The overall securitization rate for conforming mortgage loans has stabilized in recent years at 81.7% of conforming mortgage loan originations (based on dollar volume), while the securitization rate of non-conforming mortgage loans has steadily risen from 34.6% to 60.1% over the past five years (depicted in the chart below). We believe that securitization rates, or the percentage of new mortgage loan originations that are securitized, of non-conforming mortgage loans may continue to rise given current industry trends.

Increased Purchases by Major Capital Markets Participants of Smaller Pools of Non-Conforming Mortgage Loans from a Broader Group of	ı

A continuing industry trend among our historic clientele, including major capital markets firms, is the purchase of smaller pools of mortgage loans, and even individual mortgage loans, directly from a larger number of sellers, in addition to bulk quantity loan purchases from major loan originators and aggregators. These purchases are typically conducted through a conduit, which is the financial intermediary between the loan originator and the MBS investor. A conduit purchases loans from third parties under agreed upon terms, and after underwriting and documenting the loans, pools the loans for sale to investors in the MBS market. This trend results, in part, from the economic advantages derived from bypassing interim aggregation steps and the associated costs, the increased accessibility and availability of information, the continued maturation of the MBS market and availability of outsourced service providers who can deliver a comprehensive suite of services and information to support the full lifecycle of the loan. When purchasing bulk pools of mortgage loans, our clients have generally used our due diligence services on a sample of the purchased loans. However, when purchasing smaller pools of mortgage loans or individual mortgage loans, our clients generally use a broader range of our services, including due diligence services, on a substantially higher percentage of purchased loans.

Increased Use of Outsourced Service Providers Throughout the Lifecycle of the Loan

MBS market participants are increasingly using outsourced services to maximize efficiencies, take advantage of third-party expertise, and ultimately allow them to focus on their core business lines. Many MBS market participants may not have the internal resources needed to track and oversee the securities they issue or sell, as required by recent legislation that is intended to enhance market transparency. This is particularly true as federal, state and local regulations change and become more complex. Additionally, MBS participants are supported by a disparate group of information and technology providers. We believe this market fragmentation enhances the need for outsourced services, as the increased level of interactions between these disparate parties has created and will continue to

create a need for outsourced services to ensure efficiency and accurate information throughout the process.

Oversight by independent third parties is increasingly important to market participants following the SEC's announcement of its intention to increase its monitoring of the structured finance markets. Examples of this include new SEC mandated rules governing registered offerings of MBS and asset-backed securities, or ABS, disclosure requirements for ABS and expanded requirements for periodic reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. New regulations also recognize that servicers play a significant role in the ABS market and that the actions of servicers may have a material impact on investment values. Under these rules, servicers of securities, including MBS and ABS, must now disclose certain information pertaining to their portfolios. We believe that these regulatory and other trends will continue to increase demand for outsourced compliance services.

Increased Demand for Mortgage-Related Analytics over the Lifecycle of a Loan

Increasingly, market participants are relying on outsourced information service providers to aggregate, validate and evaluate data and provide the tools and expertise to utilize data to improve their businesses. Over the past decade, there has been a significant increase in the ability to cost effectively gather data regarding the performance of MBS and underlying mortgages. Much of this increase is attributable to the development of new technology which has enabled various market participants to inexpensively and rapidly store, digitize, access, analyze and transfer large amounts of mortgage loan data, and substantially increase the potential for mortgage-related analytic capabilities. To date, much of this data resides in the disparate systems of individual market participants, thereby limiting their ability to fully realize the potential of the analytics.

61

Our Service Offerings

· ·	.1 C 11 '	.1 110 1	C . 1
Our services support	the tallowing stage	s across the literucle	of a mortgage loan.
Our services support	the following stage	s across the infection	of a mortgage roan.

Transaction Management

Transaction management services have historically constituted a majority of our business. We provide a full range of outsourced transaction management services to our clients, including due diligence, compliance services, conduit support services and staffing. We combine our extensive knowledge of, and experience in, loan origination, servicing, securitization and project management with an approach tailored to our clients' needs.

Due Diligence Services

Our due diligence services primarily help loan buyers and sellers make better decisions on how they price portfolios and manage risk. We consult with our clients to customize the scope of each due diligence assignment based on factors such as the client's history and experience with the seller, the size and experience of the seller, the representations and warranties to be provided to the buyer, the type of loan and the quality of the data. We provide our services through our internal proprietary systems including the Clayton Loan Analysis System, or CLAS, our High Cost Analyzer, or HCA, our pool of independent loan review specialists and our employees. We provide due diligence services on residential, commercial and consumer loans.

The following summary describes several key services available in a representative transaction involving due diligence on residential loans, which constitute a majority of the loans we review:

Data Integrity: We verify and enhance data presented to us by the seller. We accomplish this through the use of electronic checks and edits, manual data integrity checks and data comparison.

Credit Underwriting: Aided by CLAS, we review and assess the credit quality of each loan by re-underwriting it to the seller's origination guidelines and/or buyer's credit guidelines. We assign preliminary credit event grades of 1, 2 or 3 (which denote, respectively, whether the loan is within benchmark guidelines, outside of the guidelines but should be considered for purchase based upon compensating factors, or outside of the guidelines and should be rejected) to each loan and then subsequently reconcile the differences, if any, between the buyer and the seller.

After reconciliation, we assign final event grades to the loans and deliver the results to the buyer.

Regulatory Compliance: We review loans for regulatory compliance using the proprietary HCA compliance module of our CLAS system. This module, which incorporates relevant laws and regulations and is monitored by our internal compliance specialists and periodically reviewed by our external legal counsel, filters loan data against relevant federal, state and local high cost and predatory lending regulations (including the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act and Truth in Lending Act) for the presence of material exceptions. The module then renders a decision and assigns a compliance event grade indicating whether the loans are compliant, need additional review due to lack of evidentiary documentation or contain a compliance exception to be addressed.

Fraud: We have developed a fraud review methodology that combines our proprietary process with vendor-based fraud detection solutions. We can also integrate the results from a loan buyer's preferred fraud detection vendor into our system. Our review process includes a verification of borrower identity, residence, employment, property and closing procedures. We also perform a legal document review of the note, mortgage, riders, title and mortgage insurance details. We review loans for possible fraud and flag those indicating characteristics requiring further evaluation. The flagged loans are thoroughly researched and the results are reported to the buyer (and if the buyer permits, the seller). If items can be cured, the relevant loans are marked for purchase by the buyer. Items which remain open are reported to the buyer for further evaluation.

Property Valuations: In addition to providing various property valuation management services, we also use third party valuation providers and internal resources to revalue or perform an additional review of the property. Our objective is to assess and enhance the level of confidence in property values. We report to the buyer those loans with collateral value variances outside of pre-determined tolerance levels.

Trailing Document Collection: We manage the collection of any additional documentation required to underwrite loans presented to the buyer for purchase. Missing documents are identified during the initial file review and the applicable loans are flagged as appropriate. These loans are forwarded to our resolutions team which initiates the curing process. The team reviews the trailing documentation and through a designated client service manager, informs the potential buyer (and if the buyer permits, the seller) if the documentation provided was sufficient to clear a pending condition.

Presently, the majority of our due diligence services is conducted at our loan sellers' facilities by our independent loan review specialists. Our centralized underwriting facilities in Shelton, Connecticut and Tampa, Florida replicate the capabilities of an on-site due diligence team, while limiting related travel costs. Clients may ship loan files electronically or by conventional mail delivery to these facilities. Our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of NISYS in March 2005 enhanced our ability to move our process to a paperless environment, increasing the efficiency with which we deliver our services and the ability to deliver our services from a centralized platform. The centralized underwriting facilities provide us and our clients with significant cost-savings, and we expect to shift a greater volume of due diligence services to centralized underwriting operations in the future.

Conduit Support Services

Our conduit support services provide the technology and systems required to manage key aspects of a buyer's loan acquisition pipeline, including overall process management, due diligence, fulfillment, funding and integration with third-party service providers. Typically, conduits act as the financial intermediary between loan originators and investors. We provide our clients with a flexible processing

platform which can be readily modified to support their purchase of individual mortgage loans and small and mid-size mortgage pools from a variety of originators, regardless of volume.

In addition to the due diligence services described above, we may perform the following operational functions as part of our conduit support services:

Creation of a Loan Servicing and Custodian Data Set: To facilitate the purchase of loans, we collect all data fields required by a third party to begin servicing the loans which are purchased through the conduit as well as those required by the custodian. This data set is converted into the format required by the servicer or custodian and subsequently delivered to the servicer or custodian on a timely basis.

Loan File Management: We manage the maintenance, access and delivery of original loan files including copying, imaging and/or storage.

Seller Support Desk: We maintain a seller support desk where sellers can call to discuss individual loan status and issues, as well as commitment status.

Reporting: Reports and loan status are made available for both the buyer and the related seller via our password protected website, clayton.com. The website enables the user to view current and archived due diligence results, stratify portfolios and perform in-depth analysis, and manage master commitment contracts associated with a set of mortgage deliveries.

In February 2006, we purchased substantially all of the assets of Mortgage Resource Network. Mortgage Resource Network provides conduit support services, including front-end fulfillment, imaging, contract underwriting, closing, funding and investor delivery services that are required by mortgage originators and their warehouse lenders. We believe that the acquisition of Mortgage Resource Network's services, combined with our existing outsourcing and analytical capabilities, will expand our services in the mortgage lender market and further enable lenders and mortgage loan buyers to effect transactions more efficiently. We believe that the transaction will enable us to further assist lenders in improving their underwriting and processing, which reduces risk for both mortgage lenders and buyers.

Professional Staffing Services

Through our staffing services, clients obtain access to qualified independent mortgage loan professionals to augment their staffs on both a long- and short-term basis. Clients can utilize these mortgage loan professionals to manage special projects and satisfy cyclical or unforeseen demand, while reducing human resource cost and risk. We typically provide these services to our clients as part of an existing or potentially broader relationship.

Compliance Products

We provide our proprietary compliance testing engine through the High Cost Analyzer suite, or HCA, to market participants including loan originators. HCA is an on-line tool that is used to verify that loans comply with the most recent and relevant predatory lending regulations at the federal, state and local levels. Our team of compliance specialists regularly update HCA and it is reviewed periodically by external legal counsel. HCA's unique filtering approach can test and identify all loans for additional detailed analysis, as necessary, to ensure compliance with new or changing predatory lending regulations. Originators have begun to test for loan compliance as a safeguard against originating a loan that will not be funded due to non-compliance and to mitigate the potential decreased value of selling a non-compliant loan into the secondary market.

Surveillance and Special Servicing

Our surveillance and special servicing businesses extend our services beyond the origination and securitization process to the later stages in the life of a loan, including ongoing monitoring and management of loans. These services also provide performance data which we believe, when linked to data collected in our up-front transaction management services, will allow our clients to more effectively assess risk at the point of underwriting/origination.

Credit Risk Management and Surveillance and Special Servicing

Through Clayton Fixed Income Services, formerly The Murrayhill Company, we provide credit risk management and surveillance services to MBS underwriters, issuers and investors. These services consist of oversight and monitoring of predominantly residential non-agency MBS. These credit risk management and surveillance services are typically contract-based for the remaining life of the security. Frequently, our efforts result in cash recoveries and uncover costly systemic errors for our clients.

Our credit risk management activities are centered on seven core processes, and may include any of the following:

Data Verification. We conduct an initial review and verification of key mortgage loan data provided by servicers or other third parties.

Loan-level Surveillance. Our analysts utilize a proprietary risk-filtering technology to identify loans that present a higher degree of risk to the performance of the transactions. For example, our technology searches for loans with significant declines in value, indications of fraud, lengthy foreclosure timelines and loans with characteristics that do not fit the applicable criteria of the securitization. Such loans receive increased oversight that proactively mitigates securitization losses.

Loan Repurchases. We also filter the loan level data to identify loans that do not fit the applicable criteria of the securitization. We identify loans that may be subject to repurchase or replacement as a result of a failure to meet the applicable securitization criteria and such loans may be repurchased or replaced by the seller.

Loss Analysis. We scrutinize losses in the portfolio searching for miscellaneous processing errors, such as duplicate fees, high escrow advances, overstated legal fees and questionable broker fees.

Prepayment Premium Analysis. Frequently, the securitizations that we monitor contain loans with prepayment penalties. We monitor the loans that have been paid in full to ensure that any applicable penalties are collected and remitted properly.

Mortgage Insurance Analysis. Many loans within the securitizations that we monitor have mortgage insurance. We oversee these loans to ensure that coverage is accurate, claims are filed and processed in a timely manner and proceeds are collected and remitted properly.

Remittance Reconciliation. We review each cash remittance to ensure that it reconciles with the monthly loan level data.

One of our signature services is the Clayton Fixed Income Services "Value Add" notification which we send to clients to notify them of situations in which we have uncovered errors resulting in savings to the MBS investor. During 2004, through our Value Add notifications, we notified clients of more than \$48.0 million in potential increased collections or cost savings. During 2005, we sent Value Add notifications identifying errors representing more than \$79.6 million in potential savings.

We also evaluate servicers for operational quality using our proprietary benchmarking methodology that gauges a servicer's operational quality relative to its servicing volume and its industry peers. We

regularly consult with servicers to help them improve their operations and enhance the overall performance of the pools of loans they service and the corresponding MBS.

Special Servicing/Servicer Management

The services we directly provide include:

Our special servicing activities facilitate the management and disposition of sub-performing and non-performing loans. Sub-performing and non-performing loans are typically classified as loans where the borrower/obligor is over 30 days delinquent, and include loans for which the lienholder may, in the future, take possession through foreclosure proceedings. We believe that this service is countercyclical to our origination focused services as economic conditions which typically have a negative impact on origination volume also tend to lead to rising delinquencies and defaults.

Our services include comprehensive loan management for defaulted and delinquent loans, collection management and oversight, loss mitigation, foreclosure and bankruptcy administration, eviction and real estate owned (REO) disposition oversight. We use our proprietary Mortgage Asset Recovery System, or MARS, to assess risk and value enhancement alternatives, and to identify optimal asset disposition methods.

In March 2001, we sold a majority of the assets and contracts in our special servicing business to GMAC Mortgage Corporation. The agreement governing the sale of this business contained a non-competition provision which expired in March 2004. Following the expiration of this non-competition provision, we explored additional special servicing opportunities. In August 2005, we signed a multi-year agreement with a unit of a major capital markets institution to perform servicing management for conforming and non-conforming mortgage loans. Pursuant to this agreement, we entered into a subservicing agreement with a major mortgage servicing company that acts as a front end servicer on loans that are owned by our client. The front end servicer handles the collection and application of payments on mortgage loans, as well as accounting and administrative functions.

oversight of transfer of loan documents and data to the servicer;

front end servicer collection oversight;

loss mitigation;

investor reporting review and reconciliation;

foreclosure management and monitoring;

eviction initiation and monitoring;

bankruptcy management and monitoring;

preliminary property preservation and security; and

REO referral and monitoring.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we have developed a strong reputation among our clients and that we have the following competitive strengths:

Long-term Relationships with Industry Participants

We provide our services to the leading buyers and sellers of, and the investors in, residential and commercial loan portfolios and securities. Our clients include major capital markets firms, banks and lending institutions, including the largest MBS issuers/dealers, mortgage and bond insurance companies

66

and fixed income investors. Among others, our clients include Bank of America, Bear Stearns, Citigroup, Countrywide Financial, Credit Suisse First Boston, the Department of Housing and Urban Development, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP Morgan Chase, Lehman Brothers, Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley, UBS and The Winter Mortgage Group. See "Clients." For certain clients, we provide a majority of outsourced transaction due diligence and credit risk management services on their non-conforming mortgage loan portfolios and underwritten MBS. During 2003, 2004 and 2005, we worked with each of the 10 largest non-agency MBS underwriters, as ranked by *Inside B&C Lending*, which accounted for 80%, 78% and 73% of total non-agency MBS underwriting volume during those respective periods. We experience a high level of recurring business, with 16 of our largest 20 clients in 2003 also among our largest 20 clients served in 2004, and 18 of our largest 20 clients in 2004 also among our largest 20 clients in 2005.

Deep Market Expertise, Experienced Professionals and Proprietary Technology

As a pioneer in providing outsourced mortgage loan related services to institutional participants in the mortgage industry, we have developed considerable industry experience and a large database of loan information. We believe that we were the first significant service provider in the industry to build a technology platform to refine the due diligence process from a primarily manual process to a highly automated, computer-driven review. Our experience, process and data, which we refer to as our intellectual capital, is the framework which allows our highly trained and experienced professionals to access thousands of historical transactions to strengthen their recommendations and analysis for clients. We believe that we are the largest provider of transaction management and due diligence services to the non-agency MBS market and have collected substantial loan and origination data over the last 15 years. During 2005, we collected data on over 930,000 loans totaling over \$175.0 billion in principal value. Through Clayton Fixed Income Services, we have collected performance data from securities surveillance and credit risk management activities on over \$895.0 billion in mortgage loans. Our intellectual capital is an essential component of our service offerings and is extensively used both externally by our clients and internally by us to evaluate loans and securities and their performance. In addition, the data we have collected provides us with a substantial base of knowledge on which we can continue to develop additional products and services for our clients. We believe our expertise and intellectual capital cannot be easily duplicated.

Through the combination of Clayton Services and Clayton Fixed Income Services, we are able to link loan origination data with ongoing loan performance data to enable sophisticated data aggregation, dynamic reporting capabilities and advanced loan analytics. This seamless delivery of a broad spectrum of centralized services and information that supports the lifecycle of a loan helps our clients make better buying decisions.

Comprehensive Suite of Outsourced Services and Mortgage-Related Analytics

We provide a comprehensive suite of outsourced services, mortgage-related analytics and specialized consulting services to the mortgage loan and MBS industries. Our centralized services and information support the lifecycle of a loan from origination through maturity, with data and analytics aggregated and utilized by us and our clients. Our services combine our core expertise in transaction management and due diligence and our sophisticated technology. This evolution was driven, in part, by requests from our clients to meet their evolving business needs. For example, our clients requested that we expand our services to include staffing to augment their internal resources, MBS loan surveillance and operational reviews to monitor and assess portfolio servicing and technology-based compliance tools to test for compliance standards prior to purchasing loan portfolios. In addition, we continue to develop our technology to add further efficiency and accuracy to our processes. Our recent acquisition of substantially all of the assets of NISYS in March 2005 provides us with a tool that enables us to streamline manual, paper-based loan processes. We believe this acquisition significantly enhances our

transaction management efficiencies and capabilities of, and our ability to provide, an integrated suite of outsourced services.

Scalable and Flexible Operating Model

We operate a highly scalable and flexible operating model based on a proprietary technology platform, a large database of mortgage loan information and a flexible, mobile workforce of experienced, qualified and trained independent loan review specialists. We have invested significant time and money developing our technology platform, which is capable of analyzing high volumes of data and generating accurate information and reports for our clients. With a substantial database of information already amassed and an advanced technology platform in place, we believe we are well-positioned to profitably grow our business. While the independent loan review specialists we use ordinarily have prior underwriting experience, we train them according to our own methodologies and strict standards for loan review and due diligence before assigning them to projects. With a large pool of trained specialists available, we are able to rapidly assemble teams and quickly respond to clients' requests for our due diligence services. Further, our variable cost structure provides us with relatively stable operating margins and mitigates the focus on labor resource utilization.

Critical Position at the Nexus of Loan Buyers, Sellers and Investors

Our comprehensive suite of outsourced services, industry experience, large database of loan information, numerous and long-standing relationships with leading capital markets participants and strong reputation, have positioned us at the nexus of mortgage loan portfolio buyers, sellers and investors. Through the services we provide, we perform a necessary function throughout the lifecycle of a loan and effectively act as a facilitator for the loan buyer and investor communities. Our due diligence services help our clients to buy and sell loans more efficiently and intelligently. Our surveillance activities monitor loan servicing providers and ensure the proper performance of their duties. We believe that investor and rating agency recognition of the value of our services is an important factor in an underwriter's decision to engage us during a securitization transaction.

Our Growth Strategies

We believe that the large and growing market for securitized loans combined with the significant demand for outsourced services provide us with substantial opportunities to continue to grow our business. In addition to the favorable industry dynamics affecting our business, we intend to pursue the following strategies to increase our market share and profitably expand our business.

Leverage and Expand Client Relationships

We serve a broad client base that includes many of the leading capital markets firms, banks and lending institutions, insurance companies, MBS issuers/dealers and fixed income investors. Many of our clients participate in various stages of the lifecycle of a loan from origination to maturity across a variety of asset types. Many of these clients use only a subset of the services that we provide. As we continue to increase awareness among our clients of our full suite of services, we believe there are significant opportunities to provide a broader array of our services to existing clients. The addition of the Clayton Fixed Income Services surveillance capabilities allows us to further broaden our relationships with existing clients by offering them additional information-based services across the lifecycle of the loan.

Many of our clients are large organizations or multi-faceted financial institutions with a number of separate business units. In certain instances, we provide our services to a limited subset of the professionals and business units within a client organization and opportunities exist to provide our services to other professionals and other business units within the same organization. We intend to

continue to expand and deepen our relationship with current clients as well as access other business units within these organizations that may benefit from our services. In addition, as existing clients expand their securitized asset businesses, they will require additional services and we intend to develop innovative solutions to meet these needs.

Expand Service Capabilities

We expect to continue to leverage our core expertise in transaction management and due diligence services to expand our service offerings across the lifecycle of the loan. We believe that our intellectual capital and advanced technological capabilities will enable us to build on our credit risk management and special servicing services to further benefit our client base. We expect to broaden the range of services offered through our conduit support services platform to meet increasing client demand. Additionally, while a majority of our business has historically been generated through the support of transactions in the non-agency MBS market, we intend to expand our presence into other related asset classes such as commercial mortgage backed securities, asset backed securities (including credit card and auto loan securitization), and other collateralized debt, mortgage and loan obligations. We believe our knowledge-based expertise, information-based analytic capabilities, and existing client relationships will enable us to grow our existing business within these expanding markets.

Continue to Improve Operational Efficiencies

We believe that we manage our operations efficiently and benefit from our flexible operating model and scalable infrastructure. We also believe that we have opportunities to further reduce our costs and continue to provide competitively priced services to our clients by further utilizing and deploying our technology, particularly in connection with our transaction management services. As a primary example of our continued efforts to maximize efficiencies, beginning in 2002, we began offering underwriting services from a central location. Centralized underwriting generates significant cost savings for us and our clients by eliminating travel expenses for our loan review specialists and allowing us to better manage capacity by having a core group of loan review specialists available at one location. We currently operate our centralized underwriting activities from both our corporate headquarters in Shelton, Connecticut and our facility in Tampa, Florida. We expect to further expand our centralized underwriting operations to other locations. Additionally, by leveraging and improving our ability to move to a paperless process, as well as employ sophisticated work flow management and automated rules-based decision-making, which were further augmented through the NISYS acquisition, we expect to further reduce costs and improve efficiency.

Opportunistically Pursue Strategic Acquisitions

While our growth to date has been primarily organic, we successfully integrated the operations of both Clayton Fixed Income Services and NISYS, and recently acquired Mortgage Resource Network. The addition of Clayton Fixed Income Services' and NISYS' businesses broadened and strengthened our existing capabilities, and we believe that the recent addition of Mortgage Resource Network's business will do the same. As we continue to expand our business, we may pursue additional acquisitions that help us grow our service offerings and expand our capabilities in other asset classes. In addition, we may seek acquisitions to increase our market share and benefit from potential synergies.

Clients

Since 1990, our clients have included many of the leading capital markets firms, banks and lending institutions, mortgage and bond insurance companies, MBS issuers/dealers, conduits and fixed income investors. Our largest 20 clients from either of fiscal 2004 or fiscal 2005 include:

Aurora Loan ServicesDepartment of Housing andMBIABank of AmericaUrban DevelopmentMerrill LynchBear StearnsDeutsche BankMorgan StanleyC-BASSGoldman SachsNomura

Citigroup HSBC/Household Bank RBS Greenwich Capital

Countrywide Financial JP Morgan Chase Redwood Trust

Credit Suisse First Boston Lehman Brothers UBS

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, revenue and pro forma revenue, respectively, from our largest three clients, Bear Stearns, Lehman Brothers and Morgan Stanley, accounted for an aggregate of 33.9% and 36.9% of our total revenue and pro forma revenue, respectively. Each of these clients accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue during each of these years, except for the year ended December 31, 2005 during which Bear Stearns accounted for 9.8%.

Business Development and Marketing

Our business development and marketing efforts focus on building and maintaining strong relationships with market participants across the loan lifecycle.

Business Development

The majority of our new business opportunities is generated from our existing clients. Our major clients frequently ask us to develop new solutions and services to help them achieve their growth objectives as a result of our long-term relationships with them. Although a significant portion of our effort is spent with the leading participants in the non-conforming mortgage loan and non-agency MBS markets, we also build relationships with other market participants looking to initiate or expand their capabilities in these markets as well as other asset classes.

Our business development group is primarily comprised of Strategic Account Managers and Product Sales Managers. A Strategic Account Manager is our point person for a select group of strategic accounts and is responsible for coordinating our efforts in expanding and deepening our relationship with these key clients, helping to grow client revenue across business lines and developing and implementing account plans and strategies to meet clients' current and future needs. Working with the Strategic Account Managers, Product Sales Managers concentrate on generating new business for specific products or services, such as conduit support, staffing, compliance software, credit risk management and surveillance.

Marketing

Our marketing department promotes industry awareness of our services and competitive differentiators. Key functions include brand strategy and management, marketing strategy and tactics, event management, market research, sales support and product development and management support. In addition, our marketing group leads the creation and distribution of our thought leadership publications. With a subscriber base of over 1,700 industry professionals, our *Bottom Line* newsletter is our flagship publication that communicates our point of view on important industry issues and trends to market participants including existing and prospective clients. Articles are contributed by industry leaders, clients and our employees.

Employees and Independent Loan Review Specialists

As of February 15, 2006, we employed 596 persons on a full-time basis. In addition, during 2005, we used the services of 1,758 independent loan review specialists and other qualified independent mortgage loan professionals to perform transaction due diligence and other services for our clients. None of our employees or independent loan review specialists is represented by a union or are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that our relations with our employees and independent loan review specialists are good.

A majority of our independent loan review specialists are employed by a professional employee organization and assigned to us upon our request. The independent loan review specialists then undergo our thorough training program as described below. The professional employee organization assumes responsibility for all payroll, benefits and workers compensation obligations in connection with the independent loan review specialists. Our agreement with the professional employee organization may be terminated by either party, with or without cause, with 90 days prior written notice. Our agreement with the professional employee organization provides us with staffing flexibility and a greater ability to manage labor and overhead costs.

Recruiting, Training and Staffing Logistics

Our independent loan review specialists are critical to the success of our business. Their experience and expertise are competitive strengths. Our specialists have significant underwriting experience and product, compliance and process knowledge. We recruit many of our independent loan review specialists and other qualified independent mortgage loan professionals through referrals from current underwriters and lenders and from our independent loan review specialist database.

Our training programs include advanced training on our proprietary systems, client reporting, interaction skills, compliance and product training and engagement management. We conduct both field workshops around the country and centralized training to keep our workforce current on our proprietary technology, industry trends and product specifics. We also conduct ongoing skills and competency reviews to ensure our high quality standards are maintained.

Our dedicated staffing logistics group manages engagement staffing and coordination for our pool of independent loan review specialists. Our proprietary Deal Management System, or DMS, including our proprietary independent loan review specialist database, allows us to efficiently staff engagements taking into account such factors as skill set, experience and location. In addition, we coordinate the logistics of delivering support systems including necessary network infrastructure and laptops to engagement sites throughout the country.

Information Technology

Proprietary Technology

We use proprietary technology to improve quality and productivity, facilitate client interaction, organize knowledge and capture the full value of data collected. Our technology is supported by a network infrastructure that is designed to securely handle large amounts of data. Our proprietary technology applications include:

Clayton Loan Analysis System, CLAS Conduit and CLAS Reporting Tool. Our due diligence process utilizes the CLAS application. CLAS collects data and verifies it for accuracy during the on-site and centralized underwriting loan file review process. Additionally, CLAS accommodates all mortgage loan and other asset types and is a customizable application that gathers appropriate data depending on the scope of the project. CLAS verifies and tests the reasonableness and accuracy of all captured data. The system also has the ability to produce reports that identify emerging trends, while providing a real-time overview of asset quality.

High Cost Analyzer. HCA is a web-based application derived from CLAS that helps market participants identify loans that exceed federal, state and local predatory lending thresholds. Our experienced compliance professionals monitor changes in laws and regulations and update HCA accordingly. In addition, HCA is integrated with a leading on-line publisher of reference information and forms for the residential mortgage lending industry. This integration provides direct access to applicable predatory lending legislation, and streamlines the research process for compliance professionals.

Deal Management System. We use DMS to manage the logistics that support our due diligence efforts including the coordination of our workforce of independent loan review specialists. DMS tracks the progress, revenue and expense for all active projects. DMS also tracks upcoming engagements and staffing availability. In addition, the system contains experiential data on every project, every specialist and every client since our inception.

Clayton.com. Clayton.com facilitates data conversion, analysis and electronic due diligence. Clayton.com is our portal through which clients, employees and our independent loan review specialists access reports and communicate with each other on transactions they are managing. Our conduit support services also use clayton.com to provide information to loan buyers and sellers as to the status of the loan acquisition process.

Mortgage Asset Recovery System. MARS is a proprietary servicing platform that assesses risk and value enhancement alternatives and identifies the optimal asset disposition methods for both performing and non-performing loans.

Clayton Fixed Income Services Report Archive. Report Archive is a secure web-based application used by our clients to download prior and current Credit Risk Manager reports for individual securitizations.

Lifecycle Management Suite. Lifecycle Management Suite, or LMS, is a decision and processing automation software package that we use for our due diligence services. The software is a configurable technology platform capable of handling paper-based unstructured loan content, and automating the decision and business processes utilized by our underwriters during their review of mortgage loan portfolios.

Technology Infrastructure

Our technology infrastructure is comprised of networks, data centers, and multiple independent local area networks located in Shelton, Connecticut; Tulsa, Oklahoma; Indianapolis, Indiana; Tampa, Florida; Denver, Colorado; and Costa Mesa, California. Our business applications run on both shared and dedicated platforms, and when necessary, are accessible from each of our operating locations. These interlinked networks and data centers increase system availability in the event of an unplanned business interruption.

Our architecture accommodates high volumes of transactions and load balance processing across multiple servers, assuring availability in the event of a single component hardware or system failure. By utilizing clustering and load balancing technologies, each web, application and database tier can scale horizontally as transactional volume increases over time.

Our primary data center is located in Shelton, Connecticut. Our application, network and voice infrastructure are housed in a secure, environmentally controlled data center with 24-hour system monitoring and threshold alerting. Access to the facilities is controlled through the use of individually issued magnetic access security cards. We use proprietary network security architecture with procedural requirements for network address translation, port filtering and redirection. We employ a redundant firewall infrastructure for layered network traffic management. In the event of power failure, our data

center is protected by uninterruptible power supply battery backup and a natural gas power generator. We also utilize redundant telecommunications lines to ensure high availability for our voice and data networks. We maintain physical, electronic and procedural safeguards to store and secure client information from unauthorized access and use, alteration and destruction. Our own policies and procedures have been developed to protect the confidentiality of client information and to comply with relevant rules and regulations, while meeting our clients' service requirements.

Intellectual Property

We rely on copyright and trade secret law to protect our technology. Additionally, we have developed a number of brands that have accumulated substantial recognition in the marketplace, and we rely on trademark law to protect our rights in that area. We intend to continue our policy of taking all measures we deem necessary to protect our copyright, trade secret and trademark rights. We regard our internally-developed software as proprietary and utilize a combination of copyright, trade secret laws, internal security practices and employee non-disclosure agreements for intellectual property protection. We believe that we hold all proprietary rights necessary to conduct our business.

In 2001, CFIS filed two patent applications (each with multiple claims) related to data filtering technology. The first patent relates to analyzing investment data in a manner that provides a single comprehensive tool for filtering a loan pool to identify characteristics of the loan pool and the loans in the pool. The second patent relates to an invention that provides methods useful for the surveillance of loan pools and investing in loan pools, including a method for generating a loss list, for estimating a loss for a loan, and for determining a probability of loss for a loan. These two patent applications are pending.

In 2004, CFIS filed a provisional patent application related to its Question Portal, a secure, internet-accessible site that enables us to communicate directly with parties to a securitization (including servicers, master servicers, and insurance companies). The Question Portal technology enables instant communication, tracks all questions and responses and provides a variety of analytics on the types of issues, aging of issues and response times of our and a service provider's personnel. In 2005, we filed a non-provisional patent application for the Question Portal. The application is pending.

Competition

The market for our services is highly fragmented, highly competitive and rapidly changing. We compete with several providers of due diligence services, including the four largest public accounting firms and other providers focused on technology products, staffing services and portfolio management. Although several organizations compete with us across multiple business lines, we believe no firm competes with us across all of the service offerings that we provide. We believe the following are the principal factors by which providers of information-based analytics and knowledge-based services to the MBS market compete for business:

quality and depth of underlying databases;
breadth of services offered;
client service and support;
proprietary nature of methodologies, databases and technical platform;
recognition as industry leader and developer of the industry standard;
level of brand recognition and credibility as a participant in the secondary market; and
performance track record for services provided on transactions executed.

Government Regulation

Our business is subject to certain federal, state and local laws and regulations. In particular, our subsidiaries that provide mortgage loan servicing services are subject to licensure as a mortgage loan servicer and collection agency in certain states. Our subsidiary, Quantum, has submitted applications to the applicable state regulatory authorities to obtain these licenses and is expected to receive them by no later than March 31, 2006. As a licensee, these subsidiaries must comply with certain state laws, including state collection laws. In addition, these subsidiaries are subject to certain other federal, state and local laws and regulations, including the Real Estate and Settlement Procedures Act and Regulation X, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B, the Fair Housing Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, Title V of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, and state privacy and data security laws.

Facilities

Our headquarters are located in Shelton, Connecticut, and we have additional offices in Denver, Colorado; Tampa, Florida; Dallas, Texas; Irving, Texas; Costa Mesa, California; Tulsa, Oklahoma; and Indianapolis, Indiana. All of our offices and facilities are leased. We do not consider any specific leased facility to be material to our operations. We believe that equally suited facilities are available in several other areas throughout the U.S. The following table summarizes information with respect these facilities:

Location	Principal Activities	Area (sq. feet)	Lease Expiration Date
Shelton, Connecticut	Headquarters	66,000	2010 and 2013 ⁽¹⁾
Denver, Colorado	CFIS corporate offices and operations	23,502	2009
Tampa, Florida	Centralized underwriting	20,152	2007
Dallas, Texas	Conduit services	20,024	2008
Irving, Texas	Commercial due diligence services	5,126	2008
Costa Mesa, California	Sales and administration	5,467	2009
Tulsa, Oklahoma	First Madison Services operations	10,419	2007
Indianapolis, Indiana	Support for centralized underwriting	6,003	Month to month

(1) We lease two floors in an office building in Shelton, Connecticut. The lease for one floor expires in 2010 and the lease for the other floor expires in 2013.

Subsidiaries

We currently have nine subsidiaries. See "Prospectus Summary Our Corporate Information" for a description of the subsidiaries.

Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, we may be party to various legal proceedings. As of the date of this prospectus, we are not a party to any material legal proceedings.

MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table sets forth information regarding our directors and executive officers, including their ages as of January 31, 2006.

Name	Age	Position
Frank P. Filipps	58	Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Frederick C. Herbst	48	Chief Financial Officer
Louis A. Iannaccone	57	Chief Information Officer
Steven L. Cohen	42	Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Todd R. Crockett ⁽¹⁾	36	Director
Margaret Sue Ellis	47	Director
Roger B. Kafker ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	43	Director
Stephen M. Lamando	41	Director
Brian L. Libman ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	40	Director
Frank L. Raiter ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	58	Director

- (1) Member of the nominating and corporate governance committee.
- (2) Member of the audit committee.
- (3) Member of the compensation committee.

Frank P. Filipps. Mr. Filipps has served as a director and our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since April 2005, and our President since January 2006. Prior to joining us, he was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Radian Group Inc. (NYSE:RDN), a credit enhancement provider to the global financial and capital markets. At Radian, Mr. Filipps was responsible for expanding and diversifying operations in the United States, the United Kingdom and Asia. Mr. Filipps began his career at Radian in 1992 as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. In 1994, he was promoted to Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer and in 1995 he was named President, Chief Executive Officer and director. Mr. Filipps has served since 1995 as a director of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: IMH), a corporation that acquires and originates non-conforming residential and commercial loans, and has served since 2004 as a director of Primus Guaranty, Ltd. (NYSE:PRS), a holding company primarily engaged in selling credit protection against investment grade debt obligations of corporate and sovereign entities. Mr. Filipps is also a director of the World Affairs Council of Philadelphia, a private, non-profit organization. Mr. Filipps holds an M.B.A. in corporate finance and international business from the Stern School of Business at New York University and a B.A. from Rutgers University.

Frederick C. Herbst. Mr. Herbst has served as our Chief Financial Officer since September 2005. Prior to joining Clayton, Mr. Herbst was Chief Financial Officer of Arbor Realty Trust, Inc. (NYSE:ABR), a publicly-traded real estate investment trust, since 2003 and of Arbor Commercial Mortgage, LLC since 1999. He was a member of Arbor's executive committee and was responsible for all aspects of Arbor's financial operations, including financial reporting, tax planning, budgeting and the appropriate utilization of capital. Prior to joining Arbor, Mr. Herbst was Chief Financial Officer of The

Hurst Companies, Inc., where he was responsible for all financial operations, including financial reporting, budgeting and banking relationships. Previously, Mr. Herbst was controller with The Long Island Savings Bank, FSB, vice president-finance with Eastern States Bankcard Association and a senior manager with Ernst & Young. Mr. Herbst holds a B.A. from Wittenberg University. Mr. Herbst became a Certified Public Accountant in 1983.

Louis A. Iannaccone. Mr. Iannaccone has served as our Chief Information Officer since our inception. From November 2004 until March 2005, he served as the Chief Information Officer of Clayton Services. From September 2001 through November 2004, he was the Vice President, Service Delivery and acting Chief Information Officer of KeySpan Energy, where he was responsible for technology service delivery, including application development, data warehousing, data centers, communications, planning and operations. Prior to joining KeySpan Energy, Mr. Iannaccone held management positions with IMX Incorporated, Chicago Title & Trust Company, Chase Manhattan Bank, McGraw-Hill, Inc, International Tomson and IBM Corporation. Mr. Iannaccone earned an M.B.A. from Columbia University and a B.A. from Saint Francis College.

Steven L. Cohen. Mr. Cohen has served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since our inception. From January 2005 until March 2005, he served as the Senior Vice President and General Counsel of Clayton Services. Mr. Cohen oversees the Company's legal affairs, manages its legal department and serves as the corporate compliance officer. From December 2000 to January 2005, he was an Assistant General Counsel of Intuit Inc. (NASD: INTU), a financial software development and services company, where he was a member of the general counsel management group. Prior to joining Intuit, Mr. Cohen was General Counsel to EmployeeMatters, Inc. which was acquired by Intuit in December 2000, an Assistant General Counsel with The Prudential Insurance Company of America and an associate with Fulbright & Jaworski LLP, a national law firm. Mr. Cohen earned a J.D. from the George Washington University Law School, an M.B.A. from the Stern School of Business at New York University and a B.A. from Queens College.

Todd R. Crockett. Mr. Crockett has served as a director since our inception. He has been employed by TA Associates, Inc. since 1994, and currently serves as a Principal. Prior to joining TA Associates, Mr. Crockett was a Financial Analyst in the Financial Institutions and Structured Finance Groups at Salomon Brothers. Mr. Crockett holds an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School and a B.A. from Princeton University.

Margaret Sue Ellis. Ms. Ellis has served as a director since our inception. In 1997, she founded Clayton Fixed Income Services, formerly The Murrayhill Company, and served as its Chief Executive Officer from 1997 until the formation of Clayton in 2005. Prior to founding Clayton Fixed Income Services, Ms. Ellis was a vice president at Asset Investors Corporation and headed its risk management function for three years. Ms. Ellis holds an M.B.A. from the Amos Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth College, a master's degree from the University of Denver and a B.A. from The Colorado College. Ms. Ellis is also a Certified Public Accountant.

Roger B. Kafker. Mr. Kafker has served as a director since our inception. He has been employed by TA Associates, Inc. since 1989, and currently serves as a Managing Director. Mr. Kafker concentrates on transactions involving growth service businesses in the financial, consumer and healthcare services industries. He received an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School and a B.A. from Haverford College.

Stephen M. Lamando. Mr. Lamando has served as a director since our inception. Mr. Lamando was the founder, President and Chief Executive Officer of Clayton Services. Effective December 31, 2005, Mr. Lamando resigned as our President and from all other officer positions that he held with us and our subsidiaries. Mr. Lamando will continue to serve as a director. Prior to founding Clayton Services, Mr. Lamando worked in residential whole loan trading at Goldman, Sachs & Company in

New York, where he performed due diligence for public/private mortgage and asset-backed new issues, participations, marks to market and whole loan commitments. Mr. Lamando holds a B.A. from Pace University.

Brian L. Libman. Mr. Libman has served as a director since our inception. He was the former Chief Executive Officer of Finance America, LLC, a nationwide mortgage lender specializing in nonconforming residential mortgage loans. He served in this role from the company's formation in July 1999 until July 2004. Prior to being employed at Finance America, Mr. Libman spent 13 years with Lehman Brothers. Mr. Libman received both his M.B.A. and B.S.E. degrees from the Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania.

Frank L. Raiter. Mr. Raiter has served as a director since October 2005. From March 1995 until April 2005, Mr. Raiter served as a Managing Director of Standard & Poor's Ratings Group. As a Managing Director, Mr. Raiter managed the Residential Mortgage Ratings Group and was responsible for ratings production, marketing and business development for single family mortgages, bond ratings and related products. Mr. Raiter also managed the design, development and marketing of analytical ratings products utilized by Standard and Poor's. Prior to joining Standard and Poor's, he was the Chief Investment Officer and Treasurer of Caliber Bank in Phoenix, Arizona, and served as the Assistant Director, Office of Securities Transactions, of the Resolution Trust Corporation. Mr. Raiter received an M.B.A. from the University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill and a B.A. from North Carolina State University.

Board of Directors

We currently have seven directors, each of whom was elected as a director under board composition provisions of a stockholders agreement or our certificate of incorporation. The board composition provisions of the stockholders agreement and our certificate of incorporation will be terminated upon the closing of this offering. Upon the termination of these provisions, there will be no further contractual obligations regarding the election of our directors. Our directors hold office until their successors have been elected and qualified or until the earlier of their resignation or removal.

Following the offering, the board of directors will be divided into three classes with members of each class of directors serving for staggered three-year terms. The board of directors will consist of three Class I directors (currently Margaret Sue Ellis, Frank Filipps and Stephen Lamando), two Class II directors (currently Brian Libman and Todd Crockett) and two Class III directors (currently Roger Kafker and Frank Raiter), whose initial terms will expire at the annual meetings of stockholders held in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Within twelve months of the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, we intend to expand the board of directors and elect one additional Class II director, who will not be an officer or employee of Clayton, and who will be independent as defined under the rules of the Nasdaq National Market. Our classified board could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us.

Frank P. Filipps, our President and Chief Executive Officer, serves as the Chairman of our board of directors. Effective December 31, 2005, Mr. Lamando resigned as our President. He will continue to serve on our board of directors.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee. The composition and functioning of all of our committees complies with the rules of the SEC and the Nasdaq National Market that are currently applicable to us and we intend to comply with additional requirements to the extent that they become applicable to us.

Audit Committee. Roger B. Kafker, Brian L. Libman and Frank L. Raiter currently serve on the audit committee. Mr. Raiter serves as the Chairman of the audit committee. The audit committee's responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our independent auditor, Grant Thornton LLP:

overseeing the work of our independent auditor, including through the receipt and consideration of certain reports from the independent auditor;

resolving disagreements between management and our independent auditor;

pre-approving all auditing and permissible non-audit services (except *de minimis* non-audit services), and the terms of such services, to be provided by our independent auditor;

reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditors our annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures:

coordinating the oversight of our internal control over financial reporting, disclosure controls and procedures and code of business conduct and ethics:

discussing our risk management policies;

establishing policies regarding hiring employees from the independent auditor and procedures for the receipt and retention of accounting related complaints and concerns;

meeting independently with our independent auditors and management; and

preparing the audit committee report required by SEC rules to be included in our proxy statements.

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Raiter qualifies as an "audit committee financial expert" as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the applicable rules of the Nasdaq National Market. In making its determination, our board considered the nature and scope of the experiences and responsibilities Mr. Raiter has previously had with reporting companies. Mr. Raiter and Mr. Libman are "independent" for audit committee purposes under the applicable rules of the Nasdaq National Market and the SEC. As required by applicable rules, within twelve months of the effective date of the registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, Mr. Kafker will resign from the audit committee and will be replaced by a third "independent" director.

Compensation Committee. Roger Kafker, Brian Libman and Frank Raiter currently serve on the compensation committee. Mr. Kafker serves as the Chairman of the compensation committee. The compensation committee's responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer:

evaluating the performance of our Chief Executive Officer in light of such corporate goals and objectives and determining the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer;

determining the compensation of our other executive officers;

overseeing an evaluation of our senior executives;

overseeing and administering our incentive-based compensation plans and equity-based compensation plans; and

reviewing and making recommendations to the board with respect to director compensation.

78

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Todd Crockett, Brian Libman and Frank Raiter currently serve on the nominating and corporate governance committee. Mr. Crockett serves as the Chairman of the nominating and corporate governance committee. The nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

developing and recommending to the board criteria for board and committee membership;

establishing procedures for identifying and evaluating director candidates including nominees recommended by stockholders:

identifying individuals qualified to become board members;

establishing procedures for stockholders to submit recommendations for director candidates;

recommending to the board the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the board's committees;

developing and recommending to the board a set of corporate governance guidelines; and

overseeing the evaluation of the board and management.

Director Compensation

Directors who are also our employees receive no additional compensation for their services as directors. Our non-employee directors each receive an annual fee from us of \$25,000. In addition, we pay our non-employee directors a fee of \$1,000 for each in-person board of directors meeting they attend and \$500 for each telephonic board of directors meeting they attend. The chairperson of our audit committee receives an additional annual fee of \$10,000, and the chairperson of our compensation committee receives an additional annual fee of \$5,000. We also reimburse non-employee directors for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with attending board of directors and committee meetings. However, our directors who are affiliated with TA Associates have agreed to forego board and board committee compensation, including the equity compensation described below, for so long as TA Associates, Inc. beneficially owns more than 10% of our common stock.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2006 Option Plan, as described below, directors will be permitted to defer all, or a portion, of their director compensation fees. All deferred fees will be converted to stock units based on the fair market value of shares of our common stock on the date the fees would otherwise be paid. The units are typically settled in shares in a lump sum when the director resigns from the board of directors.

Upon election to the board of directors, non-employee directors are granted an option to purchase 10,000 shares of our common stock, which option vests in equal installments over three years. Additional grants to our non-employee directors will be made every three years. The exercise price of these stock options is the fair market value of our shares of common stock as determined by the board of directors as of the date of the option grant. The vesting of these stock options accelerates upon a change of control of Clayton.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of our executive officers serves as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee, or other committee serving an equivalent function, of any other entity that has one or more of its executive officers serving as a member of our board of directors or compensation committee. None of the current members of our compensation committee has ever been an employee of Clayton.

Executive Compensation

The following summarizes the compensation earned during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, which we refer to as "fiscal 2005," by our Chief Executive Officer and our four other most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers on December 31, 2005 and whose total compensation exceeded \$100,000. These officers served as executive officers of Clayton Services during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. We refer to these individuals as our "named executive officers."

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary	Bonus	Other Annual Compensation ⁽¹⁾	All Other Compensation
Frank P. Filipps ⁽²⁾ President and Chief Executive Officer	2005 2004	\$ 336,538	\$ 500,000	\$	\$
Frederick C. Herbst ⁽³⁾ Chief Financial Officer	2005 2004	67,308	100,000		
Louis A. Iannaccone ⁽⁴⁾ Chief Information Officer	2005 2004	250,000 43,269	147,300 100,000		5)
Steven L. Cohen ⁽⁶⁾ Senior Vice President and General Counsel	2005 2004	170,769	125,000		
Stephen M. Lamando ⁽⁷⁾ Former President	2005 2004	350,000 275,887			
Brian Newman ⁽⁸⁾ Former Chief Financial Officer	2005 2004	200,522 176,507	109,419 250,000		178,984 ⁽⁹⁾

- (1) Excludes benefits and perquisites received by the named executive officers that do not exceed the lesser of \$50,000 or 10% of any such named executive officer's annual compensation reported in this table.
- (2)
 Mr. Filipps began his employment with us in April 2005. His annual base salary is \$500,000. See " Agreements with Executive Officers."
- (3)
 Mr. Herbst began his employment with us in September 2005. His annual base salary is \$250,000. See " Agreements with Executive Officers."
- (4)
 Mr. Iannacone began his employment with us in November 2004.
- (5) This amount represents payment of \$26,543 for relocation expenses.
- (6)
 Mr. Cohen began his employment with us in January 2005. His annual base salary is \$185,000. See " Agreements with Executive Officers."

- During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, Mr. Lamando served as our Chief Executive Officer and President. Mr. Lamando continued to serve as our Chief Executive Officer until April 2005. In April 2005, Mr. Filipps was appointed as our Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lamando remained as our President. Mr. Lamando resigned as our President, effective December 31, 2005, and Mr. Filipps subsequently replaced him as President.
- (8) On August 31, 2005, Mr. Newman resigned as our Chief Financial Officer.
- (9)

 This amount represents the total severance to be paid to Mr. Newman in conjunction with his resignation and the terms of his Separation Agreement and Mutual Release with us. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, Mr. Newman is entitled to salary continuation through August 31, 2006 in the aggregate amount of \$168,372, and health insurance premium continuation through August 31, 2006 in the aggregate amount of approximately \$10,612. During fiscal 2005, we paid Mr. Newman \$51,807 in salary continuation, and we paid \$3,467 in health insurance premium continuation.

80

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

In fiscal 2005, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 963,978 shares of common stock under our 2005 Option Plan to Mr. Filipps, Mr. Herbst, Mr. Cohen, other employees and non-employee directors. Each of these grants were made at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, as determined by our board of directors. The potential realizable value, if applicable, is calculated based on the term of the option at its time of grant, which is ten years. This value is net of exercise prices and before taxes, and is based on a public offering price of \$17.00 per share and the assumption that our common stock appreciates at the rate shown, compounded annually, from the date of grant until its expiration date. These numbers are calculated based on SEC requirements and do not reflect our projection or estimate of future stock price growth. Actual gains, if any, on stock option exercises will depend on the future performance of the common stock and the date on which the options are exercised. We have not granted any stock appreciation rights.

Option/SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year

	Number of % of Total Securities Options Underlying Granted to Exerci		rants Exercise		Potential Realizable Value at Assumed Annual Rates of Stock Price Appreciation for Option Term	
Name	Options Granted	Employees in 2005	Price Per Share	Expiration Date	5%	10%
Frank P. Filipps	520,833(1)	55.4% \$	6.00	04/25/2015 \$	11,297,497 \$	19,840,415
Frederick C. Herbst	50,000	5.3% \$	6.80	09/28/2015	1,044,560	1,864,681
Louis A. Iannaccone ⁽²⁾						
Steven L. Cohen	22,295	2.4% \$	0.98	03/09/2015	595,526	961,218
Steven L. Cohen	8,955	1.0% \$	6.36	07/27/2015	191,021	337,905
Stephen M. Lamando						
Brian Newman						

- 130,208 of the 520,833 total options granted to Mr. Filipps are subject to performance-based vesting. This performance-based portion of his option grant will become vested and fully exercisable if, prior to October 1, 2006, we complete an initial public offering of our common stock, a public offering of debt securities or a sale event, or if Mr. Filipps is terminated without cause or he terminates his employment for good reason. If none of these events occurs prior to October 1, 2006, no part of the performance-based option will vest and this portion of the option grant will be deemed null and void.
- In fiscal 2004, we granted employees options to purchase shares of common stock under our predecessor option plans. In March 2005, all of these options were converted into options under our 2005 Option Plan. As part of this conversion, options previously granted to Mr. Iannaccone during fiscal 2004 were exchanged for 44,590 options to purchase our common stock, at an exercise price of \$0.98 per share.

Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

None of our named executive officers or directors exercised any options during fiscal 2005. The following table sets forth information concerning the number and value of the unexercised options held by the named executive officers at the end of fiscal year 2005. There was no public market for our common stock as of December 31, 2005. Accordingly, the value of unexercised in-the-money options, if applicable, represents the total gain that would be realized if all in-the-money options held at December 31, 2005 were exercised, determined by multiplying the number of shares underlying the options by the difference between a public offering price of \$17.00 per share and the per share option exercise price.

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option/SAR Values

	Number of		Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options at December 31, 2005		Value of Unexercised In-the-Money Options at December 31, 2005	
Name	Shares Acquired on Exercise	Value Realized	Exercisable	Unexercisable	Exercisable	Unexercisable
Frank P. Filipps			65,104	455,729	\$ 716,144	\$ 5,013,019
Frederick C. Herbst				50,000		510,000
Louis A. Iannaccone			13,005	31,584	208,340	505,975
Steven L. Cohen				31,250		452,477
Stephen M. Lamando						
D ' M						

Brian Newman

Employee Benefit Plans

2005 Stock Option and Grant Plan

Our 2005 Option Plan was adopted by our board of directors and approved by our stockholders on March 31, 2005. In connection with the combination of Clayton Services and CFIS, the outstanding options held by employees and officers of each of Clayton Services and CFIS were converted into options under our 2005 Option Plan. The existing option plans for each of Clayton Services and CFIS were terminated in all respects. We reserved 1,849,559 shares of our common stock for the issuance of awards under the 2005 Option Plan. As of December 31, 2005, 384,288 of these shares were available for issuance.

The 2005 Option Plan is administered by our compensation committee or by our board of directors. The administrator of the 2005 Option Plan has full power and authority to select the participants to whom awards will be granted, to make any combination of awards to participants, to accelerate the exercisability or vesting of any award and to determine the specific terms and conditions of each award, subject to the provisions of the 2005 Option Plan.

The 2005 Option Plan permits us to make grants of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards and unrestricted stock awards to officers, employees, directors, consultants and other key persons. Stock options granted under the 2005 Option Plan have a maximum term of ten years from the date of grant and incentive stock options have an exercise price of no less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

The vesting term for 1,262,108 of the total 1,460,656 options granted under the 2005 Option Plan will automatically accelerate by one year if our initial public offering is completed on or prior to March 31, 2006, or by eight months if completed thereafter. Of the aggregate of 44,590 options granted

to the former NISYS employees, 20% will immediately become vested if our initial public offering is completed on or prior to March 31, 2006.

The 130,208 performance based options granted to Mr. Filipps will immediately become vested upon the completion of our initial public offering. The vesting term of the 23,750 options granted to our non-employee directors are not affected by our completion of an initial public offering.

In the event of a merger, sale or dissolution of Clayton, or a similar "sale event," all stock options will fully vest and be immediately exercisable prior to and subject to the closing of the "sale event," unless the parties to the transaction, in their discretion, provide for appropriate substitutions or assumptions of outstanding awards. The 2005 Option Plan shall also automatically terminate upon the consummation of the "sale event," unless the parties, in their sole discretion, provide otherwise.

In connection with the adoption of our 2006 Stock Option Plan, which is discussed in detail below, our board of directors determined not to grant any further awards under the 2005 Option Plan.

2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

Our 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, or 2006 Option Plan, was adopted by our board of directors and approved by our stockholders in March 2006. The 2006 Option Plan permits us to make grants of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, deferred stock awards, restricted stock awards, unrestricted stock awards, and dividend equivalent rights. We reserved 1,814,130 shares of our common stock for the issuance of awards under the 2006 Option Plan. This number is subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization. Generally, shares that are forfeited or canceled from awards under the 2006 Option Plan also will be available for future awards. As of March 2006, no awards had been granted under the 2006 Option Plan.

The 2006 Option Plan is administered by either a committee of at least two non-employee directors, or by our full board of directors. The administrator of the 2006 Option Plan has full power and authority to select the participants to whom awards will be granted, to make any combination of awards to participants, to accelerate the exercisability or vesting of any award and to determine the specific terms and conditions of each award, subject to the provisions of the 2006 Option Plan.

All full-time and part-time officers, employees, non-employee directors and other key persons (including consultants and prospective employees) are eligible to participate in the 2006 Option Plan, subject to the discretion of the administrator. There are certain limits on the number of awards that may be granted under the 2006 Option Plan. For example, no more than 750,000 shares of stock may be granted in the form of stock options or stock appreciation rights to any one individual during any one-calendar-year period.

The exercise price of stock options awarded under the 2006 Option Plan may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the option grant and the term of each option may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The administrator will determine at what time or times each option may be exercised and, subject to the provisions of the 2006 Option Plan, the period of time, if any, after retirement, death, disability or other termination of employment during which options may be exercised.

To qualify as incentive options, stock options must meet additional federal tax requirements, including a \$100,000 limit on the value of shares subject to incentive options which first become exercisable in any one calendar year, and a shorter term and higher minimum exercise price in the case of certain large stockholders. No incentive stock option awards may be granted under the 2006 Option Plan after March 2016.

Automatic grants of stock options are made to our non-employee directors under the 2006 Option Plan. Each non-employee director, except those directors associated with TA Associates, will automatically be granted, upon his or her election to the board, a non-qualified stock option to acquire 10,000 shares of common stock which will vest in equal installments over three years. Additional grants to our non-employee directors in amounts to be determined will be made every three years. The exercise price of these stock options is the fair market value of our common stock as determined by the board of directors as of the date of the option grant. The administrator also may make discretionary grants of non-qualified options to non-employee directors.

Stock appreciation rights may also be granted under our 2006 Option Plan. Stock appreciation rights allow the recipient to receive the appreciation in the fair market value of our common stock between the exercise date and the date of grant. The administrator determines the terms of stock appreciation rights, including when such rights become exercisable and whether to pay the increased appreciation in cash or with shares of our common stock, or a combination thereof. The exercise price of stock appreciation rights granted under our 2006 Option Plan may not be less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant.

Restricted stock may also be granted under our 2006 Option Plan. Restricted stock awards are shares of our common stock that vest in accordance with terms and conditions established by the administrator. The administrator will determine the number of shares of restricted stock granted to any recipient. The administrator may impose whatever vesting conditions it determines to be appropriate. For example, the administrator may set restrictions based on the achievement of specific performance goals. Shares of restricted stock that do not vest are subject to our right of repurchase or forfeiture.

Deferred and unrestricted stock awards may also be granted under our 2006 Option Plan. Deferred stock awards are units entitling the recipient to receive shares of stock paid out on a deferred basis, and subject to such restrictions and conditions, as the administrator shall determine. Certain grantees, including directors, will be permitted to defer their compensation and receive deferred stock awards in lieu of current cash compensation. All deferred compensation will be structured to meet the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. Our 2006 Option Plan also gives the administrator discretion to grant stock awards free of any restrictions.

Dividend equivalent rights may be granted under our 2006 Option Plan. Dividend equivalent rights are awards entitling the grantee to current or deferred payments equal to dividends on a specified number of shares of stock. Dividend equivalent rights may be settled in cash or shares and subject to other conditions, as the administrator shall determine.

Unless the administrator provides otherwise, our 2006 Option Plan does not allow for the transfer of awards and only the recipient of an award may exercise an award during his or her lifetime.

In the event of a merger, sale or dissolution of Clayton, or a similar "sale event," all stock options and stock appreciation rights granted under the 2006 Option Plan will automatically become fully exercisable and all other awards granted under the 2006 Option Plan will become fully vested and non-forfeitable. In addition, upon the effective time of any such sale event, the 2006 Option Plan and all awards will terminate unless the parties to the transaction, in their discretion, provide for appropriate substitutions or assumptions of outstanding awards.

Our board of directors may amend or discontinue the 2006 Option Plan at any time and the administrator may amend or cancel any outstanding award for the purpose of satisfying changes in law or for any other lawful purpose. No such amendment may adversely affect the rights under any outstanding award without the holder's consent. Other than in the event of a necessary adjustment in connection with a change in the company's stock or a merger or similar transaction, the administrator may not "reprice" or otherwise reduce the exercise price of outstanding stock options. Further, amendments to the 2006 Option Plan will be subject to approval by our stockholders if the amendment

(i) increases the number of shares available for issuance under the 2006 Option Plan, (ii) expands the types of awards available under, the eligibility to participate in, or the duration of, the plan, (iii) materially changes the method of determining fair market value for purposes of the 2006 Option Plan; (iv) is required by the Nasdaq National Market rules, or (v) is required by the Internal Revenue Code to ensure that incentive options are tax-qualified.

Agreements with Executive Officers

On April 25, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with our Chief Executive Officer, Frank P. Filipps. The term of his employment is indefinite unless either party terminates pursuant to the terms and conditions of the agreement. Mr. Filipps' agreement calls for the payment of \$500,000 in annual base salary, with an annual percentage increase equal to the U.S. Consumer Price Index or an amount approved by our board of directors. Mr. Filipps was awarded a performance bonus of \$500,000 as a result of our performance in fiscal year 2005. Mr. Filipps' bonuses in subsequent years of employment will be determined by our board of directors based upon our performance and other individual performance milestones to be determined by the board.

Mr. Filipps' agreement provides standard insurance and retirement benefits. The agreement also provides for severance payments in the event his employment with us is terminated as a result of his disability. In addition, in the case of termination by Mr. Filipps for good reason, or by us without cause, he will receive his full base salary and target bonus for the following 12 months in a single lump sum payment if an initial public offering or a sale event has not occurred prior to termination, and if an initial public offering or sale event has occurred prior to termination, he shall receive a lump sum payment equal to 200% of the sum of his annual base salary and target bonus as in effect on the date of termination. Additionally, Mr. Filipps will receive payment of the pro rata portion of his target bonus for the year in which the termination occurs, and the partially employer-subsidized continuation of group health plan benefits for one year (if an initial public offering or sale event has not occurred prior to termination) or two years (if an initial public offering or sale event has occurred prior to termination). Finally, in the event that any severance payments made to Mr. Filipps would be subject to certain excise taxes by the Internal Revenue Service, we will "gross-up" the payments such that the net amount received by Mr. Filipps, after any such excise taxes are incurred, is equal to the severance amount payment.

In connection with his employment, Mr. Filipps also received an option to purchase 520,833 shares of our common stock. Of the total option grant, the option to purchase 390,625 shares is subject to a four year vesting term, whereby 2.08% of the option vests each month. If an initial public offering is completed on or prior to March 31, 2006, the vesting schedule of the option to purchase 390,625 shares will accelerate by one year, or by eight months if completed thereafter. If Mr. Filipps is terminated without cause or he terminates his employment for good reason, any unvested portion of the option to purchase 390,625 shares will accelerate and become fully exercisable. The remaining option to purchase 130,208 shares of our common stock is subject to performance-based vesting criteria. The option shall become vested and fully exercisable if, prior to October 1, 2006, Clayton completes an initial public offering of our common stock, a public offering of debt securities or a sale event, or if Mr. Filipps is terminated without cause or he terminates his employment for good reason. If none of these events occurs prior to October 1, 2006, no part of the performance-based option will vest and this portion of the option grant will be deemed null and void. The option exercise price for all 520,833 shares is equal to \$6.00, the fair market value of our common stock as of the date of the grant, as determined by the board of directors after receiving an appraisal from an independent appraiser hired by us. The shares received by Mr. Filipps upon exercise of the options are subject to certain transfer restrictions and repurchase rights. These transfer restrictions and repurchase rights terminate upon the closing of this offering.

Mr. Filipps also entered into an employee confidentiality and non-competition agreement with us concurrently with the execution of his employment agreement, whereby Mr. Filipps agreed not to compete with us, or solicit or divert our clients for a period ending two years following the termination of his employment with us for any reason. If Mr. Filipps' employment is terminated prior to a sale event or our initial public offering, the non-competition and non-solicitation periods are reduced to one year. Additionally, Mr. Filipps agreed to refrain from soliciting or hiring any of our employees for a period of one year following the termination of his employment with us for any reason.

Effective September 19, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with our Chief Financial Officer, Frederick C. Herbst. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Herbst is to be paid an annual base salary of \$250,000. Mr. Herbst is eligible to receive an annual performance bonus if certain performance objectives established by our Chief Executive Officer and our board directors each year are satisfied. For fiscal 2005, Mr. Herbst was awarded a performance bonus of \$100,000. Mr. Herbst also receives a \$2,000 monthly travel allowance. Additionally, Mr. Herbst's employment agreement provides customary fringe and retirement benefits. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, Mr. Herbst received an option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of \$6.80 per share, the fair market value of our common stock as of the date of the grant, as determined by the board of directors after receiving an appraisal from an independent appraiser hired by us. Of the total option grant, 25% will vest on the one year anniversary date of the grant, and the remaining shares subject to the option grant vest at a rate of 2.08% per month over the following three years. If we complete an initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006, the vesting schedule of the options will accelerate by one year, or by eights months if completed thereafter.

Mr. Herbst is an employee at-will and his employment agreement may be terminated by either party upon 30 days written notice. Notwithstanding the at-will nature of his employment, if his employment is terminated by us without cause or Mr. Herbst terminates his employment as a result of a material diminution in salary or responsibility, Mr. Herbst is entitled to severance payments equal to one year's salary payable over the twelve months following his termination and continuation of his group health plan benefits so long as he is receiving severance payments. For the period of one year following the termination of his employment, regardless of the reason for such termination, Mr. Herbst's employment agreement requires him to refrain from (i) performing services for a competitor in a similar capacity as to the services he provided to us, (ii) owning any interest in a competitor, (iii) soliciting our clients or suppliers and (iv) hiring our employees or soliciting our vendors or suppliers.

On November 1, 2004, we entered into an employment agreement and, subsequently, a separate assignment of inventions and confidentiality agreement with our Chief Information Officer, Mr. Iannaccone. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Iannaccone is to be paid an annual base salary of \$250,000. Mr. Iannaccone is eligible to receive an annual performance bonus of up to \$200,000 if certain performance objectives, to be established by our board directors each year, are satisfied. Mr. Iannaccone is a employee at-will and his employment agreement may be terminated by either party upon 30 days prior written notice. Notwithstanding the at-will nature of his employment, Mr. Iannaccone is entitled to severance payments equal to one year's salary if his employment is involuntarily terminated by us without cause or voluntarily terminated by him with good reason. Mr. Iannaccone's employment agreement provides customary fringe and retirement benefits. Mr. Iannaccone's assignment of inventions and confidentiality agreements require him to refrain from competing with us or hiring our employees for a period of one year, following the termination of his employment for any reason.

On January 31, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, Mr. Cohen. In accordance with the employment agreement, Mr. Cohen is to be paid an annual base salary of \$185,000. Mr. Cohen is eligible to receive a targeted annual performance bonus of up to \$120,000 if certain performance objectives, to be established by our board

directors each year, are satisfied. Mr. Cohen is an employee at-will and his employment agreement may be terminated by either party upon 30 days prior written notice. Notwithstanding the at-will nature of his employment, Mr. Cohen is entitled to severance payments equal to one year's salary if his employment is terminated either (i) as a result of a change of control or (ii) through a material diminution in responsibility, in each case without cause. Mr. Cohen's employment agreement provides customary fringe and retirement benefits, and requires him to refrain from (i) competing with us or soliciting our clients for a period of six months and (ii) hiring our employees or soliciting our vendors or suppliers for a period of one year, following the termination of his employment, regardless of the reason for such termination.

On June 29, 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Stephen M. Lamando. Effective December 31, 2005, Mr. Lamando resigned as our President and from all other officer positions that he held with us and our subsidiaries. Certain confidentiality provisions and other obligations upon Mr. Lamando in his employment agreement survive his resignation. On August 2, 2004, Mr. Lamando entered into a non-competition agreement with us. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, Mr. Lamando is prohibited from competing with us until August 2, 2009. Additionally, the non-competition agreement provides that, during such non-competition period, Mr. Lamando will not hire or solicit any of our employees (or employees of our affiliates) that we had employed within the previous eighteen months, encourage any client or employee of ours to terminate its relationship with us, or solicit any company that had been our client within the past eighteen months.

On May 24, 2004, we entered into a trade secret and non-competition agreement with Margaret Sue Ellis. The agreement requires Ms. Ellis to refrain from competing with us, soliciting our clients and from hiring any employee that had been employed with us within the past six months, for a period of two years following the termination of her relationship with us for any reason.

On August 31, 2005, we entered into a Separation Agreement and Mutual Release with Brian Newman, in connection with his resignation as our Chief Financial Officer. This agreement provides for salary continuation in the aggregate amount of \$168,372, and health insurance premium continuation in the aggregate amount of approximately \$10,612, each through August 31, 2006. This agreement contains standard confidentiality provisions and assignment of inventions, and requires Mr. Newman to refrain from competing with us, soliciting our clients and from hiring any employee that had been employed with us within the past three months, through August 31, 2006. Subject to limited exceptions in the agreement, Clayton and Mr. Newman mutually released each other from all claims arising from his employment. In connection with his execution of this agreement, Mr. Newman received a final retention bonus payment in the amount of \$108,333.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, we have adopted provisions in our certificate of incorporation and by-laws to be in effect at the closing of this offering that limit or eliminate the personal liability of our directors. Consequently, a director will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability for:

any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

any unlawful payments related to dividends or unlawful stock repurchases, redemptions or other distributions; or

any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

87

These limitations of liability do not alter director liability under the federal securities laws and do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as an injunction or rescission.

In addition, our by-laws provide that:

we will indemnify our directors, executive officers and, in the discretion of our board of directors, employees to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law; and

we will advance expenses, including attorneys' fees, to our directors and, in the discretion of our board of directors, to executive officers and employees, in connection with legal proceedings, subject to limited exceptions.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors, Frank P. Filipps, Frederick C. Herbst, Louis A. Iannaccone and Steven L. Cohen. These agreements provide that we will indemnify these directors and executive officers to the fullest extent permitted by law and our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, and advance expenses to each indemnitee in connection with any proceeding in which indemnification is available.

We also maintain a general liability insurance which covers certain liabilities of our directors and officers arising out of claims based on acts or omissions in their capacities as directors or officers, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors or officers of Clayton, or persons controlling Clayton pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is therefore unenforceable.

These provisions may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. These provisions may also have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. Furthermore, a stockholder's investment may be adversely affected to the extent we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions. We believe that these provisions, the indemnification agreements and the insurance are necessary to attract and retain talented and experienced directors and officers.

At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors or officers where indemnification will be required or permitted. We are not aware of any threatened litigation or proceeding that might result in a claim for such indemnification.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

General

Roger Kafker, one of our directors, is a Managing Director of TA Associates, and Todd Crockett, also one of our directors, is a Principal of TA Associates. TA Associates and the investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, which invested in Clayton Services and CFIS, formerly The Murrayhill Company, are collectively referred to in this section as TA Associates.

The Clayton Services and CFIS Transactions

In May 2004, TA Associates purchased 77% of the outstanding common stock of CFIS for an aggregate purchase price of \$31.7 million. TA Associates acquired 88% of this common stock directly from the CFIS stockholders, Margaret Sue Ellis and Harvey Allon, Ms. Ellis' husband, and the remaining 12% from new issuances by CFIS. TA Associates also purchased \$10.0 million in principal amount of CFIS's 12% senior subordinated convertible notes due May 24, 2010. The proceeds from this financing were used to redeem additional CFIS common stock owned by Ms. Ellis and Mr. Allon. As a result of these transactions, Ms. Ellis received aggregate net proceeds of \$6.8 million and Mr. Allon received \$30.9 million. Ms. Ellis currently serves as one of our directors. Immediately after the CFIS transaction, the shares purchased by TA Associates and the remaining shares held by Ms. Ellis and Mr. Allon were exchanged for shares of TMHC convertible preferred stock and common stock, respectively. Ms. Ellis and Mr. Allon retained 21.7% and 1.6%, respectively, of TMHC's outstanding capital stock. The price paid in the purchase and redemption of CFIS common stock was determined by arms-length negotiations with TA Associates, and reflects CFIS's pre-transaction capital structure, which did not include any indebtedness. Subsequently, in August 2004, the senior subordinated convertible notes held by TA Associates were converted into warrants to purchase 72,451 shares of common stock of TMHC, which were immediately exercised, and 12% senior subordinated notes in the principal amount of \$10.0 million. In connection with the consummation of our new credit facility with BNP Paribas on December 8, 2005, all amounts outstanding under the senior subordinated notes were repaid, including principal of \$10.0 million and applicable prepayment penalties of \$0.5 million.

In August 2004, TA Associates, together with certain other investors, consummated a transaction with the former Clayton Services and First Madison whereby a newly formed company organized by TA Associates (GRP, the holding company of the current Clayton Services) purchased substantially all of the assets of the former Clayton Services and the capital stock of First Madison for \$120.0 million, plus up to an additional \$40.0 million in contingent payments, as discussed below. The aggregate purchase price paid at closing includes the purchase by TA Associates and other investors of GRP's convertible preferred stock for \$70.0 million, and the purchase by TA Associates and other investors, including management, of \$20.0 million in principal amount of Clayton Services' 12% subordinated notes due August 2, 2010. Additionally, Clayton Services entered into a \$40.0 million senior credit facility with Madison Capital Funding LLC to finance the transaction. Of the total amount of \$130.0 million in aggregate cash proceeds, \$120.0 million was ultimately paid at the closing to the Clayton Founders pro rata in accordance with their respective historical interests in Clayton Services and First Madison, of which Stephen M. Lamando held a total interest of 81%. The remaining \$10.0 million of the aggregate proceeds, plus an additional \$10.0 million provided by the purchasers of the convertible preferred stock, were each placed in escrow in order to fund two of the four contingent earn-out payments to the Clayton Founders, as described below. In connection with the consummation of our new credit facility with BNP Paribas on December 8, 2005, all amounts outstanding under the subordinated notes were repaid, including principal of \$20.0 million, accrued interest of \$0.2 million and applicable prepayment penalties of \$0.8 million.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement executed in connection with the acquisition by TA Associates of Clayton Services and First Madison, and as amended in connection with the March 2005 combination of Clayton Services and CFIS, the Clayton Founders, including Mr. Lamando, were entitled to up to an additional \$40.0 million in accordance with an earn-out provision based upon Clayton's performance in fiscal years 2004 and 2005. The earn-out provision provided that four separate \$10.0 million contingent payments would be paid to the Clayton Founders, pro rata in accordance with their respective historical interests in Clayton Services, of which Mr. Lamando held 81%, upon the achievement of financial operating milestones or upon the occurrence of a "qualified public offering," as such term is defined in our certificate of incorporation, as amended. In August 2005, the Clayton Founders received a \$10.0 million contingent payment for meeting the first financial milestone, and this contingent payment was funded through \$10.0 million held in restricted cash on Clayton's balance sheet. The \$10.0 million used to fund this contingent payment was contributed by the purchasers of Clayton Services and First Madison.

The agreement concerning the earn-out provisions was further amended in November 2005. In accordance with the terms of this amendment, the second \$10.0 million contingent payment was deemed earned based upon Clayton Services' fiscal 2005 performance to-date, and was immediately paid to the Clayton Founders. The funds for this contingent payment were released from an escrow account funded at the closing of the August 2004 transaction. Additionally, the amendment provided that the Clayton Founders would receive \$13.25 million in satisfaction of the third and fourth contingent payment, irrespective of whether the financial milestones were achieved, upon the earliest to occur of any of the following four events: (i) the completion of an initial public offering; (ii) the consummation of a sale event, including the sale of Clayton; (iii) the completion of a recapitalization of Clayton in which all amounts outstanding under the senior credit facility were repaid, all outstanding senior subordinated notes and subordinated notes were repaid in full and the holders of convertible preferred stock were paid an extraordinary dividend (in accordance with the terms of our certificate of incorporation); or (iv) the later of March 31, 2006 or the delivery of our audited financial statements for fiscal year 2005, but in no event later than May 1, 2006. Upon the completion of our recapitalization and new credit facility with BNP Paribas on December 8, 2005, the Clayton Founders were paid the \$13.25 million and all obligations of Clayton with respect to the earn-out provisions of the 2004 acquisition were satisfied and discharged in full. Mr. Lamando received approximately \$10.7 million of this \$13.25 million payment.

The Clayton Services/CFIS Combination

In March 2005, in connection with the combination of GRP, the holding company of Clayton Services, and TMHC, the holding company of CFIS, formerly The Murrayhill Company, and the subsequent reorganization into Clayton Holdings, Inc., TA Associates and the existing stockholders of each of GRP and TMHC entered into a share exchange agreement with us, whereby shares of common stock and convertible preferred stock of each of GRP and TMHC were exchanged for our common stock, class B common stock, series A convertible preferred stock and series B convertible preferred stock. A special committee of the boards of directors of each of GRP and TMHC evaluated the exchange ratios and share exchange agreement and authorized the share exchange. The share exchange was also approved and authorized by the stockholders of each of GRP and TMHC. Following the share exchange, TA Associates controlled approximately 60% of our capital stock on a fully-diluted basis, and the Clayton Founders owned approximately 20% of our capital stock on a fully-diluted basis.

In connection with the combination of Clayton Services and CFIS, TA Associates received 8,825,241 shares of series A convertible preferred stock. Upon the completion of this offering, these shares of series A convertible preferred stock will convert into 2,206,308 shares of our common stock and 8,825,241 shares of our series A redeemable preferred stock. Additionally, TA Associates received 23,413,615 shares of our series B convertible preferred stock in connection with the combination. Upon

the completion of this offering, these shares of series B convertible preferred stock will convert into 5,853,402 shares of our common stock and 23,413,615 shares of our series B redeemable preferred stock.

Recapitalization and Preferred Stock Dividend

On December 8, 2005, we entered into a new \$190.0 million senior credit facility with BNP Paribas, which included a \$150.0 million term loan and a \$40.0 million revolving credit facility. On January 11, 2006 we amended the credit facility to increase the revolving credit facility to \$45.0 million. The initial term loan of \$150.0 million was used to: (i) repay and retire all \$45.6 million outstanding under our prior senior credit facility, (ii) repay all \$31.5 million owed pursuant to our outstanding subordinated and senior subordinated notes, (iii) pay a \$1.69 per share dividend to our holders of preferred stock, including investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, for an aggregate dividend payment of \$55.85 million, and (iv) pay \$13.25 million to the Clayton Founders, in satisfaction of the earn-out arrangement described above. As a result of the recapitalization and related transactions on December 8, 2005, investment funds affiliated with TA Associates received \$79.3 million, Mr. Lamando received \$17.0 million and Mr. Brian Libman received \$1.2 million.

Upon the completion of this offering, the shares of series A and series B redeemable preferred stock to be issued upon conversion of the Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred stock will be immediately redeemed upon issuance for an aggregate of \$52.8 million, \$51.4 million of which will be paid to investment funds affiliated with TA Associates and \$0.9 million of which will be paid to Mr. Brian Libman.

Stockholders Agreement

In connection with the investment in us by TA Associates, we entered into a stockholders agreement, dated as of March 31, 2005, with TA Associates and the Clayton Founders and the CFIS Founders, including Ms. Ellis and Mr. Lamando, each of whom is a director and significant stockholder. The stockholders agreement contains rights of first refusal and co-sale, preemptive rights and voting obligations. The stockholders agreement also enables TA Associates to require all of the other stockholders to participate in a sale event in which it elects to participate. These provisions, as well as most other provisions, of the stockholders agreement terminate upon the closing of this offering. However, certain provisions of the stockholders agreement survive the closing of this offering. In particular, the surviving provisions include our covenant to indemnify TA Associates, subject to exceptions, for a breach of any of our covenants under the stockholders agreement or for damages, losses or diminutions in value sustained by TA Associates arising out of, based upon or by reason of any third party or governmental claims relating to TA Associates' status as a security holder, creditor, director, agent, representative or controlling person of us, or otherwise relating to TA Associates' involvement with us. In addition, we have covenanted to reimburse TA Associates for costs and expenses incurred in connection with their ongoing investment in us, which covenant also survives the closing of this offering so long as any member of TA Associates or its affiliates is a member of our board of directors.

Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the investment in us by TA Associates, we entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of March 31, 2005, with the investments funds affiliated with TA Associates and the Clayton Founders, including Mr. Lamando, and Ms. Ellis. Pursuant to this agreement, under certain circumstances these stockholders are entitled to require us to register their shares of common stock under the securities laws for resale. See "Description of Capital Stock Registration Rights."

Indemnification and Employment Agreements

We have agreed to indemnify our directors and officers in certain circumstances. See "Management Limitation of Liability and Indemnification." We have also entered into employment agreements and non-competition agreements with our executive officers. See "Management Limitation of Liability and Indemnification" and "Management Agreements with Executive Officers."

Customer Relationship with Mr. Filipps

Since 1995, Frank P. Filipps, our President and Chief Executive Officer, has served on the Board of Directors of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., or Impac. Impac acquires and originates non-conforming residential and commercial loans. We provide services to Impac, and have received approximately \$644,000 in revenue in fiscal 2005. Impac has been our customer since 2002. Mr. Filipps was appointed our Chief Executive Officer in April 2005.

Customer Relationship with Ms. Ellis

The husband of Margaret Sue Ellis, a member of our board of directors, is a Managing Director of Braddock Financial Corporation, an investment firm. CFIS provides credit risk management services to Braddock Financial Corporation and received approximately \$567,800 in revenue from Braddock Financial Corporation during fiscal 2005.

92

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock, as of January 31, 2006, and as adjusted to reflect the sale of common stock offered by us in this offering, for:

each beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common stock;

each of our named executive officers;

each of our directors; and

all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, shares of common stock subject to options or warrants held by that person that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006 are deemed outstanding, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person. These rules generally attribute beneficial ownership of securities to persons who possess sole or shared voting power or investment power with respect to such securities. Except as otherwise indicated, all of the shares reflected in the table are shares of common stock and all persons listed below have sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned by them, subject to applicable community property laws. Ownership calculations below are based on 11,891,306 shares outstanding as of January 31, 2006 which assumes the conversion of all outstanding shares of our class B common stock, the conversion of all of our series A convertible preferred stock and the conversion of all of our series B convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 8,609,699 shares of common stock that will occur at the closing of this offering.

We have granted to the underwriters the option to purchase up to an additional 1,125,000 shares of common stock at the public offering price, less the underwriting discount, within 30 days from the date of this prospectus to cover over-allotments, if any. Information in the following table assumes that the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option.

	Beneficial Owne Prior to Offer	•	Beneficial Owne After Offeri	•
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner ⁽¹⁾	Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage	Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage
TA Associates Funds ⁽²⁾	8,283,227	69.66%	8,283,227	42.72%
Frank P. Filipps ⁽³⁾	89,518(3)	*	317,382 ⁽⁴⁾	1.61
Stephen M. Lamando ⁽⁵⁾	925,602	7.78	925,602	4.77
BNS Family Irrevocable Trust ⁽⁶⁾	1,311,153	11.03	1,311,153	6.76
Frederick C. Herbst		*	19,791 ⁽⁷⁾	*
Louis A. Iannaccone	15,790(8)	*	26,937(9)	*
Steven L. Cohen	6,038 ⁽¹⁰⁾	*	15,529(11)	*
Todd R. Crockett ⁽¹²⁾	8,283,227	69.66	8,283,227	42.72
Margaret Sue Ellis	624,823	5.25	624,823	3.22
Roger B. Kafker ⁽¹³⁾	8,283,227	69.66	8,283,227	42.72
Brian L. Libman ⁽¹⁴⁾	131,568	1.11	131,568	*
Frank L. Raiter		*		*
All executive officers and directors as a group				
(10 persons)	$10,076,566^{(15)}$	83.95%	$10,344,859^{(16)}$	52.32%

Represents less than 1% of the outstanding shares of common stock.

Except as otherwise indicated, addresses are c/o Clayton Holdings, Inc., 2 Corporate Drive, Shelton, Connecticut, 06484. The address of TA Associates, Mr. Crockett and Mr. Kafker is c/o TA Associates, Inc., 125 High Street, High Street Tower, Suite 2500, Boston, Massachusetts 02110.

Amounts shown reflect the aggregate number shares of common stock held by TA IX, L.P., TA/Atlantic and Pacific IV, L.P., TA Strategic Partners Fund A, L.P., TA Strategic Partners Fund B, L.P., TA Investors II, L.P. and TA Subordinated Debt Fund, L.P. (collectively, the "TA Associates Funds").

Investment and voting control of the TA Associates Funds is held by TA Associates, Inc. No stockholder, director or officer of TA Associates, Inc. has voting or investment power with respect to our shares of common stock held by the TA Associates Funds. Voting and investment power with respect to such shares is vested in a five-person investment committee consisting of the following employees of TA Associates: Messrs. Jeffrey T. Chambers, Todd R. Crockett, Jonathan M. Goldstein, Roger B. Kafker and C. Kevin Landry. Mr. Kafker is a Managing Director of TA Associates, Inc., the manager of the general partner of TA IX L.P. and TA Subordinated Debt Fund L.P., and the general partner of TA/Atlantic and Pacific IV, L.P., TA Strategic Partners Fund A L.P., TA Strategic Partners Fund B L.P. and TA Investors II, L.P. Mr. Crockett is a Principal of TA Associates, Inc. Messrs. Kafker and Crockett have been members of our board of directors since August 2004. See Notes 12 and 13 below.

- (3) Includes 89,518 shares subject to options that are immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006.
- (4)
 Includes 317,382 shares subject to options that will be immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006, assuming we complete our initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006 and, as a result, the vesting terms of Mr. Filipps' options accelerate pursuant to the terms of his option agreement.
- (5)
 Includes 58,858 shares held by the Lamando Charitable Remainder Unitrust (the "Charitable Trust"). Mr. Lamando is the trustee of the Charitable Trust and has sole voting, investment and dispositive power over the shares held by the Charitable Trust.
- (6)
 Nicholas Lamando, the brother of Stephen M. Lamando, is the trustee of the BNS Family Irrevocable Trust (the "Family Trust") and has sole voting, investment and dispositive power over the shares held by the Family Trust. The beneficiaries of the Family Trust are Stephen M. Lamando's children.
- (7)
 Includes 19,791 shares subject to options that will be immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006, assuming we complete our initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006 and, as a result, the vesting terms of Mr. Herbst's options accelerate pursuant to the terms of his option agreement.
- (8) Includes 15,790 shares subject to options that are immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006.
- (9)
 Includes 26,937 shares subject to options that will be immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006, assuming we complete our initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006 and, as a result, the vesting terms of Mr. Iannaccone's options accelerate pursuant to the terms of his option agreement.
- (10) Includes 6,038 shares subject to options that are immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006.
- (11)
 Includes 15,529 shares subject to options that will be immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006, assuming we complete our initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006 and, as a result, the vesting terms of Mr. Cohen's options accelerate pursuant to the terms of his option agreements.
- Mr. Crockett is a Principal of TA Associates and may be considered to have beneficial ownership of TA Associates, Inc.'s interest in us. Mr. Crockett disclaims beneficial ownership of all such shares. Mr. Crockett has been a member of our board of directors since August 2004. See Note 2 above.

(13)

Mr. Kafker is a Managing Director of TA Associates and may be considered to have beneficial ownership of TA Associates, Inc.'s interest in us. Mr. Kafker disclaims beneficial ownership of all such shares. Mr. Kafker has been a member of our board of directors since August 2004. See Note 2 above.

- (14) Of the shares held by Mr. Libman, 131,568 shares are held of record by Libman Family Holdings LLC. Mr. Libman has sole voting and investment power with respect to these shares.
- (15) Includes 111,346 shares subject to options that are immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006.
- (16)
 Includes 379,639 shares subject to options that will be immediately exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2006, assuming we complete our initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006 and, as a result, the vesting terms of our executive officers' options accelerate pursuant to the terms of their option agreements.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

Upon completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of 150,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share. The following description of our capital stock is intended as a summary only and is qualified in its entirety by reference to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws to be in effect at the closing of this offering, which are filed as exhibits to the registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part, and to the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law. We refer in this section to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation as our certificate of incorporation, and we refer to our amended and restated by-laws as our by-laws.

As of January 31, 2006, there were 3,281,607 shares of our common stock outstanding held by 13 stockholders of record, 357,020 shares of our class B common stock outstanding held by 5 stockholders of record, 8,825,241 shares of our series A preferred stock outstanding held by 5 stockholders of record, 24,185,493 shares of our series B convertible preferred stock outstanding held by 7 stockholders of record and outstanding options to purchase 1,460,656 shares of our common stock under our stock option plans. Upon the completion of this offering, each share of our currently outstanding series A preferred stock and series B preferred stock will be converted into an aggregate of 8,252,679 shares of common stock and 33,010,734 shares of redeemable preferred stock. Upon the completion of the offering, all redeemable preferred stock will be immediately redeemed as discussed in "Use of Proceeds."

Common Stock

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders. The holders of our common stock do not have any cumulative voting rights. Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive proportionally any dividends declared by our board of directors, subject to any preferential dividend rights of any outstanding preferred stock. The holders of our class B common stock do not have any voting rights, other than as required by law. Each share of class B common stock will convert automatically into a share of common stock immediately upon the completion of this offering.

In the event of our liquidation or dissolution, holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of all debts and other liabilities, subject to the prior rights of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The shares to be issued by us in this offering will be, when issued and paid for, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

Preferred Stock

Upon completion of this offering, our board of directors will be authorized, without action by the stockholders, to designate and issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. The board of directors can fix the rights, preferences and privileges of the shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations or restrictions. Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible future financings and acquisitions and other corporate purposes could, under certain circumstances, have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Clayton and might harm the market price of our common stock.

Our board of directors will make any determination to issue such shares based on its judgment as to Clayton's best interests and the best interests of our stockholders. We have no current plans to issue any shares of preferred stock.

Registration Rights

We entered into a registration rights agreement, dated as of March 31, 2005, with investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, members of our board of directors, including Mr. Lamando and Ms. Ellis, and other stockholders. Subject to the terms of this agreement, holders of shares having registration rights, or registrable securities, can demand that we file a registration statement or request that their shares be covered by a registration statement that we are otherwise filing.

Demand Registration Rights. At any time after the effective date of this offering, subject to certain exceptions, the holders of a majority of the then outstanding registrable securities, which is currently TA Associates, have the right to demand that we file a registration statement on Form S-1 covering the offering and sale of their shares of our common stock that are subject to the registration rights agreement, provided, however, that we are not obligated to cause the registration statement to become effective prior to the date which is six months following the effective date of this offering. We are not obligated to file a registration statement on Form S-1 on more than three occasions upon the request of the holders of a majority of registrable securities; however, this offering will not count toward that limitation. After the completion of this offering, the investment funds affiliated with TA Associates will own 8,283,227 shares of our common stock.

If we are eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3, TA Associates, Mr. Lamando and Ms. Ellis each have the right to demand, on one or more occasions, that we file registration statements on Form S-3 to cover the offer and sale of their shares of our common stock subject to the registration rights agreement, provided that the aggregate amount of securities to be sold pursuant to such request exceeds \$500,000.

We have the ability to delay the filing of a registration statement under specified conditions, such as for a period of time following the effective date of a prior registration statement, if our board of directors deems it advisable to delay such filing or if we are in possession of material nonpublic information that would be in our best interests not to disclose. Such postponements cannot exceed 90 days during any twelve month period.

Piggyback Registration Rights. All parties to the registration rights agreement have piggyback registration rights. Under these provisions, if we register any securities for public sale, including pursuant to any stockholder initiated demand registration, these stockholders will have the right to include their shares in the registration statement, subject to customary exceptions. The underwriters of any underwritten offering will have the right to limit the number of shares having registration rights to be included in the registration statement, and piggyback registration rights are also subject to the priority rights of stockholders having demand registration rights in any demand registration.

Expenses of Registration. We will pay all registration expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions, related to any demand or piggyback registration.

Indemnification. The registration rights agreement contains customary cross-indemnification provisions, pursuant to which we are obligated to indemnify the selling stockholders in the event of material misstatements or omissions in the registration statement attributable to us, and they are obligated to indemnify us for material misstatements or omissions attributable to them.

Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws will, upon completion of this offering, include a number of provisions that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another party from acquiring control of us and encouraging persons considering unsolicited tender offers or other unilateral takeover proposals to negotiate with our board of directors rather than pursue non-negotiated takeover attempts. These provisions include the items described below.

Board Composition and Filling Vacancies. In accordance with our certificate of incorporation, our board is divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, with one class being elected each year. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that directors may be removed only for cause and then only by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% or more of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors. Furthermore, any vacancy on our board of directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the size of our board, may only be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of our directors then in office even if less than a quorum.

No Written Consent of Stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation provides that all stockholder actions are required to be taken by a vote of the stockholders at an annual or special meeting, and that stockholders may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting. This limit may lengthen the amount of time required to take stockholder actions and would prevent the amendment of our by-laws or removal of directors by our stockholder without holding a meeting of stockholders.

Meetings of Stockholders. Our by-laws provide that only a majority of the members of our board of directors then in office may call special meetings of stockholders and only those matters set forth in the notice of the special meeting may be considered or acted upon at a special meeting of stockholders. Our by-laws limit the business that may be conducted at an annual meeting of stockholders to those matters properly brought before the meeting.

Advance Notice Requirements. Our by-laws establish advance notice procedures with regard to stockholder proposals relating to the nomination of candidates for election as directors or new business to be brought before meetings of our stockholders. These procedures provide that notice of stockholder proposals must be timely given in writing to our corporate secretary prior to the meeting at which the action is to be taken. Generally, to be timely, notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary date of the annual meeting for the preceding year. The notice must contain certain information specified in the by-laws.

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws. As required by the Delaware General Corporation Law, any amendment of our certificate of incorporation must first be approved by a majority of our board of directors, and if required by law or our certificate of incorporation, must thereafter be approved by a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the amendment, and a majority of the outstanding shares of each class entitled to vote thereon as a class, except that the amendment of the provisions relating to stockholder action, directors, limitation of liability and the amendment of our certificate of incorporation must be approved by not less than 75% of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the amendment, and not less than 75% of the outstanding shares of each class entitled to vote thereon as a class. Our by-laws may be amended by the affirmative vote of a majority vote of the directors then in office, subject to any limitations set forth in the by-laws; and may also be amended by the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the amendment, or, if the board of directors recommends that the stockholders approve the amendment, by the affirmative vote of the majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the amendment, in each case voting together as a single class.

Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our certificate of incorporation provides for 10,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock may

enable our board of directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise. For example, if in the due exercise of its fiduciary obligations, our board of directors were to determine that a takeover proposal is not in the best interests of us or our stockholders, our board of directors could cause shares of preferred stock to be issued without stockholder approval in one or more private offerings or other transactions that might dilute the voting or other rights of the proposed acquirer or insurgent stockholder or stockholder group. In this regard, our certificate of incorporation grants our board of directors broad power to establish the rights and preferences of authorized and unissued shares of preferred stock. The issuance of shares of preferred stock could decrease the amount of earnings and assets available for distribution to holders of shares of common stock. The issuance may also adversely affect the rights and powers, including voting rights, of these holders and may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control of us.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law

Upon completion of this offering, we will be subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a "business combination" with an "interested stockholder" for a three-year period following the time that this stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. A "business combination" includes, among other things, a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An "interested stockholder" is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or did own within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, 15% or more of the corporation's voting stock. Under Section 203, a business combination between a corporation and an interested stockholder is prohibited unless it satisfies one of the following conditions:

before the stockholder became interested, the board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers, and employee stock plans, in some instances; or

at or after the time the stockholder became interested, the business combination was approved by the board of directors of the corporation and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Nasdaq National Market Listing

Our common stock has been approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market under the trading symbol "CLAY."

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, Inc.

98

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Immediately prior to this offering, there was no public market for our common stock. Future sales of substantial amounts of common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Although we have applied to have our common stock approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market, we cannot assure you that there will be an active public market for our common stock.

Upon completion of this offering, we will have outstanding an aggregate of 19,391,306 shares of common stock, assuming the issuance of 7,500,000 shares of common stock offered hereby and no exercise of options after January 31, 2006. Of these shares, the 7,500,000 shares sold in this offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act of 1933, except for any shares purchased by our "affiliates," as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, whose sales would be subject to certain limitations and restrictions described below, and except for shares sold to executive officers pursuant to the directed share program described in "Underwriting." See "Lock-up Agreements."

The remaining 11,891,306 shares of common stock held by existing stockholders were issued and sold by us in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. All of these shares will be subject to "lock-up" agreements described below on the effective date of this offering. On the effective date of this offering, there will be no shares which are not subject to lock-up agreements and eligible for sale pursuant to Rule 144(k). Upon expiration of the lock-up agreements 180 days after the effective date of this offering (unless extended in certain specified circumstances described below), 11,891,306 shares will become eligible for sale, subject in most cases to the limitations of Rule 144. In addition, holders of stock options could exercise such options and sell certain of the shares issued upon exercise as described below. The table below assumes that none of the shares of common stock purchased in the directed share program will be subject to a lock-up agreement. See "Lock-up Agreements."

Days After Date of this Prospectus Shares Eligible for Sale		Comment
Upon Effectiveness	7,500,000	Shares sold in the offering.
Upon Effectiveness	0	Freely tradable shares saleable under Rule 144(k) that are not subject to the lock-up.
90 Days	0	Shares saleable under Rules 144 and 701 that are not subject to a lock-up.
180 Days	11,891,306	Lock-up released; shares saleable under Rules 144 and 701.
Thereafter	0	Restricted securities held for one year or less.

Employee Benefit Plans

As of January 31, 2006, there were a total of 1,460,656 shares of common stock subject to outstanding options under our 2005 Option Plan, 261,479 of which were vested and exercisable. However, all of these shares are subject to lock-up agreements. All options are subject to 180 day lock-up agreements. Immediately after the completion of this offering, we intend to file registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act of 1933 to register all of the shares of common stock issued or reserved for future issuance under the 2005 Option Plan and the 2006 Option Plan. Assuming we complete our initial public offering on or prior to March 31, 2006, on the date which is 180 days, subject to extension under certain circumstances as described in "Underwriting," after the effective date of this offering, a total of approximately 938,112 shares of common stock subject to outstanding options

will be vested and exercisable. After the effective dates of the registration statements on Form S-8, shares purchased upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2005 Option Plan and the 2006 Option Plan generally would be available for resale in the public market.

Lock-up Agreements

All directors, officers, stockholders and optionholders have entered into lock-up agreements under which they have agreed not to directly or indirectly transfer, dispose of or hedge any shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of our common stock for a period of 180 days from the date of this prospectus. Transfers or dispositions can be made sooner:

by gift;

by will or intestate succession to immediate family members; and

to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the transferor or his or her immediate family;

provided in each case that the recipient of those shares agrees to be bound by the foregoing restrictions for the duration of the 180 days. In addition, transfers or dispositions can be made sooner with the prior written consent of William Blair & Company, L.L.C. Lastly, during the 180 lock-up period, a 10b5-1 trading plan that complies with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 may be established or amended, so long as there are no sales of our common stock under such plans during the lock-up period.

Any shares of common stock purchased in the directed share program by executive officers will be subject to the lock-up period described above. Any other participant in the directed share program who purchases shares of common stock will not be subject to a lock-up with respect to such shares.

In addition, we have agreed that, without the prior written consent of William Blair & Company, L.L.C., we will not offer, transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of common stock, any security convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of common stock or any securities substantially similar to our common stock until a date that is 180 days after the date of this prospectus. Our agreement with the underwriters provides, however, that we may, without such consent, grant options and sell shares pursuant to our stock plans, and issue a number of shares of our common stock with a value of up to an aggregate of \$25.0 million in connection with one or more acquisitions, provided in each case that the recipients of those shares agree to be bound by the foregoing restrictions for the duration of the 180 days.

The 180-day lock-up periods described above will be extended if (1) we release earnings results or material news or a material event relating to our company occurs during the last 17 days of the lock-up period, or (2) prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the lock-up period. In either case, the lock-up period will be extended for 18 days after the date of the release of the earnings results or the occurrence of the material news or material event. To the extent shares of our common stock are released before the expiration of the lock-up period and these shares are sold into the market, the market price of our common stock could decline.

Rule 144

In general, subject to the lock-up agreements discussed above, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, a person who has beneficially owned shares of our common stock for at least one year, including an affiliate of ours, would be entitled to sell in

100

"broker's transactions" or to market makers, within any three-month period, a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:

1% of the number of shares of our common stock then outstanding, which will equal approximately 193,913 shares immediately after this offering; or

the average weekly trading volume in our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to such sale.

Sales under Rule 144 are generally subject to the availability of current public information about us.

Rule 144(k)

Under Rule 144(k), a person who is not deemed to have been an affiliate of ours at any time during the 90 days preceding a sale, and who has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least two years, is entitled to sell such shares without having to comply with the manner of sale, public information, volume limitation or notice filing provisions of Rule 144. Therefore, unless otherwise restricted, "144(k) shares" may be sold immediately upon the completion of this offering.

Rule 701

In general, subject to the lock-up agreements discussed above, under Rule 701, any of our employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors who purchase shares from us in connection with a compensatory stock or option plan or other written agreement before the effective date of this offering is entitled to sell such shares 90 days after the effective date of this offering in reliance on Rule 144, without having to comply with the holding period and notice filing requirements of Rule 144 and, in the case of non-affiliates, without having to comply with the public information, volume limitation or notice filing provisions of Rule 144.

The SEC has indicated that Rule 701 will apply to typical stock options granted by an issuer before it becomes subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, along with the shares acquired upon exercise of such options, including exercises after the date of this prospectus. Securities issued in reliance on Rule 701 are restricted securities and subject to the contractual restrictions described above. Beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, such securities may be sold by persons other than affiliates subject only to the manner of sale provisions of Rule 144 and by affiliates without compliance with the one year minimum holding period requirements under Rule 144.

Registration Rights

Upon completion of this offering, the holders of at least 11,886,693 shares of our common stock will be eligible for certain rights with respect to the registration of such shares under the Securities Act of 1933. See "Description of Capital Stock Registration Rights." Upon the effectiveness of a registration statement covering these shares, the shares would become freely tradable.

101

UNDERWRITING

The underwriters named below have severally agreed, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the underwriting agreement by and among the underwriters and us, to purchase from us the respective number of shares of common stock set forth opposite each underwriter's name in the table below. William Blair & Company, L.L.C. is acting as Sole Book-Running Manager and Piper Jaffray & Co. is acting as Co-Lead Manager for this offering.

Underwriter	Number of Shares
William Blair & Company, L.L.C.	3,024,000
Piper Jaffray & Co.	2,232,000
SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc.	792,000
JMP Securities LLC	720,000
America's Growth Capital, LLC	432,000
Susquehanna Financial Group, LLLP	150,000
Harris Nesbitt Corp.	150,000
Total	7,500,000

This offering will be underwritten on a firm commitment basis. In the underwriting agreement, the underwriters have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, to purchase the shares of common stock being sold pursuant to this prospectus at a price per share equal to the public offering price less the underwriting discount specified on the cover page of this prospectus. According to the terms of the underwriting agreement, the underwriters either will purchase all of the shares or none of them. In the event of default by any underwriter, in certain circumstances, the purchase commitments of the non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or the underwriting agreement may be terminated.

The representative of the underwriters has advised us that the underwriters propose to offer the common stock to the public initially at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus and to selected dealers at such price less a concession of not more than \$0.65 per share. The underwriters may allow, and such dealers may re-allow, a concession not in excess of \$0.10 per share to certain other dealers. The underwriters will offer the shares subject to prior sale and subject to receipt and acceptance of the shares by the underwriters. The underwriters may reject any order to purchase shares in whole or in part. The underwriters expect that we will deliver the shares to the underwriters through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company in New York, New York on or about March 29, 2006. At that time, the underwriters will pay us for the shares in immediately available funds. After commencement of the public offering, the representative may change the public offering price and other selling terms.

We have granted the underwriters an option, exercisable within 30 days after the date of this prospectus, to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,125,000 additional shares of common stock from us at the same price per share to be paid by the underwriters for the other shares offered hereby solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any. If the underwriters purchase any such additional shares pursuant to this option, each of the underwriters will be committed to purchase such additional shares in approximately the same proportion as set forth in the table above. The underwriters may exercise the option only for the purpose of covering excess sales, if any, made in connection with the distribution of the shares of common stock offered hereby. The underwriters will offer any additional shares that they purchase on the terms described in the preceding paragraph.

The underwriters have reserved for sale in a directed share program, at the initial public offering price, up to 312,500 shares of common stock in this offering for our employees and independent loan review specialists. Purchases of the reserved shares would reduce the number of shares available for

sale to the general public. The underwriters will offer any reserved shares which are not so purchased to the general public on the same terms as the other shares being sold in this offering.

The following table summarizes the compensation to be paid by us to the underwriters. This information assumes either no exercise or full exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option:

	Per	Share	(Without Over-Allotment	With Over-Allotment
Public offering price	\$	17.00	\$	127,500,000	\$ 146,625,000
Underwriting discount paid by us	\$	1.19	\$	8,925,000	\$ 10,263,750
Proceeds, before expenses, to us	\$	15.81	\$	118,575,000	\$ 136,361,250

We estimate that our total expenses for this offering, excluding the underwriting discount, will be approximately \$4.4 million.

We and each of our directors, executive officers, stockholders and optionholders have agreed, subject to limited exceptions described below, for a period of 180 days after the date of this prospectus, not to, without the prior written consent of William Blair & Company, L.L.C.:

directly or indirectly, offer, sell (including "short" selling), assign, transfer, encumber, pledge, contract to sell, grant an option to purchase, establish an open "put equivalent position" within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(h) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise dispose of any shares of common stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into, or exercisable for, common stock held of record or beneficially owned (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934); or

enter any swap or other arrangement that transfers all or a portion of the economic consequences associated with the ownership of any common stock.

Any shares of common stock purchased in the directed share program by executive officers will be subject to the lock-up period described above. Any other participant in the directed share program who purchases shares of common stock will not be subject to a lock-up with respect to such shares.

The 180-day lock-up period will be extended if (1) we release earnings results or material news or a material event relating to our company occurs during the last 17 days of the lock-up period, or (2) prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the lock-up period. In either case, the lock-up period will be extended for 18 days after the date of the release of the earnings results or the occurrence of the material news or material event.

This agreement does not extend to transfers or dispositions (i) by gift, (ii) by will or intestate succession to immediate family members, or (iii) to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the transferor or his or her immediate family, provided in each case that the recipient of those shares agrees to be bound by the foregoing restrictions for the duration of the 180 days. In determining whether to consent to a transaction prohibited by these restrictions, William Blair & Company, L.L.C. will take into account various factors, including the number of shares requested to be sold, the anticipated manner and timing of sale, the potential impact of the sale on the market for the common stock, the restrictions on publication of research reports that would be imposed by the rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and market conditions generally. We may grant options and issue common stock under existing stock option plans and issue unregistered shares in connection with any outstanding convertible securities or options during the lock-up period, and issue a number of shares of our common stock with a value of up to an aggregate of \$25.0 million in connection with one or more acquisitions, provided in each case that the recipients of those shares agree to be bound by the

foregoing restrictions for the duration of the 180 days. For more information, see "Shares Eligible for Future Sale."

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters and their controlling persons against certain liabilities for misstatements in the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, or to contribute to payments the underwriters may be required to make in respect thereof.

The representative has informed us that the underwriters will not confirm, without client authorization, sales to their client accounts as to which they have discretionary authority.

In connection with this offering, the underwriters and other persons participating in this offering may engage in transactions which affect the market price of the common stock. These may include stabilizing and over-allotment transactions and purchases to cover syndicate short positions. Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases for the purpose of pegging, fixing or maintaining the price of the common stock. An over-allotment involves selling more shares of common stock in this offering than are specified on the cover page of this prospectus, which results in a syndicate short position. The underwriters may cover this short position by purchasing common stock in the open market or by exercising all or part of their over-allotment option. In addition, the representative may impose a penalty bid. This allows the representative to reclaim the selling concession allowed to an underwriter or selling group member if common stock sold by such underwriter or selling group member in this offering are repurchased by the representative in stabilizing or syndicate short covering transactions. These transactions, which may be effected on the Nasdaq National Market or otherwise, may stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the market price of the common stock and could cause the price to be higher than it would be without these transactions. The underwriters and other participants in this offering are not required to engage in any of these activities and may discontinue any of these activities at any time without notice. We and the underwriters make no representation or prediction as to whether the underwriters will engage in such transactions or choose to discontinue any transactions engaged in or as to the direction or magnitude of any effect that these transactions may have on the price of the common stock.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. Consequently, we and the representative of the underwriters have negotiated to determine the initial public offering price. We and they have considered current market conditions, our operating results in recent periods, the market capitalization of other companies in our industry and estimates of our potential.

Our common stock has been approved for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "CLAY."

In the ordinary course of business, some of the underwriters and their affiliates may in the future provide investment banking, commercial banking and other services to us for which they may receive customary fees or other compensation.

LEGAL MATTERS

Goodwin Procter LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, has passed upon the validity of the shares of common stock offered hereby. Legal matters relating to this offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Sidley Austin LLP, Chicago, Illinois.

EXPERTS

The consolidated balance sheets of Clayton Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 (Successor Company balance sheets), and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003, and for the period from January 1, 2004 to August 1, 2004 (Predecessor Company operations), and for the period from inception (May 24, 2004, the earlier date common control was established see Note 1, Organization and Description of Business*Basis of Presentation*) through December 31, 2004 and for year ended December 31, 2005 (Successor Company operations) have been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon, and are included herein in reliance upon such report, given on the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing. In addition, the consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows of Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company) and its subsidiary for the period from January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004, have been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon, and are included herein in reliance upon such report, given on the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows of Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company) for the year ended December 31, 2003, appearing in this Prospectus and Registration Statement have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon appearing elsewhere herein, and are included in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-129526) under the Securities Act of 1933 with respect to the shares of common stock we are offering by this prospectus. This prospectus does not contain all of the information included in the registration statement. For further information pertaining to us and our common stock, you should refer to the registration statement and to its exhibits. Whenever we make reference in this prospectus to any of our contracts, agreements or other documents, the references are not necessarily complete, and you should refer to the exhibits attached to the registration statement for copies of the actual contract, agreement or other document.

Upon the closing of the offering, we will be subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and will file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You can read our SEC filings, including the registration statement, over the Internet at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at its public reference facility at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C., 20549.

You may also obtain copies of the documents at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C., 20549. Please call the SEC at 1 800 SEC 0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facility.

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, INC.

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Clayton Services, Inc. (Predecessor) For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through	
August 1, 2004	
Clayton Holdings, Inc. (Successor) Period from Inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets	F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-8
Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (f/k/a The Murrayhill Company) For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the	
period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004	
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms	F-37
Consolidated Statements of Income	F-39
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity	F-40
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-41
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-42
F-1	

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders Clayton Holdings, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Clayton Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 (Successor Company balance sheets) and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004 (Predecessor Company operations), and for the period from inception (May 24, 2004, the earlier date common control was established see Note 1, Organization and Description of Business, *Basis of Presentation*) through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 (Successor Company operations). These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Predecessor Company consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Further, in our opinion, the Successor Company consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from inception (May 24, 2004, the earlier date common control was established see Note 1, Organization and Description of Business *Basis of Presentation*) through December 31, 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York February 28, 2006

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 3

		2004		2005
ASSETS				
Current assets				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	12,450,147	\$	7,208,875
Restricted cash		10,000,000		4,966,839
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$89,537 as of				
December 31, 2004 and \$72,264 as of December 31, 2005		21,657,785		37,205,223
Unbilled receivables		17,655,374		14,925,988
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		923,299		3,942,676
Prepaid income taxes		315,567		3,730,970
Deferred tax assets		52,940		165,566
Due from affiliated entities		142,069		23,434
Total current assets		63,197,181		72,169,571
Property and equipment, net		10,403,440		18,175,717
Goodwill		46,178,545		69,843,468
Intangible assets, net		96,522,377		84,739,774
Other assets, net		1,945,026		2,576,827
Total assets	\$	218,246,569	\$	247,505,357
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities	¢.	5 5 6 0 0 7 0	Ф	1 (20 411
Long term debt and capital lease obligations, current portion	\$	5,569,970	\$	1,639,411
Revolving credit facility		4,026,908		10 042 070
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		17,356,258		18,842,078
Accrued earn-out payment Servicer escrow liability		14,000,000		4.066.920
Due to an affiliated entity		392,793		4,966,839
Due to an anniated entity	_	392,193	_	
Total current liabilities		41,345,929		25,448,328
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current portion		61,787,562		148,777,172
Deferred tax liabilities		5,559,744		3,381,001
Deferred revenue				217,888
Deferred rent		627,658		1,013,687
Total liabilities		109,320,893		178,838,076
Commitments and contingencies				
Commitments and contingencies Series A convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 8,825,241 shares authorized,				
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 Series B convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 24,185,493 shares		27,189,514		12,258,319
authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2004 and 2005		74,512,615		43,866,683
Stockholders' equity Common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 60,000,000 shares authorized and 3,276,994				
and 3,281,607 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively		32,770		32,816
Class B common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 357,020 shares authorized, issued and				
outstanding December 31, 2004 and 2005		3,570		3,570
Additional paid in capital		3,844,675		4,115,827
Retained earnings		3,342,532		8,390,066
Total stockholders' equity		7,223,547		12,542,279

December 31,

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

F-3

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

	Predecessor					Successor				
		Year ended ember 31, 2003	Ja	For the period inuary 1, 2004 ough August 1, 2004	fr	or the period om inception through ember 31, 2004		Year ended December 31, 2005		
Revenue	\$	85,228,122	\$	76,338,533	\$	79,804,531	\$	207,502,420		
Cost of services										
Compensation expense		39,435,851		35,502,050		37,251,852		99,674,973		
Travel and related expenses		17,203,485		15,493,865		13,891,579		29,787,719		
Other direct costs		3,821,387		2,667,945		1,304,200		6,065,735		
Total cost of services		60,460,723		53,663,860		52,447,631		135,528,427		
Gross profit		24,767,399		22,674,673		27,356,900		71,973,993		
Operating expenses										
Salaries and benefits		4,403,015		3,782,531		6,553,123		18,911,359		
Other selling, general and		, ,		, ,		, ,		, ,		
administrative expenses		3,960,186		4,275,832		6,417,019		17,181,042		
Depreciation and amortization		1,163,237		792,511		1,115,511		4,693,611		
Amortization of intangibles		-,,		,,,,,,,,		4,508,693		10,175,444		
Impairment of intangibles						1,500,055		1,631,700		
impairment of intangioles								1,031,700		
Total operating expenses		9,526,438		8,850,874		18,594,346		52,593,156		
Income from operations		15,240,961		13,823,799		8,762,554		19,380,837		
Other income, net		315,000								
Interest expense, net		267,860		178,346		3,065,923		8,189,192		
Loss from extinguishment of debt								2,990,457		
Income before provision for income										
taxes		15,288,101		13,645,453		5,696,631		8,201,188		
Income tax benefit (provision)		62,230		(259,436)		(2,354,099)		(3,153,654)		
Net income	\$	15,350,331	\$	13,386,017	\$	3,342,532	\$	5,047,534		
Earnings per share:										
Basic	\$	1.51	\$	1.22	¢	0.27	¢	0.42		
Basic	3	1.31	Þ	1.32	\$	0.37	\$	0.42		
Diluted	\$	1.51	\$	1.32	\$	0.37	\$	0.41		
Weighted average shares outstanding:										
Basic Basic		10,162,309		10,162,309		9,034,350		11,888,671		
Diluted		10,162,309		10,162,309		9,095,537		12,304,627		

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Predecessor	Number of shares	Amount	Additional paid-in capital	Retained earnings	Stock subscription receivable	Total
Balance at January 1, 2003	242	\$ 242	\$ 10,661,945	\$ 5,758,701	\$ (242)\$	16,420,646
Distributions				(6,000,000)		(6,000,000)
Net income				15,350,331		15,350,331
Balance at December 31, 2003	242	242	10,661,945	15,109,032	(242)	25,770,977
Distributions				(6,950,000)		(6,950,000)
Net income				13,386,017		13,386,017
Balance at August 1, 2004	242	\$ 242	\$ 10,661,945	\$ 21,545,049	\$ (242)\$	32,206,994

	Number of	shares	Value				
Successor	Common Stock	Class B Common Stock	Common Stock	Class B Common Stock	Additional paid in capital	Retained Earnings	Total
Balance, May 24, 2004			\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Issuance of stock for Clayton Fixed Income							
Services Inc.	671,874		6,719		5,100,419		5,107,138
Issuance of stock for the							
Clayton Services, Inc.	2,514,556	357,020	25,145	3,570	(1,739,930)		(1,711,215)
Exercise of warrants	90,564		906		359,677		360,583
Stock based compensation					124,509		124,509
Net income						3,342,532	3,342,532
Balance, December 31,							
2004	3,276,994	357,020	32,770	3,570	3,844,675	3,342,532	7,223,547
Exercise of options	4,613		46		19,001		19,047
Stock based							
compensation					252,151		252,151
Net income						5,047,534	5,047,534
Balance, December 31,							
2005	3,281,607	357,020	\$ 32,816	\$ 3,570	\$ 4,115,827	\$ 8,390,066	\$ 12,542,279

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Predecessor

			Successor				
	Year ended December 31, 2003	For the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004	For the period from inception through December 31, 2004	Year ended December 31, 2005			
Cash flows from operating activities							
Net income	\$ 15,350,331	\$ 13,386,017	\$ 3,342,532 \$	5,047,534			
Adjustments to reconcile net							
income to net cash provided by							
operating activities	1 162 227	702.511	1 115 511	4 (02 (11			
Depreciation and amortization	1,163,237	792,511	1,115,511	4,693,611			
Amortization of intangibles			4,508,693	10,175,444			
Impairment of intangibles				1,631,700			
Amortization of debt issuance cost			167,542	599,163			
Accretion of note			20,224	85,468			
Loss from extinguishment of			20,224	03,400			
debt				1,679,650			
Stock based compensation			124,509	252,151			
Deferred income taxes	(108,050)	93,850	(56,261)	(2,433,419)			
Loss (gain) on sale of fixed	(100,030)	75,050	(30,201)	(2,433,417)			
assets	61,319	803	(5,200)	141,325			
Allowance for doubtful	01,019	002	(3,200)	111,525			
accounts			85,437	245,839			
Changes in operating assets			50,101	,,,,,			
and liabilities, net of business							
combinations							
Accounts receivable, net	(8,899,473)	2,472,875	(29,641)	(15,793,277)			
Unbilled receivables	(3,310,535)		(1,097,878)	2,729,386			
Prepaid expenses and other							
current assets	5,429	745,856	(285,353)	(3,051,635)			
Prepaid income taxes	(41,264)	41,264	(315,567)	(3,415,403)			
Due to an affiliated entity	(640,029)	(632,071)	(392,793)	(274,158)			
Other assets, net	7,524	13,552	16,747	(94,359)			
Accounts payable and							
accrued expenses	2,711,338	3,095,194	7,690,342	(152,457)			
Income taxes payable	(89,437)	74,509					
Deferred revenue				1,452,067			
Deferred rent	114,256	42,307	366,596	386,029			
Net cash provided by							
operating activities	6,324,646	13,562,636	15,255,440	3,904,659			
Cash flows from investing activities Proceeds from sale of fixed assets	12,000		5,200	25,361			
Capital expenditures	(2,382,911)	(2,269,652)	(4,960,726)	(10,920,927)			
Loan to stockholder	(2,000,000)		(4,300,720)	(10,720,927)			
(Repayments of) loans from note	(2,000,000)						
payable, stockholder	(428,266)	1					
Cash acquired from acquisition	(720,200)	·	426,413				
Acquisition of businesses			(122,814,500)	(24,348,199)			
requisition of dusinesses			(122,017,300)	(27,370,177)			

Predecessor

Net cash used in investing activities	(4,799,177)	(2,269,652)	(127,343,613)	(35,243,765)			
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.							
	. , .						
F-6							

Successor

Predecessor

	Predecessor		Successor		
	Year ended December 31, 2003	For the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004	For the period from inception through December 31, 2004	Year ended December 31, 2005	
Cash flows from financing activities					
Proceeds from revolving credit					
facility	\$ 11,500,000	\$	\$ 7,526,908	\$ 26,850,000	
Repayments of revolving credit					
facility	(2,171,432)	(2,333,336)	(3,500,000)	(30,876,908)	
Repayments of loans payable	(201,409)	(13,050)	(9,610)	(75,166)	
Repayments of capital lease obligations	(50,358)	(144,413)	(119,977)	(111,528)	
Proceeds from the issuance of			20,000,000		
subordinated debt Repayment of subordinated debt			20,000,000	(29,990,000)	
Proceeds from the issuance of the				(29,990,000)	
term loan			40,000,000	150,000,000	
Repayment of term loan			(2,250,000)	(37,750,000)	
Deferred charges related to the			(, , ,	(= 1,71 = 1,71 = 1,71	
issuance of debt			(1,712,500)	(2,390,484)	
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of					
restricted cash			60,000,000	10,272,873	
Proceeds from the exercise of					
options				19,047	
Distributions to stockholders	(6,000,000)	(4,950,000)	(919,370)	(59,850,000)	
Net cash provided by (used in)					
financing activities	3,076,801	(7,440,799)	119,015,451	26,097,834	
Net increase (decrease) in cash					
and cash equivalents	4,602,270	3,852,185	6,927,278	(5,241,272)	
Cash and cash equivalents at the					
beginning of the period	66,979	4,669,249	5,522,869	12,450,147	
Cash and cash equivalents at the end					
of the period	\$ 4,669,249	\$ 8,521,434	\$ 12,450,147	\$ 7,208,875	
Supplementary disclosures of cash					
flow information:					
Cash paid during the period for					
Income taxes	\$ 174,314	\$ 15,581	\$ 2,613,100	\$ 8,953,352	
Interest	\$ 292,435	\$ 178,317	\$ 2,124,429	\$ 8,007,168	
Other noncash investing and					
financing activities: Assets acquired under capital lease	224.007			482 222	
Liabilities assumed from	234,987			482,222	
acquisitions				401,664	
Stockholders' loan offset to				701,004	
distributions to stockholders		2,000,000			
Issuance of common stock		_,000,000	2,610,000		
	The accompanying n	otes are an integral p	art of these statements.		

F-7

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 Organization and Description of Business

Clayton Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") was formed on March 31, 2005 as a Delaware corporation. The Company was formed to combine two companies which were under common control, GRP Holdings, Inc. ("GRP"), a Delaware corporation and TMHC Holdings, Inc. ("TMHC") a Delaware corporation. GRP was formed to acquire Clayton Services, Inc. ("CSI") and First Madison Services, Inc. ("FMS") from unrelated parties on August 2, 2004. TMHC was formed to acquire Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc., formerly known as "The Murrayhill Company", ("CFIS") from an unrelated party on May 24, 2004. Each holding company was controlled by TA Associates ("TA") prior to the combination. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. ("US GAAP"), assets transferred between entities under common control are accounted for at historical cost similar to a pooling of interests, and the financial statements of previously separate companies for periods they were under common control are restated on a combined basis.

The Company provides a full suite of outsourced services, information-based analytics and specialty consulting for buyers and sellers of, and investors in, mortgage-related loans and securities and other debt instruments. The Company's services include transaction management, which consists of due diligence, conduit support, professional staffing, compliance products and services as well as credit risk management and securities surveillance, and special servicing. The Company uses proprietary technology and processes to provide these services across the lifecycle of a loan, from loan origination, aggregation and securities issuance to the surveillance and administration of loans and securities. The Company provides a majority of its services to participants in the non-agency segment of the mortgage-backed securities, or MBS, market and the non-conforming mortgage loan market.

Basis of Presentation

The Company's consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows include the results of GRP and TMHC beginning from the date of acquisition of a controlling interest by TA, which were August 2, 2004 and May 24, 2004, respectively. The consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the periods prior to the date TA acquired a controlling interest in GRP are presented on a Predecessor basis and reflect solely the operations of CSI. For financial reporting purposes, the inception date is deemed to be May 24, 2004. Upon the acquisition of the controlling interest by TA, the Company became the Successor to the business of the Predecessor.

The Company deems CSI, currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of GRP, to be the Predecessor as this entity has historically provided the Company's core transaction management services. For the periods presented, the Predecessor would have represented over 80% of the revenues, assets and income before provision for income taxes of the combined entities. As such, the Company believes that for comparability purposes this entity is the most relevant to present.

The consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows included herein include the results of the Predecessor which is solely comprised of CSI from January 1, 2003 to August 1, 2004, and Successor which include the results of TMHC from May 24, 2004 to December 31, 2004 and GRP from August 2, 2004 to December 31, 2004. The consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows included herein for the year ended December 31, 2005 include the results of both TMHC and GRP for the entire period.

In these notes to the consolidated financial statements, references to the "Company" in respect of time periods preceding the date of acquisition of a controlling interest in GRP by TA are references to

CSI and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the "Predecessor"), while such references to time periods commencing with the periods subsequent to the date TA acquired a controlling interest in GRP and TMHC are references to Clayton Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the "Successor").

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies followed by the Company, as summarized below, are in conformity with US GAAP.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Clayton Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries ("the Company"). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Some of these accounting policies require the application of significant judgment by management in the selection of appropriate assumptions for determining these estimates. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty; therefore, the Company cannot give assurance that actual results will not differ significantly from estimated results. Management bases these judgments on the Company's historical experience, management's forecasts and other available information, as appropriate. The most significant estimates reflected in the financial statements include deferred tax assets and liabilities and related valuation allowances, income tax accruals, valuation allowance for accounts receivable, asset impairments, the valuation of stock options and the valuation of intangible assets and assessments of their useful lives, and related party transactions. Actual results could differ from estimated amounts. The Company also makes estimates in determining other ordinary accruals.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company's accounts receivable are due from customers in the normal course of business. Credit decisions are made based on an evaluation of a customers' financial condition. Accounts receivable are due within 30 days. Interest is not charged on delinquent payments.

The Company makes estimates to determine the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts necessary to reduce accounts receivable and unbilled receivables to their expected net realizable value. The Company estimates the amount of the required allowance by reviewing the status of significant past-due receivables and by analyzing historical bad debt trends and realization adjustments to revenue. Actual collection experience has not varied significantly from estimates, due primarily to credit policies, the controls and procedures designed to estimate realization adjustments to revenues and a lack of concentrations of accounts receivable. Accounts receivable balances are not collateralized.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company amortizes the costs that it incurs to obtain debt financing over the terms of the underlying obligations using the effective interest method. The amortization of deferred financing costs is included in interest expense. Unamortized deferred financing costs are included in other assets, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. In conjunction with the Company entering into a new credit agreement on December 8, 2005 (See Note 9), the Company wrote off \$1,229,338 in deferred financing costs which were associated with the repaid obligations. Unamortized deferred financing costs at December 31, 2004 and 2005 were \$1,792,116 and \$2,354,099, respectively.

Offering Costs and Other Assets

Costs directly associated with the Company's initial public offering of securities are capitalized and recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Upon completion of the initial public offering, such costs will be recorded as a reduction of the proceeds received in arriving at the amount to be recorded in stockholders' equity. The Company filed its initial Form S-1 with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 2005, as amended. Deferred offering costs as of December 31, 2005 were approximately \$2,340,000.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of 90 days or less from the date of acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred; costs of additions and improvements are capitalized.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 30 months to seven years. Leasehold improvements and assets under capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

In accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, the costs of computer software developed or acquired for internal use incurred during the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized. Costs incurred during the post- implementation or operation stage are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software is classified within property and equipment and is amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, which is generally three years.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships, client backlog, technology, trade name and trademarks, non-competition agreements and excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired ("goodwill"). Customer relationships are the value of the specifically acquired customer relationships. Client backlog is the estimated present value of fees to be earned for services performed on loans

F-10

currently under surveillance. Technology is the value of recreating the completed technology infrastructure. Trade name and trademarks are the value inherent in the recognition of the "Clayton" and "Murrayhill" names. The value of the noncompetition agreements are an appraisal of potential lost revenues that would arise from an individual initiating a competing enterprise.

Except for goodwill, trade name and trademarks, all intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. The costs attributable to the identified intangibles were based on a number of significant assumptions as determined by the Company and its independent appraisal expert. Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized under the straight-line method over their applicable estimated useful lives, estimated by the Company to be between 4 to 18 years, as follows:

Customer relationships	
Transaction management and advisory	18 years
Staffing services	10 years
Portfolio management	4 years
Client backlog	5 years
Technology	5 years
Noncompetition agreement	4-5 years

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS No. 142"), which provides, among other things, that goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives are no longer amortized but are reviewed for impairment at least annually (beginning with the first anniversary of the acquisition date). Impairment tests were conducted for GRP and TMHC on their respective anniversary dates in 2005 and there was no impairment to goodwill of either entity.

In October 2005, the Company's Board of Directors approved the discontinuance of the use of the trade name "Murrayhill" and the Company recorded an impairment charge of \$1,631,700.

Valuation of Long-lived Assets Excluding Goodwill

The Company evaluates all of its long-lived assets, including intangible assets other than goodwill and fixed assets, periodically for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets (SFAS No. 144). SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be evaluated for impairment when events or changes in facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, the amount of impairment will be measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. An impairment will be recorded as an operating expense in the period of the impairment and as a reduction in the carrying value of that asset.

Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying values or fair values, less estimated costs of disposal.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," as amended. SFAS No. 133 requires

F-11

certain gains and losses for those instruments which qualify as hedging activities, defined as transactions involving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows for the risk being hedged, to be reported as a component of other comprehensive income. For all other derivative instruments, the related gains or losses are recorded in the income statement. The Company has an interest rate cap agreement which it executed in conjunction with its former credit agreement. The interest rate cap agreement remains outstanding and is used to lock in a maximum interest rate should variable rates rise (See Note 9).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service has been performed, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

The Company derives most of its revenues from professional service activities. The majority of these activities are provided under "time-and-materials" billing arrangements. Revenues consisting of billed fees and pass-through expenses are recorded as work is performed and expenses are incurred. Revenues also include expenses billed to clients, which includes travel and other out-of-pocket expenses, and other reimbursable expenses. Based on aggregate volume of all travel expenses incurred for both corporate purposes and client service activities, the Company is eligible to receive certain retroactive volume discounts from several of its travel providers. Such amounts are accrued as earned, are netted against travel and related expenses and historically have not been material. For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, pass-through expenses included in revenues of the Predecessor were \$17,203,485 and \$15,493,865, respectively. Pass-through expenses included in revenues of the Successor from the date of inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$13,891,579 and \$29,787,719, respectively.

The Company records provisions for fee adjustments and discretionary pricing adjustments as a reduction of revenues. Revenues recognized, but not yet billed to clients, have been recorded as unbilled receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Cost of Operations

Direct cost of operations consists primarily of employee compensation and related payroll benefits, the cost of billable labor assigned to revenue-generating activities as well as corresponding travel and related expenses incurred in providing such services to clients. Direct cost of operations does not include an allocation of overhead costs.

Advertising

The Company has incurred minimal advertising costs each period and all costs related to advertising and other promotional expenditures are expensed as incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, aggregate advertising and other promotional expenditures of the Predecessor were \$580,657 and \$432,418, respectively. Aggregate advertising and other promotional expenditures of the Successor from the date of inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 were \$394,931 and \$1,117,325, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company recognizes deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized in future years and a valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets if they are deemed to be impaired.

Income taxes on net earnings of the Predecessor were obligations of the stockholders pursuant to its election of "S" corporation status under Section 1372 of the Internal Revenue Code effective August 1, 1994. Accordingly, no Federal and certain state income taxes have been provided for in the accompanying financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004. For state tax purposes, the S Corporation was required to pay State corporate income tax applicable to Subchapter S corporations and recorded such payments as expenses in the period such taxes were incurred.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company adopted the fair value measurement provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," using the prospective method under which the Company recognizes compensation expense of a stock-based award to an employee over the vesting period based on the fair value of the award on the grant date consistent with the method described in Note 15.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company's cash is deposited with two financial institutions and, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company had not experienced any losses on these deposits.

At December 31, 2004, 20.7% and 10.7% of the Company's billed and unbilled receivables were related to its two largest clients, respectively. At December 31, 2005, 30.1% and 25.5% of the Company's billed and unbilled receivables were related to its two largest clients, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004 the two largest clients accounted for 22.7% and 27.0% of revenue of the Predecessor, respectively. For the period from inception through December 31, 2004, the two largest clients accounted for 17.9% and 12.2% of revenue of the Successor, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the two largest clients accounted for 12.9% and 11.2% of revenue of the Successor, respectively.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding during the period. The Company's convertible preferred stock is deemed to be a common stock equivalent and included in the computation of basic earnings per share because it receives dividends at a rate that results in a per

share amount that is equivalent to the per share amount paid on common stock. Diluted earnings per share gives effect to dilutive options, warrants and other potential common stock outstanding during the period.

Segment Reporting

The Company's activities are considered to be in a single industry segment for financial reporting purposes. The Company provides services that support the purchase and sale of and investment in mortgage loans and related securities across the mortgage loan lifecycle. Revenues from the Company's various products and services are affected by the same factors, primarily the origination of non-conforming mortgage loans and the issuance of non-agency mortgage-backed securities.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior periods' financial statements to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported results of operations or retained earnings.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") released Issue No. 03-1, "The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments." EITF 03-1 provides guidance for determining whether impairment for certain debt and equity investments is other-than-temporary and the measurement of an impaired loss. The recognition and measurement requirements of EITF 03-1 were initially effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004. In September 2004, the FASB Staff issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") EITF 03-1-1 that delayed the effective date for certain measurement and recognition guidance contained in EITF 03-1. The FSP requires that entities continue to apply previously existing "other-than-temporary" guidance until a final consensus is reached. Management does not anticipate that issuance of a final consensus will materially impact the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation" which establishes standards for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. This standard requires an issuer to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. This eliminates the exception to account for such awards using the intrinsic method previously allowable under Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25. In March 2005, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 107, "Share-Based Payment," which expresses views of the SEC Staff about the application of SFAS No. 123(R). In April 2005, the SEC issued a rule that SFAS No. 123(R) will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after June 15, 2005. We previously adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) will not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections" a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3." SFAS No. 154 replaces

APB Opinion No. 20, "Accounting Changes," and FASB Statement No. 3, "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements," and changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. This Statement applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS No. 154 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company adopted SFAS No. 154 as of January 1, 2006. It is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 05-06, *Determining the Amortization Period for Leasehold Improvements* ("EITF 05-06"). EITF 05-06 provides that the amortization period used for leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination or purchased after the inception of a lease be the shorter of (1) the useful life of the assets or (2) a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are reasonably assured upon the acquisition or the purchase. The Company does not believe the adoption of EITF 05-06 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 3 Business Acquisitions

GRP and TMHC

In March 2005, GRP and TMHC were combined to form the Company. In connection with this combination, the existing stockholders of each of GRP and TMHC entered into a share exchange agreement with the Company, whereby shares of common stock and convertible preferred stock of each of GRP and TMHC were exchanged for the Company's common stock, class B common stock, Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred stock (see Note 10).

The outstanding shares of the convertible preferred stock are convertible into shares of the Company's common stock and redeemable preferred stock. The convertible preferred stock automatically converts pursuant to the formula described in Note 10 below upon the closing of the Company's first qualified underwritten public offering. As of December 31, 2004, the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock were carried on the balance sheet at their liquidation preference of \$27,189,514 and \$74,512,615, respectively. In the event the convertible preferred stock is converted to redeemable preferred stock, the liquidation preference of the redeemable preferred stock would be 94.1% of the liquidation preference of the convertible preferred stock. In connection with a recapitalization and refinancing of its credit facilities in December 2005 (see Note 9), the Company paid a dividend on the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock in the amounts of \$14,931,195 and \$40,918,805, respectively, and the liquidation preference was reduced by these amounts. As of December 31, 2005, the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock are carried on the balance sheet at the liquidation preference of \$12,258,319 and \$43,866,683, respectively.

During 2005, the Company incurred costs totaling approximately \$1,200,000 in connection with the March 2005 business combination, primarily for employee severance costs, legal and other professional fees. As this transaction is considered a merger of entities under common control, in accordance with FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 141, "Business Combinations" ("SFAS No. 141"), these costs have been expensed as incurred.

The following pro forma information represents the results of operations of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2004, as if the combination noted above was effected on January 1, 2004:

Revenue	\$ 164,897,000
Net income	7,480,000
Earnings per share	
Basic	\$.63
Diluted	\$.63

Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc.

On May 24, 2004, TA acquired a majority interest in CFIS and concurrently formed TMHC. The total consideration paid by TA for 77% of CFIS's outstanding common shares was \$41,702,128 comprised of \$27,702,128 in cash paid directly to founding shareholders, \$4,000,000 in cash paid to CFIS in exchange for 247 shares of CFIS common stock, and \$10,000,000 in cash paid to CFIS in connection with TMHC's issuance of convertible senior subordinated notes to TA, the proceeds of which were used to redeem shares from the CFIS founders (see Note 9). Each of the then outstanding shares of CFIS common stock was exchanged for common stock or convertible preferred stock of TMHC. After the share exchange the founding shareholders of CFIS held 2,150,000 shares of TMHC common stock and investment funds affiliated with TA Associates held 7,060,193 shares of TMHC convertible preferred stock aggregating \$31,702,128. TMHC also incurred acquisition costs of \$1,030,701. Including the dilutive effect of options available for issuance from the TMHC 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan executed concurrently with the equity sale (see Note 9), TA held an approximate 73.5% interest in TMHC on a fully diluted basis.

Subsequent to the formation of the Company, the 2,150,000 shares of TMHC common stock held by founding shareholders of CFIS were exchanged at a conversion rate of .3125 per TMHC share for 671,874 shares of the Company's common stock and the 7,060,193 shares of TMHC convertible preferred stock were exchanged at a conversion rate of 1.25 per TMHC share for 8,825,241 shares of the Company's Series A convertible preferred stock.

In accounting for the partial acquisition of CFIS by TA, TMHC applied purchase accounting as prescribed by SFAS No. 141 and EITF Issue No. 88-16, Basis in Leveraged Buyout Transactions. Under this accounting method, the purchase price for the portion of TMHC acquired by TA has been reflected at fair value with the difference between the purchase price and the sum of the fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed resulting in the recording of identified intangible assets of \$14,707,350 and goodwill of \$30,796,352. Included in goodwill is \$5,540,544 that resulted from a recognition of a deferred tax liability related to intangible assets that are not deductible for tax purposes. The allocation of the purchase price to these intangible assets is based on a number of significant assumptions as determined by the Company and its independent appraisal expert, including evaluation of the future income producing capabilities of these assets and related future expected cash flows.

Prior to the exchange of equity on May 24, 2004, CFIS issued 247 shares of common stock for \$4,000,000 in cash. As of December 31, 2004, this contribution was being held by the Company as an accrued distribution to founding shareholders in accordance with the terms of the share purchase

agreement. The \$4,000,000 was paid in April 2005. This amount is included in the accrued earn-out payment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004.

Clayton Services, Inc. and First Madison Services, Inc.

On August 2, 2004, TA, through its newly formed entity GRP, acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of CSI and FMS, pursuant to a Contribution and Asset Transfer Agreement (the "Agreement") with GRP. GRP paid \$120,000,000 in cash and issued 3,000,000 shares of common stock valued at \$2,610,000. GRP also incurred acquisition costs of approximately \$3,092,000. The acquisition was financed through borrowings pursuant to a term loan of \$40,000,000, proceeds from the issuance of 6,780,000 shares of convertible preferred stock of GRP aggregating \$70,000,000, and the issuance of certain subordinated notes and 220,000 shares of common stock with a carrying value of \$191,400 (see Note 9) for proceeds of \$20,000,000. The restricted cash on the accompanying balance sheet at December 31, 2004 includes \$10,000,000 of the proceeds that was deposited into an escrow account to fund a contingent portion of the purchase price, as more fully described below.

Subsequent to the formation of the Company, the 3,220,000 shares of GRP common stock were exchanged at an aggregate conversion rate of 0.8918 per GRP share for 2,514,556 shares of the Company's common stock and 357,020 of the Company's Class B common stock. The 6,780,000 shares of GRP convertible preferred stock were exchanged at a conversion rate of 3.5672 per GRP share for 24,185,493 shares of the Company's Series B convertible preferred stock with a liquidation preference of \$74,512,615. The difference between the increase in the carrying value of preferred stock of \$4,512,615 and the aggregate carrying value of \$2,801,400 for all the common stock resulted in a decrease in stockholders' equity of \$1,711,215.

Pursuant to the Agreement, GRP assumed certain contractual arrangements whereby additional cash may be paid to the owners of CSI upon the attainment of certain specified financial criteria over the period from the date of the transaction through December 31, 2005. The total additional consideration aggregates to a maximum of \$40,000,000. The first such contingent amount was measured and attained at December 31, 2004, amounted to \$10,000,000 plus accrued interest, and is reflected as additional goodwill in the accompanying balance sheet and is included in restricted cash as of December 31, 2004. This amount, plus interest, was paid to the owners of CSI in August 2005. In November, 2005, the Agreement was amended and \$10,000,000 plus accrued interest was paid to the former owners of CSI. Such amount was recorded as additional goodwill and increased the liquidation preference amount of the Series B convertible preferred stock by \$10,000,000 plus accrued interest. Additionally, the amendment provided that the former owners of CSI will receive \$13,250,000 in satisfaction of the remaining contingent payments, upon the occurrence of certain events, but in no event later than May 1, 2006. In connection with a recapitalization and refinancing of its credit facilities in December 2005 (See Note 9), the Company paid \$13,250,000 in satisfaction of the remaining contingent payments. Such amount was recorded as additional goodwill.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. Fair values are based upon preliminary third party appraisals and internal studies and are subject to change.

	 GRP		ТМНС
Current assets	\$ 37,862,951	\$	1,648,970
Property and equipment	5,286,932		
Other assets	55,773		
Intangible assets	86,323,000		14,707,350
Goodwill	5,382,193		30,796,352
		_	
Total assets acquired	134,910,849		47,152,672
Liabilities assumed	(9,486,349)		(5,450,544)
	\$ 125,424,500	\$	41,702,128

The goodwill recorded in connection with the GRP transaction is tax deductible except for approximately \$2,610,000 that is related to the valuation of the common stock issued as part of the transaction. The goodwill recorded in connection with the TMHC transaction is all non-tax deductible goodwill.

Asset Purchase from NISYS, Inc.

On March 18, 2005, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement through a subsidiary pursuant to which the subsidiary acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed liabilities of NISYS, Inc., including the assumption of an outstanding note, were purchased for an aggregate of \$825,326 comprised of \$764,642 of cash paid to the seller and \$60,684 of transaction costs.

The purchase price was allocated as follows:

Property and equipment	\$ 353,713
Technology	1,060,327
Liabilities assumed	(588,714)
	\$ 825,326

The NISYS business provides imaged document management, automated decisioning and collaborative process management software that enables third parties to streamline manual, paper-based loan processes. The NISYS platform integrates third party components for workflow/document management, optical character recognition/imaging and a rules engine. This acquisition has not been presented on a proforma basis because it is not deemed to be material.

Note 4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2004 and 2005, the Company maintained cash and cash equivalent balances in excess of \$100,000 at two separate financial institutions. Accounts at these institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to \$100,000. At December 31, 2004 and 2005, the cash balances exceeded \$100,000 by \$22,980,258 and \$13,447,318, respectively, including restricted cash.

At December 31, 2004, the Company maintained a restricted cash balance of \$10,000,000. This balance represented funds deposited into an escrow account to fund a contingent portion of the purchase price paid by TA for CSI (see Note 3).

At December 31, 2005, the Company maintained a restricted cash balance of \$4,966,839. This balance represented funds received in connection with certain loan servicing functions the Company performs for a customer. Such funds are received throughout the month and remitted to the customer on a monthly basis. The balance on hand is included in servicer escrow liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Note 5 Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consists of the following:

		December 31,				
		2004	2005			
Computer and office equipment	\$	4,136,786	\$	6,526,737		
Software		3,030,503		8,100,020		
Furniture and fixtures		2,548,568		2,926,452		
Leasehold improvements		850,513		1,391,952		
Website		280,317		280,317		
Automobiles		170,433		171,395		
	_					
		11,017,120		19,396,873		
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization		1,476,027		6,117,862		
		9,541,093		13,279,011		
Software under development		862,347		4,896,706		
•						
	\$	10,403,440	\$	18,175,717		

Included in software at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, is \$1,060,312 and \$3,189,915, respectively, of internally developed software placed in service. Included in software under development at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005 is \$812,259 and \$4,876,162, respectively, of internally developed software.

For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, the depreciation and amortization expense charged to operations of the Predecessor was \$1,163,237 and \$792,511, respectively. For the period from inception through December 31, 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2005, depreciation and amortization expense charged to operations of the Successor was \$1,115,511 and \$4,693,611, respectively.

Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, intangible assets not subject to amortization consist of goodwill of \$46,178,545 and \$69,843,468, respectively, and trade names and trademarks of \$17,131,700 and \$15,504,338, respectively. In October 2005, the Company's Board of Directors approved the discontinuance of the use of the trade name "Murrayhill" and the Company recorded an impairment charge of \$1,631,700.

At December 31, 2004, the Company's intangible assets with identifiable useful lives, which continue to be amortized, consist of the following:

	Gross carrying amount		Accumulated amortization		Net
Customer relationships					
Transaction management and advisory	\$	36,400,000	\$	839,472	\$ 35,560,528
Staffing services		4,300,000		178,503	4,121,497
Portfolio management		10,714,600		577,588	10,137,012
Client backlog		2,146,200		259,621	1,886,579
Technology		26,842,900		2,344,080	24,498,820
Noncompetition agreements		3,494,950		308,709	3,186,241
	\$	83,898,650	\$	4,507,973	\$ 79,390,677

At December 31, 2005, the Company's intangible assets with identifiable useful lives, which continue to be amortized, consist of the following:

		Gross carrying amount		Accumulated amortization		Net
Customer relationships	_					
Transaction management and advisory	\$	36,400,000	\$	2,864,815	\$	33,535,185
Staffing services		4,300,000		609,167		3,690,833
Portfolio management		10,714,600		1,776,817		8,937,783
Client backlog		2,146,200		688,861		1,457,339
Technology		26,842,900		7,720,006		19,122,894
Noncompetition agreements		3,494,950		1,022,292		2,472,658
Patent		20,204		1,460		18,744
	_		_		_	
	\$	83,918,854	\$	14,683,418	\$	69,235,436
			_			

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 was \$4,508,693 and \$10,175,444, respectively.

Estimated future amortization expense associated with these intangible assets during the next five fiscal years is as follows:

2006	\$ 10,167,398
2007	10,167,398
2008	9,801,900
2009	6,438,045
2010	2,875,255

Note 7 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company has determined the estimated fair values of financial instruments using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop fair value estimates. As a result, the estimates presented below are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize or be required to pay in a current market exchange.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, Accounts Receivable, Unbilled Receivables, Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

The carrying amounts of these items are reasonable estimates of their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets.

Debt

The fair value of long-term debt approximates its carrying value at December 31, 2004 and 2005, based on an assessment of currently available terms for similar arrangements.

Interest Rate Cap Agreement

The carrying amount of the Company's interest rate cap agreements in effect as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 is fair value. The fair value of the interest rate cap agreement is based on estimates obtained from bankers to settle the agreements.

Note 8 Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:

		December 31,			
		2004			2005
Trade accounts payable					
Vendor payables (primarily travel)		\$	2,682,756	\$	2,487,351
Other accounts payables			1,475,175		1,658,524
Accrued expenses Bonuses Payroll Compensation expense Travel expense Accrued professional fees Other accrued expenses			5,673,004 785,804 735,850 642,579 1,400,433 3,960,657		7,842,254 1,276,543 508,226 728,756 1,140,272 3,200,152
		_		_	
		\$	17,356,258	\$	18,842,078
	F-21				

Note 9 Revolving Credit Facility, Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations consist of the following:

December	31.
December	J1,

	 2004	 2005
Term loans	\$ 37,750,000	\$ 150,000,000
Senior subordinated and subordinated notes	29,486,478	
Loans payable	75,166	
Capital lease obligations	 45,888	416,583
Total long-term debt	67,357,532	150,416,583
Less current portion	5,569,970	1,639,411
Long-term debt, net of current portion	\$ 61,787,562	\$ 148,777,172

New Credit Agreement

On December 8, 2005 the Company entered into a new credit agreement (the "New Credit Agreement") with a financial institution. The New Credit Agreement provides the Company with a \$150,000,000 term loan, all of which was funded at closing, and a \$40,000,000 revolving credit facility, none of which was funded at closing. Subject to the agreement of the lenders to increase their commitments, the Company has the option to borrow up to an additional \$10,000,000 under the revolving credit facility, for an aggregate revolving credit facility of \$50,000,000. On January 11, 2006, the Company amended the New Credit Agreement to increase the revolving credit facility by \$5,000,000, for an aggregate revolving credit facility of \$45,000,000.

The New Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company. The agreement contains covenants which, among other matters, require the Company to maintain certain levels of interest coverage ratio, fixed charge ratio and total leverage ratio. Such covenants commence effectiveness on March 31, 2006. In addition, the New Credit Agreement places limitations on total annual capital expenditures, indebtedness, liens, dividends and distributions, asset sales, transactions with affiliates, acquisitions and conduct of business, all as defined in the agreement. The New Credit Agreement also contains provisions for an increased rate of interest during periods of default.

Loans under the New Credit Agreement bear interest at the applicable London interbank offer rate ("LIBOR") plus 3.00% or Prime Rate plus 2.0%, at the Company's option. In addition, the Company is required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% based on the calculation of the excess of the revolving credit loan commitment over the revolving outstanding balance as defined.

The New Credit Agreement expires on December 8, 2011. Principal repayments of \$375,000 are required on a quarterly basis for the first five years. The remaining principal balance at the end of the fifth year is repayable in equal quarterly installments in the sixth year.

At December 31, 2005, the revolving credit facility remained unfunded and there was an outstanding balance of \$150,000,000 under the term loan with an interest rate of 9.25%.

The proceeds of this New Credit Agreement were used to repay all outstanding borrowings under the prior credit agreement, outstanding subordinated and senior subordinated notes and \$13,250,000 in satisfaction of all remaining contingent payments related to TA's acquisition of CSI. In addition, a dividend of \$55,850,000 was paid to the holders of the Company's Series A and Series B convertible

preferred stock. The amount of the liquidation preference of the convertible preferred stock was reduced by the amount of the dividend.

Credit Agreement Prior

On August 2, 2004, CSI entered into a credit agreement with a financial institution. The credit agreement provided CSI with borrowings of up to \$60,000,000 under credit facilities consisting of a \$40,000,000 term loan and a \$20,000,000 revolving credit loan facility.

On December 8, 2005, in conjunction with the New Credit Agreement, the Company repaid outstanding balances under the revolving credit facility and term loan of \$11,450,000 and \$33,875,000, respectively. In addition, outstanding interest including the unused line fee of \$231,126 and prepayment penalties of \$11,309 were remitted.

The credit agreement was collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the CSI and FMS and contained serveral covenants including a limitation on total annual capital expenditures. Prior the refinancing of the facility, CSI had exceeded the total capital expenditure limitations and did not make a required pre-payment. The lenders subsequently waived compliance with these covenants without penalty and increased the annual capital expenditure limitations for fiscal years 2005 through 2009.

Revolving Credit Loan Facility Prior

The prior revolving credit loan facility included a \$2,000,000 letter of credit facility. Loans under the revolving credit loan facility bore interest for the initial period (as defined) at the applicable LIBOR rate, plus 4.25% or Prime Rate plus 2.75% and, thereafter, all loans under the revolving credit loan facility bore interest at applicable margins over the LIBOR and Prime Rate determined on the basis of the Company's ratio of total debt to twelve months trailing EBITDA. In addition, the Company was required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% based on the calculation of the excess of the revolving credit loan commitment over the revolving outstanding as defined. The revolving credit loan facility was to expire on August 2, 2009. At December 31, 2004, there was an outstanding balance of \$4,026,908 on the revolving credit facility and \$15,973,092 available under this facility. The weighted average interest rate at December 31, 2004 was 6.68% for the outstanding LIBOR revolving facility obligation.

Term Loan Prior

The \$40,000,000 Term Loan was payable in twenty consecutive quarterly installments commencing on September 30, 2004 consisting of (i) four quarterly installments of \$1,125,000 through June 30, 2005, (ii) four quarterly installments of \$1,625,000 through June 30, 2006, (iii) four quarterly installments of \$2,000,000 through June 30, 2007, (iv) four quarterly installments of \$2,375,000 through June 30, 2008 and (v) four quarterly installments of \$2,875,000 through June 30, 2009. This facility bore interest for the initial payment period at the applicable LIBOR plus 4.25% or Prime Rate plus 2.75% and, thereafter, bore interest at applicable margins based upon a total debt to EBITDA ratio. The weighted average interest rate as of December 31, 2004 was 6.44%. On August 2, 2004, the Company paid \$1,712,500 to execute the term loan. This cost was recorded as deferred financing cost and was amortized over the expected life of the term loan using the effective interest method, or as repayments were made. From August 2, 2004 through December 31, 2004 and January 1, 2005 through December 8, 2005 the amortization of the deferred financing cost aggregated \$142,709 and \$524,403,

respectively and is reflected as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. In connection with the New Credit Agreement, the unamortized deferred financing cost of \$1,045,338 was written-off and is included in the loss from extinguishment of debt in the accompanying statement of income.

TMHC Revolving Credit Loan Facility

TMHC had a \$200,000 line of credit with a financial institution which matured on August 23, 2005 and was not renewed. Interest was payable at a rate of Prime plus 0.75%. This facility was secured by the TMHC's accounts and equipment and guaranteed by personal assets of the founding shareholders of CFIS. No balance was outstanding at December 31, 2004.

Interest Rate Cap

In September 2004, CSI purchased an interest rate cap agreement to reduce the potential impact that interest rate increases could have on its floating-rate debt interest expense. The terms of the interest rate cap provide that the Company would receive quarterly payments equal to the notional amount multiplied by the difference by which LIBOR exceeds 5%. The initial notional amount was \$20,000,000 and declines during the term of the agreement, which expires on September 30, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the notional amount was \$16,937,500. The interest rate cap does not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, as amended. The initial premium of \$29,900 was recorded as an asset on the date of purchase. Subsequent declines in the fair value of this derivative are recorded as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. During the period May 24, 2004 to December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded \$20,125 and \$7,860, respectively, of interest expense based on a decline in the fair value of this derivative during the periods.

Subordinated Note Agreements

CSI Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement

On August 2, 2004, CSI entered into a \$20,000,000 subordinated note purchase agreement with certain stockholders of the Company and a lender to finance the acquisition of the Predecessor. The subordinated note was to mature on August 2, 2010 with an interest rate of 12% per annum.

As part of the subordinated note purchase agreement, CSI issued 220,000 shares of common stock to the stockholders which was valued at \$191,400 for \$0.01 per share or \$2,200. The difference of \$189,200 between the purchase price of the common stock and the share value was recorded as a reduction of the initial value of the subordinated notes. This discount was amortized over the expected life of the subordinated notes using the effective interest method, or as payments were made. For the period May 24, 2004 through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005, \$13,319 and \$29,945, respectively was recorded as additional interest expense.

As of December 31, 2004 CSI was in compliance with covenants related to the prior credit agreement and as contained in the subordinated note purchase agreement except for the cross-default provisions related to the covenants in the credit agreement. Compliance with this covenant in the credit agreement was subsequently waived by the senior lenders. The subordinated noteholders subsequently

waived this non-compliance without penalty and increased the capital expenditure limitations for fiscal years 2005 through 2009.

On December 8, 2005, in conjunction with the New Credit Agreement, the Company repaid the entire \$20,000,000 subordinated note, related interest of \$153,000 and prepayment penalties of \$800,000. The aggregate prepayment penalty and the unamortized debt discount of \$146,718 were included in the loss from the extinguishment of debt in the accompanying statement of operations.

TMHC Subordinated Convertible Note Purchase Agreement

On May 24, 2004, TMHC issued senior subordinated convertible notes due May 24, 2010, in the amount of \$10,000,000 to TA. The notes contained an annual interest rate of 12% payable quarterly. On August 31, 2004, the notes were converted into senior subordinated notes in the amount of \$9,990,000 bearing the same repayment terms and 72,451 common stock purchase warrants at an exercise price of \$.01 per share. On August 31, 2004, the warrants were exercised.

At the time the notes were converted, the TMHC assessed the related fair value of potential shares to be issued in connection with the warrants. The fair value of TMHC's warrants was estimated based upon the excess of the fair value per share of the Company, as determined by an independent valuation expert, over the exercise price of \$.01 per share; and as a result, the warrants' fair value of \$357,685 was recorded in equity, reducing the initial value of the senior subordinated notes. This discount was being accreted over the expected life of the senior subordinated notes using the effective interest method, or as repayments are made. During the period May 24, 2004 (date of inception) through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005, \$20,233 and \$55,523, respectively was recorded as additional interest expense.

On December 8, 2005, in conjunction with the New Credit Agreement, the Company repaid the entire \$9,990,000 subordinated convertible note, related interest of \$23,310 and prepayment penalties of \$499,500. The aggregate prepayment penalty, the unamortized debt discount of \$270,707 and the unamortized debt issuance costs of \$184,578 were included in the loss from the extinguishment of debt in the accompanying statement of operations.

Capitalized Lease Obligations

At December 31, 2004, the Company leased \$98,273 of equipment under agreements accounted for as capital leases with accumulated depreciation of \$65,228. The obligations for the equipment required the Company to make monthly payments through July 2005, with implicit interest rates from 0.00% to 5.69%.

At December 31, 2005, the Company leased \$444,050 of equipment under agreements accounted for as capital leases with accumulated depreciation of \$51,597. The obligations for the equipment required the Company to make monthly payments through August 2010, with implicit interest rates from 0.00% to 19.06%.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2005 are as follows:

	,	Amount
2006	\$	161,134
2007		136,691
2008		61,701
2009		53,443
2010		40,570
Total minimum lease payments		453,539
Less amount representing interest		36,956
Present value of minimum lease payments		416,583
Less current maturities		139,411
	\$	277,172

Loans Payable

At December 31, 2004, loans payable aggregated \$75,166. In June 2005, the Company paid these loan balances in full. Certain automobiles were used as collateral against the loans payable.

Future maturities of Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

For years subsequent to December 31, 2005, scheduled annual maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2005 are as follows:

	_	Long-term debt	_	Capital lease obligation	Total
2006	\$	1,500,000	\$	139,411	\$ 1,639,411
2007		1,500,000		127,431	1,627,431
2008		1,500,000		58,160	1,558,160
2009		1,500,000		51,537	1,551,537
2010		1,500,000		40,044	1,540,044
Thereafter		142,500,000			142,500,000
	\$	150,000,000	\$	416,583	\$ 150,416,583

Note 10 Preferred Stock

The Company has 8,825,241 authorized and issued shares of Series A convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share and 24,185,493 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share. Also, the Company has authorized 8,825,241 and 27,837,046 shares of Series A and Series B redeemable preferred stock, respectively. These shares have a par value of \$0.01 per share.

Subsequent to the formation of the Company, the 7,060,193 shares of TMHC convertible preferred stock held by investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, which constituted all the issued and outstanding shares of TMHC convertible preferred stock, were exchanged at a conversion rate of 1.25

per TMHC share for 8,825,241 shares of the Company's Series A convertible preferred stock and the 6,780,000 shares of GRP convertible preferred stock, which constituted all the issued and outstanding shares of GRP convertible preferred stock, were exchanged at a conversion rate of 3.5672 per GRP share for 24,185,493 shares of the Company's Series B convertible preferred stock.

The outstanding shares of the convertible preferred stock are convertible into shares of the Company's common stock and redeemable preferred stock. Each share is convertible without payment of any additional consideration into one fully paid share of the Company's common stock and one fully paid share of the respective Company's Series A or Series B redeemable preferred stock. Both the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock have a liquidation preference of \$3.080880540 per share. The holders of shares of the convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive the dividends at such times and in the same amounts, if any, as are received by the holders of outstanding shares of common stock or Class B common stock, pro rata based on the number of shares of common stock or Class B common stock held by each holder, as determined on an as-converted basis. These dividends are non-cumulative.

The convertible preferred stock automatically converts pursuant to the above formula upon the closing of the Company's first qualified underwritten public offering. As of December 31, 2004, the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock are classified for financial presentation in a separate category between liabilities and equity and carried at their liquidation preference of \$27,189,514 and \$74,512,615, respectively. Upon conversion of the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock into common stock and redeemable preferred stock, the redemption amount of such redeemable preferred stock will be 97% of the value of such redeemable preferred stock. In November 2005, the Company made a payment to the owners of CSI (see Note 3) of \$10,000,000 plus accrued interest, which increased the liquidation preference amount of the Series B convertible stock by the amount of the payment. In connection with a refinancing of its debt facilities in December 2005 (see Note 9), the Company paid a dividend on the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock in the amounts of \$14,931,195 and \$40,918,805, respectively, and the liquidation preference was reduced by these amounts.

As of December 31, 2005, the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock are carried on the balance sheet at their liquidation preference of \$12,258,319 and \$43,866,683, respectively.

The Company has 8,825,241 shares designated as Series A redeemable preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 27,837,046 shares designated as Series B redeemable preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share. Currently, there are no outstanding shares of Series A redeemable preferred stock or Series B redeemable preferred stock.

The holders of not less than a majority of outstanding convertible preferred stock may voluntarily elect to convert their shares of convertible preferred stock into an equal number of shares of common stock and redeemable preferred stock at any time in connection with a liquidity event, or at any time after August 2, 2007, if the election is not made in connection with a liquidity event. At any time after March 31, 2011, the holders of a majority of the redeemable preferred stock may elect to redeem up to one-third their shares; after March 31, 2012, the holders of a majority of the redeemable preferred stock may elect to redeem up to two-thirds their shares; and after March 31, 2013, the holders of a majority of the redeemable preferred stock may elect to redeem all of their shares.

Additionally, the holders of outstanding redeemable preferred stock are entitled to receive cumulative dividends at a rate of 3.25% per annum of the Series A redeemable preferred stock original issue price or the Series B redeemable preferred stock original issue price, as applicable, which such original issue price is \$3.080880540 per share. The dividends on the outstanding redeemable preferred stock accrue daily in arrears and are compounded quarterly.

Any shares of redeemable preferred stock that are not redeemed upon a redemption of redeemable preferred stock remain outstanding, and the Company must pay interest on the shares at a rate of 10% per year, which rate increases by 1% every six months until the redemption price and all interest thereon is paid in full.

Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies

Consulting Agreement

On September 1, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with a consultant (the "Consulting Agreement") to provide services to the Company primarily in connection with the Company's potential initial public offering of stock. This Consulting Agreement expires on June 30, 2006. Fees aggregating \$100,000 paid in connection with this Consulting Agreement have been deferred and included in "other assets, net" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. In addition to a monthly consulting fee paid to the consultant, upon closing or consummation of a Qualified Transaction, as defined in the Consulting Agreement, the Company will pay the consultant a fee of \$500,000. If the Consultant a fee of \$250,000, for which it has accrued \$25,000 per month since the inception of the Consulting Agreement.

F-28

Operating Leases

The Company leases its office facilities and certain equipment under noncancelable operating lease arrangements expiring on various dates through 2013. Such leases include fixed or minimum payments plus, in some cases, scheduled base rent increases over the term of the lease and additional rents based on the Consumer Price Index. Certain leases provide for monthly payments of real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses applicable to the property.

Future minimum annual lease payments are as follows:

2006	ф	2 100 460
2006	\$	2,100,469
2007		2,254,154
2008		1,945,432
2009		1,420,702
2010		667,870
Thereafter		920,420
	\$	9,309,047

For the year 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004 rent expense for the Predecessor was approximately \$916,400 and \$728,000. For the period from inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 rent expense for the Successor was \$618,884 and \$2,837,232, respectively.

Employment Contracts

Various members of senior management have entered into employment agreements which are terminable upon thirty days notice by either the Company or the employee and provide for certain specified benefits including performance bonuses, travel allowances and severance payments upon termination or resignation.

On August 31, 2005, the Company entered into a Separation Agreement and Mutual Release with its former Chief Financial Officer. This agreement provides for salary continuation in the aggregate amount of \$168,372, and health insurance premium continuation in the aggregate amount of approximately \$10,612, each through August 31, 2006. Such amounts were recorded as a liability on August 31, 2005.

Litigation

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims, the resolution of which, in management's opinion, will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or the results of operations of the Company.

Note 12 Income Taxes

The Predecessor elected "S" corporation status under section 1372 of the Internal Revenue Code effective August 1, 1994. Under this section, the net income of the Company was taxed directly to the Company's stockholders and not to the Company. The Company was directly liable for certain state and local income taxes as an S-corporation.

The state and local income tax provisions of the Predecessor for continuing operations were as follows:

	_	Year ended December 31, 2003		For the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004
Current	\$	(45,820)	\$	(165,586)
Deferred		108,050	_	(93,850)
Income tax benefit (provision)	\$	62,230	\$	(259,436)

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

	 December 31,					
	2004		2005			
Deferred tax assets	 					
Deferred rent	\$ 233,565	\$	383,072			
Allowance for doubtful accounts	34,410		28,109			
Deferred revenue	21,124		17,504			
Accrued compensation	18,530		137,457			
	307,629		566,142			
Deferred tax liabilities						
Property and equipment	(1,133,309)		(972,411)			
Amortization of intangibles	(4,681,124)		(2,809,166)			
	(5,814,433)		(3,781,577)			
Net deferred tax	\$ (5,506,804)	\$	(3,215,435)			

The components of the provision for income taxes from the date of inception for the Successor are as follows:

	fro	For the period from inception through December 31, 2004		Year ended ember 31, 2005
Current				
Federal	\$	1,899,748	\$	4,815,754
State		462,315		771,312
		2,362,063		5,587,066
Deferred				
Federal		4,361		(1,977,994)
State		(12,325)		(455,418)
		(7,964)		(2,433,412)
D	ф	2.254.000	¢.	2 152 654
Provision for income taxes	\$	2,354,099	\$	3,153,654

For the period from inception through December 31, 2004

Year ended December 31, 2005

F-30

For the period from the date of inception through December 31, 2004, the Successor's income tax provision resulted in effective tax rates that varied from the statutory Federal income tax rate. The components of the income tax expense are as follows:

Pre-tax book income at statutory rate of 34%	\$ 1,936,855	34.00%
State taxes	287,644	5.05%
Permanent items	129,600	2.27%
	\$ 2,354,099	41.32%
	\$ 2,354,099	41.3

For the year ended December 31, 2005 the Successor's income taxes resulted in effective tax rates that varied from the statutory Federal income tax rate. The components of the income tax expense are as follows:

95,685 3.60%
31,195 2.82%
61,629) (1.97)%
53,654 38.45%
6

Note 13 Related Party Transactions

The Company's Chief Executive Officer, who was appointed in April 2005, has served on the Board of Directors of another public company since 1995 and is currently the chairman of this entity's audit committee. This unrelated entity acquires and originates non-conforming residential and commercial loans. The Company has provided due diligence and staffing services to this entity since 2002 and revenues aggregated approximately \$39,000, \$98,000, \$533,000 and \$644,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003, for the period from January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, inception through December 31, 2004, and for the year ended December 31, 2005, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, CSI owed an affiliated entity \$304,466. This amount was payable to the former owner of CSI and represents an overpayment by the former owner of payroll taxes. In August 2005, CSI repaid the balance owed in full.

TMHC has contracts to perform Credit Risk Management services for portfolios managed by a stockholder. Revenues generated from the contracts from the date of inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 of approximately \$404,400 and \$567,800, respectively were included in service fee revenue in the consolidated income statements and \$118,432 and \$74,555 were included in accounts receivable at December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, amounts due from a related party in the amount of \$139,171 relates to expenses paid by the Company on behalf of a stockholder. These amounts were paid in full by April 30, 2005.

As described in Note 3, the Company had subordinated note and subordinated convertible note purchase agreements with certain stockholders of the Company. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 interest expense on these notes was approximately \$1,680,000 and \$3,360,000,

respectively. In connection with a refinancing of its credit facility in December 2005 (see Note 9), these notes were repaid.

TMHC accrued distributions to owners totaling \$1,759,370 in the period from January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004, prior to the formation of TMHC. \$840,000 was paid to owners in the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004 and \$919,370 was paid to owners in the period May 24, 2004 through December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2004, \$4,000,000 was held by TMHC as an accrued distribution to founding stockholders in accordance with the terms of the equity sale discussed in Note 3. This amount was paid in April, 2005. This amount is included in accrued earn-out payments on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004.

Note 14 Employee Savings Plan

The Company has two employee savings plans one is sponsored by CSI and the other by TMHC. Each plan provides for optional employer participation in accordance with the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The plans allow participants to make pretax contributions. To be eligible to participate in the plans, employees not covered under collective bargaining agreements must meet certain age and service requirements. In addition to employee contributions, the Board of Directors may approve additional Company contributions. For the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004, the Predecessor made contributions of \$36,556 and \$30,851 to the plans, respectively. During the period from the date of inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company made contributions to the plans of \$174,247 and \$379,733, respectively.

Note 15 Stock Options

During the period from the date of inception through December 31, 2004, the Company granted a total of 967,500 options with a weighted average strike price of \$1.09 per share and a weighted average fair value of \$0.53 per share. As of December 31, 2004, there were 1,169,927 shares available for future grants.

On March 31, 2005, the holders of all of the outstanding shares of common and convertible preferred stock of each of GRP and TMHC contributed their respective shares in exchange for like securities of the Company. In connection with this transaction, all outstanding stock options granted under each of the TMHC 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan and the GRP 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan were assumed by the Company and became options under the Company's 2005 Option Plan. The exercise price of each original option and the number of options were appropriately adjusted to reflect the exchange ratio of the respective common shares and full credit was given for all vesting under the old plans. Upon conversion, the term of the options under the TMHC 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan was changed from seven to ten years. Subsequent to this transaction, the original TMHC and GRP plans were terminated.

The 2005 Option Plan permits the Company to make grants of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards and unrestricted stock awards to officers, employees, directors, consultants and other key persons. Stock options granted under the 2005 Option

Plan have a maximum term of ten years from the date of grant and incentive stock options have an exercise price of no less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

The March 31, 2005 cancellation and replacement had no accounting consequence since the aggregate intrinsic value of the options immediately after the cancellation and replacement was not greater than the aggregate intrinsic value immediately before the cancellation and replacement, and the ratio of the exercise price per share to the fair value per share was not reduced.

Changes in options outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2005 are as follows:

	Number of Shares	I	Veighted Average rike Price
Options outstanding, January 1, 2005	967,500	\$	1.09
Impact of option conversion; including the effect of the reverse stock split	(411,713)		0.81
Options outstanding, as adjusted	555,787		1.90
Granted	963,978		5.91
Exercised	(4,613)		4.13
Forfeited	(54,496)		2.52
Options outstanding, December 31, 2005	1,460,656	\$	4.52
Weighted granges fair value of entires amounted in 2005		\$	1.58
Weighted average fair value of options granted in 2005	201 200	Ф	1.38
Options available for future grant at December 31, 2005	384,288		

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2005:

December 31, 2004

		Options Ou	Options E	xercisabl	le	
Exercise Price		Options Outstanding	Remaining Contractual Life (yrs.)	Number Exercisable	Av Ex	eighted verage kercise Price
\$	0.87	437,500	9.83			<u>.</u>
	1.25	200,000	6.42	114,583	\$	1.25
	1.29	330,000	7.00	82,500		1.29
		967,500	8.16	197,083	\$	1.27
			F-33			

December 31, 2005

	Options Ou	tstanding	Options E	xercisabl	le
Exercise Price	Options Outstanding	Remaining Contractual Life (yrs.)	Number Exercisable	Ay Ex	eighted verage xercise Price
\$0.98	421,375	8.91	36,926	\$	0.98
4.00	62,500	8.39	43,620		4.00
4.13	89,062	8.99	38,965		4.13
6.00	520,834	9.32	89,518		6.00
6.36	111,680	9.57			
6.80	255,205	9.75			
	1,460,656	9.23	209,029	\$	4.34

The vesting term for 1,262,108 of the outstanding at December 31, 2005 automatically accelerates by one year if the Company completes an initial public offering by March 31, 2006, or by eight months if completed thereafter. For 44,590 of the total 1,460,656 options outstanding at December 31, 2005, 20% will immediately become vested if the Company completes an initial public offering by March 31, 2006. In addition, 130,208 options will immediately become vested if the Company completes an initial public offering. To the extent these options vest, the Company will recognize compensation expense based on the fair value of the award on the grant date.

The Company adopted the fair value measurement provisions of SFAS No. 123, under which the Company recognizes compensation expense of a stock-based award to an employee over the vesting period based on the fair value of the award on the grant date. Adoption of these provisions resulted in utilizing a preferable accounting method as the consolidated financial statements present the estimated fair value of stock-based compensation in expense consistently with other forms of compensation and other expense associated with goods and services received for equity instruments. The ongoing effect on consolidated results of operations or financial condition will be dependent upon future stock based compensation awards granted. The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option valuation method to calculate the fair market value of the options using assumptions in effect on the date of the grant, as follows:

Expected life (in years)	6.5 7.5
Risk-free interest rate	3.5% 4.3%
Volatility	25% 57%
Dividend	0%

From the date of inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 the Company recognized expenses related to the stock option grants summarized above over the vesting period of such options of approximately \$125,000 and \$252,000, respectively. In addition, the Company will recognize approximately \$1,400,000 of expense related to these grants over the vesting period of such options of approximately four years.

Note 16 Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

At December 31, 2005, the Company has 60,000,000 shares of Common Stock authorized, of which 3,281,607 are issued and outstanding. During 2005, the Company issued 4,613 shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of stock options.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had 60,000,000 shares of Common Stock authorized, of which 3,276,994 shares were issued and outstanding.

The Company also has authorized 1,428,092 shares of Class B Common Stock, 357,020 of which are issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2005. The provisions of the Company's common stock and Class B common stock are the same with the exception of the Class B common stock having no voting rights.

Note 17 Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for the periods indicated:

	Predecessor						Successor								
	Year ended December 31, 2003			For the period January 1, 2004 through August 1, 2004			For the period from inception through December 31, 2004				Year ended December 31, 2005				
		Basic		Diluted		Basic		Diluted	Basic		Diluted				
Net income	\$	15,350,331	\$	15,350,331	\$	13,386,017	\$	13,386,017	\$ 3,342,532	\$	3,342,532	\$	5,047,534	\$	5,047,534
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding Dilutive effect of		10,162,309		10,162,309		10,162,309		10,162,309	9,034,350		9,034,350		11,888,671		11,888,671
stock options											61,187				415,956
Total weighted average number of common shares outstanding		10,162,309		10,162,309		10,162,309		10,162,309	9,034,350		9,095,537		11,888,671		12,304,627
Earnings per share	\$	1.51	\$	1.51	\$	1.32	\$	1.32	\$ 0.37	\$	0.37	\$	0.42	\$	0.41

The computation of weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period from inception through December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 excludes 165,625 shares and 366,886 shares, respectively, because the effect would be antidilutive.

Note 18 Subsequent Events

Asset Purchase from MR Network I, Ltd.

On February 3, 2006, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement through a subsidiary pursuant to which the subsidiary acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of M R Network I, Ltd. (d/b/a Mortgage Resource Network) for an estimated aggregate purchase price of \$5,874,882, pending a final closing balance sheet. The asset purchase agreement provides for a 60-day period subsequent to the closing date to provide a closing balance sheet which will be used to determine final fair market values.

On February 28, 2006, the Company's Board of Directors approved a 1-for-4 reverse stock split. All share and per share amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted for all periods of the Successor presented, to give effect to the reverse stock split. Except as otherwise noted, references to preferred stock do not reflect the reverse stock split, as the reverse stock split will be effected upon the conversion of the preferred stock to common stock.

F-36

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows of Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company) and its subsidiary (the Company) for the period from January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. for the period from January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York October 14, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows of Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company) (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated results of operations of Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Denver, Colorado March 19, 2004

CLAYTON FIXED INCOME SERVICES INC.

(F/K/A THE MURRAYHILL COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

		Year ended December 31, 2003	Jai	or the period nuary 1, 2004 ough May 23, 2004
Revenue	\$	10,987,881	\$	6,097,018
Cost of services		2 207 216		1 402 251
Compensation expense		2,397,216		1,493,351
Travel and related expenses		1,233		30,937
Total cost of services		2,398,449		1,524,288
Gross profit	_	8,589,432		4,572,730
Operating expenses				
Salaries and benefits		4,143,121		1,373,978
Other selling, general and administrative expenses		2,182,525		1,029,600
Depreciation and amortization		244,904		116,263
Total operating expense	_	6,570,550		2,519,841
	_			
Income from operations		2,018,882		2,052,889
Interest expense (income), net		(2,022)		(5,852)
Net income	\$	2,020,904	\$	2,058,741

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

F-39

CLAYTON FIXED INCOME SERVICES INC.

(F/K/A THE MURRAYHILL COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock

	Number of Shares	Amount	Additional Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings		Treasury Stock	Total
Balance at January 1, 2003	3,000	\$ 30	\$ 74,970	\$ 1,105,762	\$	\$	1,180,762
Net income				2,020,904			2,020,904
Distributions				(474,000)			(474,000)
Balance at December 31, 2003	3,000	30	74,970	2,652,666			2,727,666
Net income from January 1, 2004							
through May 23, 2004				2,058,741			2,058,741
Issuance of common stock	247	2	3,999,998				4,000,000
Repurchase of common stock						(10,000,000)	(10,000,000)
Cost associated with the issuance of							
common stock			(783,543)				(783,543)
Distributions			(1,047,963)	(4,711,407)			(5,759,370)
					_		
Balance at May 23, 2004	3,247	\$ 32	\$ 2,243,462	\$	\$	(10,000,000) \$	(7,756,506)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

F-40

CLAYTON FIXED INCOME SERVICES INC.

(F/K/A THE MURRAYHILL COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

		Year ended ecember 31, 2003	Ja	or the period nuary 1, 2004 rough May 23, 2004
Cash flows from operating activities				
Net income	\$	2,020,904	\$	2,058,741
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization		244,904		116,263
Deferred rent				127,073
Loss on sale of fixed assets		31,082		,
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		- ,		
Accounts receivable, net		(259,327)		(649,818)
Due from related parties		(22,52 1,7		(133,289)
Prepaid expenses		(4,882)		(222,284)
Other assets		(94,885)		(===,== 1)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		1,261,767		123,639
Net cash provided by operating activities		3,199,563		1,420,325
Cash flows from investing activities Purchase of property and equipment Proceeds from sale of fixed assets		(1,058,377) 32,183		(121,328)
Net cash used in investing activities	_	(1,026,194)		(121,328)
Cash flows from financing activities		(474,000)		(840,000)
Distributions		(474,000)		(840,000)
Proceeds from convertible note				9,752,841
Purchase of treasury stock				(10,000,000)
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock				3,216,457
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities		(474,000)		2,129,298
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		1,699,369		3,428,295
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period		395,197		2,094,566
Cash and Cash equivalents at the organising of period		3,3,1,77		2,071,300
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period	\$	2,094,566	\$	5,522,861

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CLAYTON FIXED INCOME SERVICES INC.

(F/K/A THE MURRAYHILL COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Description of Business

Clayton Fixed Income Services Inc. (formerly known as The Murrayhill Company) (the Company or CFIS) was formed as an S corporation on April 1, 1997. On January 22, 2004, the Company formed IPS, a wholly-owned subsidiary, to develop and provide additional service offerings to the fixed-income industry.

The Company monitors and reports on the performance of defaulted loans, loan servicers, master servicers, and trustees in securitized and wholly-owned mortgage and other credit pools. The Company is retained by the issuer of securitized loan pools to act as a party to the securitized transaction. The Company is retained for the life of the transaction, with the responsibility of monitoring and reporting credit risk issues affecting the security. The Company advises the servicer, master servicer, trustee, and asset manager in a transaction of systemic weaknesses affecting loan performance, as well as resolution tactics for individual loans in default. The Company additionally performs consulting and benchmarking analyses of the servicers and master servicers it monitors.

On May 24, 2004, investment funds affiliated with TA Associates, Inc. (TA) acquired a majority interest in CFIS and concurrently formed TMHC Holdings, Inc. (TMHC). TMHC was formed to acquire CFIS. The total consideration paid by TA for 77% of CFIS's outstanding common shares was \$41,702,128 comprised of \$27,702,128 in cash paid directly to founding shareholders, \$4,000,000 in cash paid to CFIS in exchange for 247 shares of CFIS common stock, and \$10,000,000 in cash paid to CFIS in connection with TMHC's issuance of convertible senior subordinated notes to TA the proceeds of which were used to redeem shares from the CFIS Founders. Each of the then outstanding shares of CFIS common stock was exchanged for common stock or convertible preferred stock of TMHC. After the share exchange, the founding shareholders of CFIS held 2,150,000 shares of TMHC common stock and investment funds affiliated with TA held 7,060,193 shares of TMHC convertible preferred stock aggregating \$31,702,128. Including the dilutive effect of options available for issuance from TMHC's 2004 Stock Option and Grant Plan executed concurrently with the equity sale, TA held an approximate 73.5% interest in TMHC on a fully diluted basis. Prior to the exchange of equity on May, 24, 2004, CFIS issued 247 shares of common stock for \$4,000,000 in cash.

Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies followed by the Company, a summarized below, are in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP").

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables. Provision for uncollectible accounts is made in amounts approximating anticipated losses. Individual accounts are written off against the allowance when collection of the accounts appears doubtful.

Basis of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, after eliminations of intercompany transactions and balances.

Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service has been performed, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. As a party to the trust of mortgage-backed securities, the Company

receives a monthly fee calculated as the product of a negotiated rate by the underlying collateral principal balance.

Likewise, when the Company is not a party to the trust, the Company receives a monthly fee as calculated above, or calculated as the product of a negotiated rate by the number of defaulted loans in the monitored pool. These fees are recognized as revenue each month for services rendered.

Advertising Cost. The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs incurred during in 2003 and the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004 were minimal.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration Risk

The Company has three clients that each make up more than 10% of total revenue. These three clients represent 71% and 69% of the consolidated annual revenue of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the period ended May 23, 2004, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company is not subject to income taxes, as the Company's tax filing status is that of an S corporation. All tax consequences of the Company's operations are passed through to and reported by the individual shareholders on their personal income tax returns.

Note 2 Leases and Rent Expense

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment under noncancelable operating lease agreements. Rent expense, which is being recognized on a straight-line basis over the related lease terms, was \$409,395 and \$242,318 for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004, respectively.

Note 3 Related Party Transactions

The Company has contracts to perform credit risk management services for portfolios managed by a stockholder. Revenues generated from the contracts for the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004 were \$315,988 and \$186,904, respectively, and are included in service fee revenue in the consolidated income statement.

During the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004 the Company paid expenses on behalf of its shareholder aggregating \$139,171. These amounts were subsequently repaid to the Company by the stockholder.

The Company accrued distributions to shareholders totaling \$1,759,370 during the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004, of which \$840,000 was paid to stockholders prior to May 23, 2004 and \$919,370 was paid subsequent to May 23, 2004.

Note 4 401(k) Salary Deferral Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan and Trust (the Plan), pursuant to which eligible employees may defer compensation for income tax purposes under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Participation in the Plan is available to all employees who meet eligibility requirements. Eligible employees may contribute up to the maximum allowed by law. Matching contributions may be made as described in the Plan document. Matching contributions by the Company to the Plan on behalf of participating employees was \$119,830 and \$75,165 during the year ended December 31, 2003 and during the period January 1, 2004 through May 23, 2004, respectively.

F-44

	7,500,000 Shares	
	Common Stock	
	PROSPECTUS	
	March 23, 2006	
You should rely only on the information conta	ned in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you wi	th
information different from that which is set forth offers to buy shares of our common stock only in j prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, result Until April 17, 2006 (which is 25 days after the whether or not participating in this offering, may	ned in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you wind this prospectus. We are offering to sell shares of our common stock and risdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contains spectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of operation and prospects may have changed after the date of this prospectus of this prospectus), all dealers that effect transactions in these secure required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obliging the with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.	seeking ned in this of these pectus.
information different from that which is set forth offers to buy shares of our common stock only in j prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, result Until April 17, 2006 (which is 25 days after the whether or not participating in this offering, may	this prospectus. We are offering to sell shares of our common stock and risdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contain spectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of operation and prospects may have changed after the date of this prospectus of this prospectus, all dealers that effect transactions in these secure required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obliging with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.	seeking led in this of these lectus. lities, ation to
information different from that which is set forth offers to buy shares of our common stock only in j prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prescurities. Our business, financial condition, result Until April 17, 2006 (which is 25 days after the whether or not participating in this offering, may deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters as	this prospectus. We are offering to sell shares of our common stock and risdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contain spectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of operation and prospects may have changed after the date of this prospectus of this prospectus, all dealers that effect transactions in these secure required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obliging with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.	seeking led in this of these lectus. lities, ation to
information different from that which is set forth offers to buy shares of our common stock only in j prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results Until April 17, 2006 (which is 25 days after the whether or not participating in this offering, may deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters at William Blair & Company	this prospectus. We are offering to sell shares of our common stock and risdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contain spectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of operation and prospects may have changed after the date of this prospectus of this prospectus, all dealers that effect transactions in these secure required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obliging with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.	seeking ned in this of these pectus.